## Leabharlann Náisiúnta na hÉireann National Library of Ireland

### Collection List No. 95

## **FARNHAM PAPERS**

MS 3,117-3,118; 3,133-3,134; 3,502-3,508; 4,103-4,104; 5,010-5,013; 5,504-5,506; 8,527; 11,490-11,499; 13,340; 18,419; 18,600-18,635; 19,091-19,147; 28,834 /3; 28,836 /8; 28,842 /20-21 & 41,113-41,175.

D. 15,409; 18,572; 18,646-18,649; 18,672; 20,409-20,475 & 22,781.

Maps: 15. B. 8 /7, 21. F. 115-120 & MS Maps 278-281.

A collection of estate and family papers of the Maxwell family, Barons, Viscounts and Earls of Farnham of Farnham House, county Cavan, *circa* 1600- *circa* 1950.

Compiled by Dr Jonathan Cherry holder of the Studentship in Irish History provided by the National Library of Ireland in association with the National Committee for History. 2004-2005.

# **Contents**

I	NTRODUCTION	4
	THE MAXWELL FAMILY OF FARNHAM	4
	THE ESTATES	
	THE FARNHAM PAPERS	
	ARRANGEMENT OF THE COLLECTION	
	Sources & Bibliography	
Ι		
1		
	I.I TITLE DEEDS AND RELATED PAPERS	
	I.i.1 Barry (counties Carlow, Kildare, Meath & Wexford)	
	I.i.2 Lists of deeds and deeds (Cavan town and county)	
	I.i.3 Carmichael (county Cavan)	
	I.i.4 Cavan town	
	I.i.4.A Barry estate	
	I.i.4.B Keadew & Abbey Land	
	I.i.4.C Old Gaol and Session House sites	
	I.i.4.D Somerville estate	
	I.i.4.E Other property	
	I.i.5 Dunsany-Fortland (county Cavan)	
	I.i.6 Farnham (county Cavan)	
	I.i.7 Hampson (county Cavan)	
	I.i.8 Lisnamaine (county Cavan)	
	I.i.9 Massareene (county Cavan)	
	I.II MARRIAGE SETTLEMENTS	
	I.III MORTGAGES	
	I.IV ASSIGNMENTS OF JUDGEMENTS	
	I.V ANNUITIES AND CHARGES	
	I.VI LEASES	
	I.vi.1 Barry (counties Carlow & Wexford)	
	I.vi.2 Carmichael (county Cavan) I.vi.2.A Drainage Certificates Carmichael estate (county Cavan)	
	I.vi.2.A Drainage Certificates Carmichael estate (county Cavan)  I.vi.3 Cavan town	
	I.vi.4 Dunsany-Fortland (county Cavan)	
	I.vi.5 Farnham (county Cavan)	
	I.vi.5.A Drainage Certificates Farnham estate (county Cavan)	
	I.vi.6 Hampson (county Cavan)	
	I.vi.7 Lisnamaine (county Cavan)	
	I.vi.7.A Drainage Certificates Lisnamaine estate (county Cavan)	
	I.vi.8 Massareene (county Cavan)	
	I.VII UNEXECUTED AND DRAFT LEASES	
	I.vii.1 Barry (county Carlow)	
	I.vii.2 Cavan town	
	I.vii.3 Farnham, Fortland & Massareene	
	I.VIII LEGAL AND FINANCIAL PAPERS CONCERNING FAMILY MEMBERS	
	I.viii.1 John, 1 <sup>st</sup> Baron, Robert, 2 <sup>nd</sup> Baron & Barry, 3 <sup>rd</sup> Baron	
	Lviii.2 Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath	

I.vii	i.3 John James, 4 <sup>th</sup> Baron	83
I.vii	i.4 John, 5 <sup>th</sup> Baron	83
I.vii	i.5 Rev Henry, 6 <sup>th</sup> Baron	89
I.vii	i.6 Henry, 7 <sup>th</sup> Baron	93
I.vii		
I.vii	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
I.vii		
I.vii	$\cdot \cdot $	
I.vii		95
I.vii	7 1 7	96
I.vii	i.13 Executors' receipts	97
I.vii	i.14 Insurance policies	98
II EST	TATE PAPERS	99
II.I	RENTALS AND RENT ROLLS	99
II.II	ACCOUNTS	103
II.III	Maps and Surveys	
II.IV	MATERIAL RELATING TO TENANTS	
II.V	MISCELLANEOUS ESTATE PAPERS	137
III C	ORRESPONDENCE OF FAMILY MEMBERS	138
III.I	ROBERT, 2 <sup>ND</sup> BARON	138
III.II	BARRY, 3 <sup>RD</sup> BARON	
III.III	JOHN JAMES, 4 <sup>TH</sup> BARON	138
III.IV	JOHN, 5 <sup>TH</sup> BARON	
III.V	HENRY, 7 <sup>TH</sup> BARON	
III.VI	Anna, Lady Farnham (wife of Henry, $7^{\text{th}}$ Baron)	
III.VII	SOMERSET HENRY, 10 <sup>TH</sup> BARON	
III.VIII	,	
III.IX	AILEEN, LADY FARNHAM (WIFE OF ARTHUR KENLIS, 11 <sup>TH</sup> BARON)	
IV P	ERSONAL PAPERS OF FAMILY MEMBERS	
IV.I	JOHN, 5 <sup>TH</sup> BARON	159
IV.II	HENRY, 7 <sup>TH</sup> BARON	159
V BUS	SINESS PAPERS OF ARTHUR KENLIS, 11 <sup>TH</sup> BARON	161
V.I	STEEL INDUSTRY	161
V.II	Monaghan Cinema Ltd.	
V.III	REPRESENTATIVE CHURCH BODY	
	IISCELLANEOUS MATERIAL	
	OF PERSONS	
	OF PLACES	
- 1 3 1 / 1 / 1 / 1 V		I /\l

## Introduction

## The Maxwell family of Farnham

The branch of the Maxwell family from whom the Barons Farnham were descended, arrived in Ireland at the end of Queen Elizabeth's reign at the request of James VI of Scotland, later James I of England. Robert Maxwell, second son of John Maxwell MP of Calderwood Castle, East Kilbride, Lanarkshire, Scotland, came at this time and has been described as being, 'one of four lowland Scots of any consequence who lived in the English Pale.' In 1609 he was appointed Chancellor of the dioceses of Connor and in 1610, Dean of Armagh. His eldest son Robert Maxwell DD, held various ecclesiastical positions in the dioceses of Connor and Armagh, before being appointed Bishop of Kilmore in 1643, and Ardagh in 1661. In 1664, he purchased the manors of Dromhill and Dromellan, in the central barony of Upper Loughtee, county Cavan, from Thomas Waldron, thus cementing the Maxwell family connection with county Cavan for the next 330 years.

John Maxwell succeeded his father Bishop Maxwell, as owner of the Farnham estate in 1672. In 1689 he was attainted of high treason and his name was included within the secret list of King James II. John Maxwell died without issue in 1713 and his nephew Rev Robert Maxwell DD, of Fellows Hall, county Armagh succeeded to the Cavan property. He also died without issue in 1737, and his cousin John Maxwell of College Hall, county Armagh, inherited the estate. Between 1725 and 1756 John Maxwell sat as MP for Cavan, while holding the positions of Prothonotary of the Court of Common Pleas between 1725 until his death in 1759 and Sheriff of Cavan in 1739. In May 1756 he was elevated to the peerage as Baron Farnham of Farnham, county Cavan. On his death in 1759 John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, was succeeded, by his son Robert, as 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron. In 1760 Robert was created Viscount Farnham and three years later was elevated to the rank of earl, as Earl of Farnham.

Following his death in November 1779, Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron, was succeeded by his brother Barry. Because the title was succeeded to collaterally, the titles of Viscount and Earl became extinct. However during his lifetime, Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron, regained the titles of Viscount Farnham in 1781 and that of Earl of Farnham in 1785. Prior to his succession the 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron, had held political and judicial office in Dublin. Between 1756 and 1760 he was MP for county Cavan, between 1761 and 1768 MP for county Armagh, and again MP for Cavan from 1768 until 1779. Like his father, he held the position of Prothonotary of the Court of Common Pleas between 1741 and 1800; in addition he was also called to the Irish Bar in 1748 and appointed a Bencher in 1757. On his death in 1800, his son John James succeeded as 4<sup>th</sup> Baron. Like his predecessors, John James had been politically active prior to coming to the title and the estates, representing county Cavan as MP between 1779 and 1783, and again between 1793 and 1800. It was he who employed Francis Johnston to design the addition of the garden front to Farnham House during the early years of the nineteenth century.

The 4<sup>th</sup> Baron died without issue in 1823 and the titles of Viscount and Earl of Farnham became extinct on the collateral succession of his cousin John, son of Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath -a son of John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron. Political involvement dominated John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron's life before coming to the title in 1823. Between 1787 and 1788, at the tender age of 20 he sat as MP for county Cavan, returning to parliament for Doneraile between 1792 and 1797 and for Newtown Limavady between 1798 and 1800. Between 1806 and 1823 he again sat as Tory MP for county Cavan. He was also Colonel of the Cavan Militia between 1797 and 1823. Following his death in 1838, he was succeeded by his brother Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron, who held the title for less than one month. His eldest son Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron, succeeded in October 1838, retaining the title until his own death, which was caused by a railway accident in August 1868. Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron, had been Tory MP for county Cavan between 1824 and 1838, and on succeeding to the title was a Representative Irish Peer between 1838 and 1868. He was made a Knight of St Patrick in 1845. As Henry, died without issue the title passed to his brother Somerset Richard who held the title until 1884. Somerset Richard, 8th Baron's political life had been relatively short; he was Tory MP for county Cavan between 1839 and 1840. He also died without issue, and his brother James Pierce succeeded as 9th Baron.

The 9<sup>th</sup> Baron was Conservative MP for county Cavan between 1843 and 1865. As Lieutenant Colonel of the 97<sup>th</sup> Foot he was severely wounded during the Crimean War. On his death without issue in 1896 he was succeeded as 10<sup>th</sup> Baron by his nephew Somerset Henry son of Richard Thomas Maxwell of Fortland, county Cavan. Before coming to the title Somerset Henry, was Captain and Honorary Major of the 4<sup>th</sup> Battalion of the Princess Victoria's Royal Irish Fusiliers and sometime Lieutenant of the 98<sup>th</sup> Regiment. This military experience proved useful when he led a relief force of Orangemen from county Cavan to save the harvest of Captain Boycott of Lough Mask, county Mayo in November 1880. This led to the formation of the Property Defence Association, which attempted to protect the liberties and livelihoods of landowners. In August 1897 shortly after his coming of age Barry Somerset Maxwell, died following a bicycling accident at Castle Saunderson, Belturbet. Yet again the Maxwell's had been denied a direct succession from father to eldest son. The second oldest son, Arthur Kenlis became 11<sup>th</sup> Baron in 1900 on the death of the 10<sup>th</sup> Baron. Like his father, his experience before inheriting the estate and title had been dominated by military life, educated at the Royal Military Academy at Sandhurst, he received his first commission during the Boer War as Lieutenant of the 10<sup>th</sup> Hussars. Later, during World War I, he was Lieutenant Colonel of the North Irish Horse. His only son Somerset Arthur Maxwell, MP for King's Lynn, died from wounds received at the battle of El Alamein in December 1942. In 1957 Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron, was succeeded by his grandson, Barry Owen Somerset. The present head of the family is Simon Kenlis, 13<sup>th</sup> Baron, who resides in England.

### The estates

The landholding interests of the Maxwell family, Barons Farnham in county Cavan were accumulated by various members of the family during the period 1664 to 1765. Seven major separate purchases of rural lands, in addition to three purchases of urban

property, culminated in their becoming the largest landowners in county Cavan with substantial holdings in Cavan town by the end of the eighteenth century. The initial purchase of land in county Cavan was made by Bishop Robert Maxwell in 1664, when he expended some £2,000 in the acquisition of the 7,000 statute acre estate of the Waldron family, originally granted to them under the scheme of the Ulster Plantation. Located within the parishes of Kilmore, Urney and Annageliff, in the barony of Upper Loughtee, these lands comprised some of the most productive in the county. The next major acquisition of land occurred in 1715 when Rev Robert Maxwell purchased the Lisnamaine estate of some 3,100 statute acres at a cost of £6,900 from Jane Culme. Like the Waldron's, the Culme's had been granted land during the Ulster plantation in the parishes of Drumlane, Kildallon, Denn and Kilmore, lying in the baronies of Lower and Upper Loughtee and Tullyhunco. This purchase also included lands in county Meath.

Rev Robert Maxwell continued to add to the families property in county Cavan with the purchase of the Massareene estate in 1716. Originally granted to the Massareene family during the Cromwellian settlement, these lands differed from the Farnham and Lisnamaine estates in that they were geographically fragmented, reflective of their origins in the Cromwellian distribution of land, which placed little emphasis on settlement. The Massareene land block amounted to some 15,000 statute acres spread throughout the parishes of Killinkere, Mullagh, Lurgan, Denn and Crosserlough in the barony of Castlerahan; the parishes of Ballymachugh, Drumlumman and Ballintemple in Clanmahon and the parishes of Kildallan and Templeport in the barony of Tullyhaw. The sale of the estate by the Massareene family for some £13,600 was necessitated by 'An act for the confirming and settlement made on the marriage of the now Lord Viscount Massareene and for better securing the jointure of his lady and of Rachel, Viscountess Dowager Massareene, vesting in trustees certain lands and titles in Ireland to be sold for the purposes therein mentioned'.

The next purchase was made by John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, who *circa* 1719, bought the estate of Major Charles Hampson. Granted to Thomas Hampson during the Cromwellian settlement these lands amounted to some 1,500 statute acres, located in the parish of Castlerahan, in the barony of Castlerahan and in the parishes of Ballymachugh and Drumlumman in the barony of Clanmahon. Cumulatively the Farnham, Lisnamaine, Massareene and Hampson estates generated in the region of some £2,300 in rental income in 1719, rising to £3,700 in 1760. In 1740, John, 1st Baron, acquired the Dunsany estate, from Edward Plunkett, Lord Dunsany, at a cost of £5,120. Located in the parishes of Ballymachugh and Kilbride in the barony of Clanmahon and in the parish of Lurgan in the barony of Castlerahan, these lands were later to become the core of the Fortland estate. The two remaining acquisitions of land in county Cavan were made by Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron. In 1758 he acquired the manor of Castle Craig from John Carmichael for some £18,900. Amounting to some 5,900 statute acres these lands lay predominantly within the parishes of Killashandra and Kildallan in the barony of Tullyhunco. In 1765, Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron, acquired another 1,600 statute acres and 800 statute acres held under fee farm grants, lying in the same parishes from the Carmichael family. Rental income generated by the tenanted estate rose dramatically during the period from £3,700 in 1760 to £11,100 in 1807. No doubt the purchase of these additional lands coupled with the move away from single tenant occupancy of townlands, to one whereby multiple tenancies were created in townlands were the main factors in such an increase.

In addition to the lands acquired by the Maxwell family in county Cavan, the opportune marriage of John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, to Judith Barry, daughter and heir of James Barry in 1719, also brought lands in counties Wexford, Carlow and Kildare centred on the town of Newtownbarry, [Bunclody], county Wexford into Maxwell family hands. The Maxwell family held the Newtownbarry estate until the mid nineteenth century, when it was sold under the terms of the Encumbered Estates Act.

Besides the extensive rural landholdings of the Barons Farnham, they had also by the mid eighteenth century acquired a substantial amount of property within Cavan town. Three separate purchases of property were made. Firstly, in 1720, John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, acquired the Somerville estate from James Somerville at a cost of £1,500. The indenture of sale lists some 50 properties, described as being 'messuages, curtilages and gardens' that constituted the holdings of 17 head tenants. Of these 50 properties, 14 were described as being located on Castle Street, 15 on High Street, 11 on Bridge Street and 9 on Ballaghabov Street. The last property was described as being 'three acres of meadow in the small meadow field'. In 1746, John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, enlarged the urban property through the acquisition of the Gibson family estate from Charles Barry for some £1,100. The property was described as being, 'the fourteen pieces or parcels and acres of land called the fourteen burgesses lots and acres of Roscollgan and one park commonly called Bellews Park with the appurtenances in and near the town of Cavan now in the possession of Charles Barry and lately in the possession of Charles Gibson and his undertenants and William Foster and his undertenants... also the twelve messuages and gardens with the appurtenances in the town of Cavan'. The final purchase of urban property was made by Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron, in 1764 when he acquired from the Ashe family of Ashfield, county Meath, 'fifty cottages, fifty lofts, ten orchards, ten pigeon houses, fifty acres of arable land, fifty acres of meadow, one hundred acres of pasture, fifty acres of wood and underwood, fifty acres of furze and fifty acres of moor and marsh, with the appurtenances in the towns and lands called the Abbeylands of Cavan and the town and lands of Keadue otherwise called the two polls of Keady' at a cost of £1,500.

The acreage of the estate fluctuated throughout the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries as certain lands were sold to comply with family settlements and wills. In the mid nineteenth century, the Griffith Valuation, detailed that the estate extended to some 25,000 statute acres. The Return of Owners of Land of One Acre and Upwards, 1876 noted that the lands of Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron, amounted to some 29,000 statute acres which placed them at the apex of the landownership pyramid in county Cavan. In 1879 the rental income of the entire Farnham estate of town and country amounted to some £10,761, rising in 1897 to its highest documented amount when, £13,100 was received in rents by the agent T R Blackley. The tenanted estate remained in the ownership of the family until the early years of the twentieth century when, under the Irish Land Act, 1903, some 3,000 statute acres, part of the Carmichael estate located in the parish of Killashandra, barony of Tullyhunco, were sold. In 1904 the rental income of the estate amounted to £12,700 per annum. The remaining tenanted estate was sold during the tenure of Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron, under the terms of the Irish Land Act, 1923, and the 1931 Land Act, while the family retained some 2,800 acres of untenanted lands, including demesne, forest, water, woodland and mountain, the mansion house at Farnham as well as non-agricultural, residential lands in Cavan town. This acreage was reduced over the following years and in 2001, following the death of Barry Owen Somerset, 12<sup>th</sup> Baron, the remaining

demesne lands amounting to some 1,200 statute acres were sold- thus ending the families 330 year connection with the property.

## The Farnham papers

The Farnham collection consists of estate and family papers covering the period from about 1600 to around 1950. They were deposited at several different times with the National Library of Ireland. In 1944 Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron, deposited material, which has been detailed in *Analecta Hibernica* (1944). The second major accession, mainly correspondence, was received in 1972 from Barry Owen Somerset, 12<sup>th</sup> Baron, and this material is detailed in NLI *Report on Private Collections* No. 494A. The material from both of these accessions is listed in *Manuscript Sources for the History of Irish Civilization* (1965) and *Manuscript Sources for the History of Irish Civilization* (Supplement) (1975) respectively. The remaining unsorted material, originally housed in some 20 packing cases, has been arranged and listed, thus making it available to the researcher for the first time.

As with many other collections of papers generated by the landed families of Ireland, the principal classes of documents contained within the Farnham collection relate to the title, administration and management of the estate lands. Title deeds for the various estates are comprehensive in detailing the previous owners of the rural and urban estates, and the process of their sale to the Maxwell family during the eighteenth century. Encumbrances on these lands including marriage settlements, mortgages and financial judgements secured by these lands are also numerous. Through the legal mechanism of the lease, these lands were devolved to tenants. An exceptional range of leases both in terms of their geographical and chronological extent, are contained in the collection, providing immense detail relating to tenants, the size of their holdings, their annual rent besides listing the clauses within the leases. Rentals and rent rolls are fragmentary in their coverage, however their range is impressive covering the period 1699 to 1897. The estate maps and surveys (covering the period 1723-1919) already listed (21 F 115-120) are detailed in a more comprehensive manner in this list. Papers relating to individual Barons Farnham, in particular those concerned with the accumulating debts of Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron, and the attempts of his brother John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, to alleviate them during the early nineteenth century, constitute a large portion of the sub group concerned with legal and financial papers. Wills, testamentary material and executor's receipts relative to members of the Maxwell family, are also represented in the collection.

A substantial amount of the correspondence within this list has already been detailed in *Manuscript Sources for the History of Irish Civilisation* (1965) and *Manuscript Sources for the History of Irish Civilization* (*Supplement*) (1975). Particularly prominent is the political correspondence of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, and Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron, covering the early to mid nineteenth century. Much of this material has been listed by A P W Malcomson, in *Special Lists* No. 356-358 and in NLI *Report on Private Collections* No. 494A. Notable gaps within the correspondence section include the 1<sup>st</sup> to 4<sup>th</sup> Barons, the 6<sup>th</sup> Baron and the 8<sup>th</sup> and 9<sup>th</sup> Barons, who are represented by only a small number of letters. Previously unsorted correspondence of the 11<sup>th</sup> Baron with T

R Blackley, the land agent, other demesne employees and Messrs Allen & Halpin, the estate solicitors, details the impact of the politically and militarily troubled period of the 1920s on the Maxwell family, their house, demesne and estate. The business papers of Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron, mostly his correspondence while employed by several English coal and iron companies in the 1920s and during his subsequent chairmanship of the Monaghan Cinema Ltd., illustrate the changing lifestyle of an Irish landlord after the loss of his tenanted estate.

In the main the manuscript material is in good condition, although some of the earlier material is quite fragile. Manuscripts in need of particular attention have been noted within the list.

Other Farnham estate and family papers, have been deposited in recent years by Barry Owen Somerset, 12<sup>th</sup> Baron and his wife Diana, Lady Farnham in the Public Record Office of Northern Ireland and in Cavan County Library. This material is complementary to the manuscripts held in the National Library of Ireland.

## **Arrangement of the collection**

As the original arrangement of the collection of papers could not be ascertained a new layout has been imposed upon it. The papers have been divided into several groupings namely, (I) legal papers, (II) estate papers, (III) correspondence of family members, (IV) personal papers of family members, (V) business papers of Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron and (VI) miscellaneous material. Sub groups are arranged either at estate (alphabetical, then chronological), personal (chronological) or document type level.

To provide a comprehensive list of the Farnham papers, the manuscript material already listed in *Manuscript Sources for the History of Irish Civilisation* (1965) and *Manuscript Sources for the History of Irish Civilization* (Supplement) (1975), as well as material from the online catalogue of the National Library of Ireland relating to the Maxwell family and the Barons Farnham has been included in this list.

## Sources & Bibliography

'Farnham Papers', in *Analecta Hibernica* No. 15 (Dublin, 1944).

'Farnham Papers', in NLI Report on Private Collections, No. 494A.

Bateman, John, *The Great Landowners of Great Britain and Ireland*. With an Introduction by David Spring (New York, 1971) Originally published London, 1876. Breiden, J, 'Tenant Applications to Lord Farnham, County Cavan 1832-60', in

Breifne, (Journal of the Cumman Seanchais Bhreifne). Volume. IX. No. 36. (Monaghan, 2000), pp173-224.

Burke, Sir Bernard, Burke's Peerage, Knightage and Baronetage, (London, various editions).

Cherry, Jonathan Mark, An historical geography of the Farnham estates in county Cavan, circa 1650-circa 1950. (Unpublished, PhD thesis, 2 Vols.) (NUI, Dublin, 2004).

Cockayne, G E, *The Complete Peerage of England, Scotland, Ireland, Great Britain, and the United Kingdom. Extant Extinct or Dormant.* Volume V. (London, 1926).

Farnham, John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, A statement of the management of the Farnham Estates. (Dublin, 1830).

Hayes, Richard J (ed.), *Manuscript Sources for the History of Irish Civilisation*. (Vols. 2 &3) (Dublin, 1965).

Hayes, Richard J (ed.), *Manuscript Sources for the History of Irish Civilisation*. (Supplement) (Vol. Persons & Places) (Dublin, 1975).

Johnston- Liik, Edith Mary, *History of the Irish Parliament 1692-1800 Commons Constituencies and Statutes*. Volume V. (Belfast, 2002).

McCourt, E, 'The Management of the Farnham Estates During the Nineteenth Century', in *Breifne* (Journal of the Cumman Seanchais Bhreifne). Volume III. No.16. (Cavan, 1973-75), pp. 531-560.

Primary Valuation of Tenements (The Griffith Valuation) For county Cavan. (Dublin, 1856).

Return of Owners of Land of One Acre and Upwards. (HMSO, 1876).

### Note regarding personal and place names

For clarity in this list members of the Maxwell family who held the title Baron Farnham are identified firstly, by their Christian name and peerage number. For example, John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron and Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron. No reference is made in this list to the titles of Viscount and Earl of Farnham. The Lady Farnhams detailed in the list are identified using their Christian name and their title. For example Judith, Lady Farnham and Aileen, Lady Farnham.

Townland names have been standardised according to the spelling used in the General Alphabetical Index to the townlands and towns, parishes and baronies of Ireland Based on the census of Ireland for the year 1851 (Baltimore, 1984). Where modern equivalents of townlands, detailed in the manuscripts could not be identified the names on the manuscripts have been used.

## I Legal papers

This sub group of manuscripts is divided into eight sections, namely title deeds and related papers, marriage settlements, mortgages, assignment of judgements, annuities and charges, leases, unexecuted and draft leases and legal and financial papers concerning family members. These papers detail the ownership and title to the Maxwell family lands in counties Cavan, Carlow, Kildare, Meath and Wexford. They provide a comprehensive body of detailed source material concerning the manner and means by which the Farnham estate was acquired, encumbered and administered, through title deed, mortgage, annuities, marriage settlements and charges and lease respectively. Manuscripts detailing the financial and legal concerns of individual members of the Maxwell family, Barons Farnham are contained in the final section of this sub grouping.

## I.i Title deeds and related papers

<b>I.i.1</b>	Barry	(counties	Carlow,	Kildare,	Meath	&
Wexfor	rd)					

MS 41,113 /1 Release from Bonnett Arthur to James Barry, Mary Barry, Matthew Barry, George Haughton, Peter Bogham and Philip Savage of lands

in the barony of Salt, county Kildare. 1680 May 13. 2 1/2

membranes.

MS 41,113 /2 Lease for one year from James Barry to Philip Savage, Charles

Meredyth, Henry Meredyth, Arthur Meredyth and Richard Nevill of lands in the baronies of Salt and Carbury, county Kildare. 1698 Oct.

6. 1 membrane.

MS 41,113/3 Copy lease of lives renewable for ever from Ursula, Lady Altham to

James Barry, of lands in county Carlow and in the barony of Scarawalsh, county Wexford, in consideration of '£4,000 and 20

broad pieces of gold.' 1719 Nov. 21. 1 item.

Conservation note: manuscript in a fragile and poor condition.

MS 41,113 /4 Lease for one year from James Barry to Sylvester Crosse of

Posseckstown, barony of Lower Moyfenrath, county Meath and Burtown Big and Burtown Little, Moone and Simonstown East and Simonstown West, barony of Kilkea and Moone, county Kildare.

1720 Oct. 18. 1 membrane.

MS 41,113 /5 Copy fine of lands in counties Carlow and Wexford. 1747. 1 item.

Conservation note: manuscript in quite fragile condition.

MS 41,113 /6 Conveyance between (1) Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron and John James, 4<sup>th</sup>

Baron (2) Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath, Owen Wynne and Anne (nee Maxwell) Wynne and (3) Henry Meredyth of lands in counties

Carlow, Kildare and Wexford in trust from (1) to (3). 1781 Feb. 20. 9 membranes.

MS 41,113 /7

List of deeds of lease and release on various lands in counties Carlow, Kildare and Wexford. Undated, but likely *circa* 1790. *1 item*.

Conservation note: torn along original folds, requires careful handling.

## **I.i.2** Lists of deeds and deeds (Cavan town and county)

**MS 11,490** 

Concerning the property of the Maxwell family, Barons Farnham. 1611-1825. Including: Schedule of deeds and documents connected with the Farnham estates of Cavan town and county, 1611-1805; List of deeds, documents and papers relating to property in county Cavan, 1640-1818; List of deeds relating to concerns in Mary Street, Dublin, 1701-1763; A list of deeds of purchase made by Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath from different persons, 1744- 1779; List of deeds, leases and documents relating to lands in county Cavan and Cavan town handed over to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1758-1825. 5 items.

### **I.i.3** Carmichael (county Cavan)

MS 41,114/1

Grant of lands from Charles I to Sir James Craig in county Cavan. 1647 May 29. 7½ membranes.

Latin: with Royal seal attached.

Conservation note: Deed is in quite poor condition and difficult to handle.

MS 41,114 /2

Deed of freehold from Lewis Craig to James Anderson of the lands of Drummany and Derry in the parish of Killashandra, barony of Tullyhunco. 1688 Oct. 30. *I membrane*.

Conveyance for recovery of debts from Robert Craig to George Warburton of the manor of Castlecraig, ie Tonaloy and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco and the manor of Craigstown ie Laheen and other lands in the barony of Carrigallen, county Leitrim. 1722 Dec. 8. 5 membranes.

MS 41,114 /3

Bargain and sale for one year from George Warburton to Alexander Nesbitt of the manor of Castlecraig, ie Tonaloy and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco and the manor of Craigstown ie Laheen and other lands in the barony of Carrigallen, county Leitrim. 1726 Oct. 3. 2 membranes.

Conveyance of mortgage from George Warburton to Alexander Nesbitt of the manor of Castlecraig, ie Tonaloy and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco and the manor of Craigstown ie Laheen and other lands in the barony of Carrigallen, county Leitrim. 1726 Oct. 4. 7 membranes.

### MS 41,114 /4

Conveyance of mortgage from Alexander Nesbitt & Henry Coddington to Jervis Meares in trust for William Gore and others secured by the manor of Castlecraig, ie Tonaloy and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco and the manor of Craigstown ie Laheen and other lands in the barony of Carrigallen, county Leitrim. 1727 July 8. 6 membranes.

### MS 41,114 /5

Articles of agreement regarding payment of debts between (1) John Carmichael and Major John Carmichael and (2) Hugh Henry and others, the creditors of Craig. 1732 June 26. 5 membranes.

### MS 41,114 /6

Document relating to the lands of Aghabane, barony of Tullyhunco, county Cavan. 1733. *I membrane*. Note: in latin.

Bargain and sale from John Carmichael to Major John Carmichael of the lands of Drummany and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco. 1733 May 9. *1 membrane*.

Conveyance from John Carmichael to Major John Carmichael of the lands of Drummany and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco in consideration of the sum £2,500. 1733 May 9. *1 membrane*.

Counterpart of deed of fee farm grant from John Carmichael to John Johnston of the lands of Cornasker and Cornaclea in the parish of Kildallan. 1733 Aug. 2. *1 membrane*.

### MS 41,114 /7

Bargain and sale for one year from Lewis Meares to James Howison of Mullaghamore and other lands in the barony of Carrigallen, county Leitrim and Portlongfield and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco. 1734 Feb. 6. *1 membrane*.

Conveyance of mortgage from Lewis Meares to James Howison of Mullaghmore and other lands in the barony of Carrigallen, county Leitrim and Portlongfield and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco, in consideration of the sum of £3,563. 1734 Feb. 7. 3 membranes.

Mortgage between (1) John Carmichael and Major John Carmichael and (2) Daniel De Bernatre secured by the lands of Carn, Druminiskill, Drumcartagh, Drumcanon, Mullaghmullen, Killygowan and Laheen, in the barony of Tullyhunco in consideration of the sum of £1,500. 1734 Feb. 7. *1 membrane*.

### MS 41,114 /8

Assignment of several incumbrances from (1) Hugh Henry and others (the creditors of Robert Craig) to (2) James Howison and

William Crookshank secured by the lands of manor of Castlecraig. 1734 June 19. 2 *membranes*.

### MS 41,114 /9

Wm Carmichael's recovery of land in county Cavan, including Aghabane, barony of Tullyhunco. 1734. *I membrane with damaged seal attached*.

Note: in Latin.

#### MS 41,114 /10

Exemplification of decree between John Carmichael (Plaintiff) and Robert Craig and others (Defendants) regarding the ownership of the manor Castlecraig ie Tonaloy and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco and the manor of Craigstown ie Mullaghmore and other lands in the barony of Carrigallen, county Leitrim. 1740 Dec. 8. 4 membranes with seal attached.

### MS 41,114 /11

Lease for one year from Alexander Nesbitt to John Howison of the manor of Castlecraig ie Tonaloy and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco and the manor of Craigstown ie Killegar and other lands in the barony of Carrigallen, county Leitrim. 1742 Sept. 21. 2 *membranes*.

### MS 41,114 /12

Conveyance of mortgage between (1) Alexander Nesbitt (2) John Howison and (3) John Carmichael and Major John Carmichael, secured by the manor of Castlecraig ie Tonaloy and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco and the manor of Craigstown ie Laheen and other lands in the barony of Carrigallen, county Leitrim. 1742 Sept. 22. 7 membranes.

Will of John Jaucourt Carmichael, dated 1744 Jan. 1 and probate of will dated 1745 Nov. 12. 2 membranes attached.

Indenture of fine of lands between (1) James Ranken and (2) Mary Carmichael and John Jaucourt Carmichael relating to Drummany and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco. 1744/10/31. *I membrane*.

### MS 41,114 /13

Lease for one year from (1) Mary Carmichael and Rev John Jaucourt Carmichael to (2) James Ranken of Drummany and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco. 1744 Nov. 22. *1 membrane*.

Agreement and release between (1) Mary Carmichael and Rev John Jaucourt Carmichael (2) James Ranken and (3) Thomas Hall of Drummany and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco. 1744 Nov. 23. 5 membranes.

### MS 41,114 /14

Exemplification between (1) Thomas Hall (Demandment) (2) James Ranken (Tenant) and (3) Mary Carmichael and John Jaucourt Carmichael (Vouchees) relating to the lands of Drummany and others in the barony of Tullyhunco. 1744 Nov. 28. *1 membrane with seal attached*.

Part of the seal is missing.

Lease for one year from Robert King to William Lennox of Mullaghduff in the barony of Tullyhaw and Ardarragh and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco. 1749 Mar. 5. *1 membrane*.

Conveyance of mortgage from Robert King to William Lennox secured by Mullaghduff in the barony of Tullyhaw and Ardarragh and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco. 1749 Mar. 6. *I 1/2 membranes*.

MS 41,114 /15

Lease for one year from Mrs. Mary Carmichael to Robert King of Mullaghduff in the barony of Tullyhaw and Ardarragh and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco. 1749 May 1. *1 membrane*.

Mortgage between Mrs. Mary Carmichael and Robert King secured by Mullaghduff in the barony of Tullyhaw and Ardarragh and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco in consideration of the sum of £400. 1749 May 2. *1 membrane*.

MS 41,114 /16

Lease for one year from Mary Carmichael to James Carmichael of Aghabane and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco. 1749 June 23. *1 membrane*.

Conveyance from (1) Mary Carmichael and (2) John Carmichael to (3) James Carmichael of the lands of Aghabane and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco. 1749 June 24. 6 membranes.

Articles of agreement between William, Lord Bishop of Clonfert on behalf of John Carmichael and Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron on behalf of John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron regarding the sale of the manor of Castlecraig. 1757 Apr. 19. *I sheet*. Also contemporaneous rent roll of the said lands. *I sheet*.

Indenture of agreement between John Carmichael and Janet his wife and William, Lord Bishop of Clonfert, effectually baring all dowers against Tonaloy and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco. 1758 Jan. 23. *I membrane*.

MS 41,114 /17

Lease for one year from Philip Chenevix to John Carmichael of the lands of Carn, Druminiskill, Drumcanon, Mullaghmullen, Killygowan and Laheen in the barony of Tullyhunco. 1758 May 19. *1 membrane*.

Assignment of mortgage from Philip Chenevix to John Carmichael secured by the lands of Carn, Druminiskill, Drumcanon, Mullaghmullen, Killygowan and Laheen in the barony of Tullyhunco, in consideration of the sum of £1,966. 1758 May 20. 1½ membranes.

### MS 41,114 /18

Lease for one year from (1) John Carmichael and William Carmichael, Bishop of Leighlin and Ferns to (2) Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron, of Tonaloy and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco. 1758 May 24. *I membrane*.

Conveyance from (1) John Carmichael and (2) William Carmichael, Bishop of Leighlin and Ferns to (3) Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron, of Tonaloy and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco, with an inventory of the patents, records, deeds and writings relating to the title of the lands. 1758 May 25. 3½ membranes.

### MS 41,114/19

Indented articles of agreement between John Carmichael and Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron regarding the sale of Tonaloy and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco, in consideration of the sum of £18,900. 1758 May 25. 3 ½ membranes. Also, account showing how the purchase money was raised. *Circa* 1759. 1 sheet.

Rent roll of the Carmichael estate, noting tenant names, the extent of holdings and the terms of the lease. 1759 Dec. 2 *sheets*.

### MS 41,114 /20

Document entitled 'State of the title of John Carmichael Esq., to the lands of Drummany and other lands in the county of Cavan'. 1765 Aug. 20. 4, [1] leaves.

Release of legacy from Michael Swift (sole executor of will of Mary Carmichael) to James Carmichael relating to Aghabane and other lands from which fee farm rents were issuing in the barony of Tullyhunco. 1765 Sept. 6. 1½ membranes.

Release of charge of £1,000 from William Carmichael, Lord Archbishop of Dublin to John Carmichael. 1765 Sept 12. *I membrane*.

### MS 41,114 /21

Lease for one year from (1) John Carmichael and William Lennox to (2) Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron, of Drummany and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco. 1765 Sept. 18. *1 membrane*.

Conveyance from (1) John Carmichael and (2) William Lennox to (3) Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron, of Drummany and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco, with schedule of rents and fee farm rents issuing out of said lands. 1765 Sept.19. 2½ membranes.

Abstract of deeds and documents relating to the Carmichael estate in possession of the executors of John James, 4<sup>th</sup> Baron and by them handed over to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. c. 1823. *I sheet*.

## I.i.4 Cavan town

I.i.4.A	Barry estate
D. 20,409	Grant of freehold lease from the Burgess of Cavan Corporation to Mahum O Brogan, of property in Cavan town. 1611. <i>I membrane</i> . Note: in Latin.
D. 20,413	Grant of freehold lease from the Burgess of Cavan Corporation to Terence O Rely, of property in the vicinity of Cavan town. 1627. <i>I membrane</i> .  Note: in Latin, quite faded, difficult to read.
D. 20,414	Grant of freehold lease from the Burgess of Cavan Corporation to William Moore, of property in Cavan town. 1628. <i>1 membrane</i> .
D. 20,415	Grant of freehold lease from the Burgess of Cavan Corporation to Lawrence Dardes, of property in Cavan town. 1628. <i>I membrane</i> .
D. 20,417	Conveyance from Patrick Brady, Thomas Brady and Nicholas Garnott to John Gibson of the, 'thirteen polls of land with their appurtenances lying and being in the High Street of the town of Cavan.' 1631 Mar. 13. <i>I membrane</i> .
D. 20,418	Conveyance from Patrick McOwen O Brogan to John Gibson, of property in Cavan town. 1632 June 20. <i>I membrane</i> .
D. 20,419	Conveyance from Thomas Newman to John Gibson, of property in Cavan town. 1632 Aug. 1. <i>1 membrane</i> .
D. 20,420	Conveyance from John Moore, William Moore <i>et al</i> to John Gibson, of property in Cavan town. 1632 Sept. 6. <i>1 membrane</i> . Conservation note: three damaged seals attached.
D. 20,421	Conveyance from Patrick O Brogan to John Gibson, of property in Cavan town. 1632 Sept. 16. <i>I membrane</i> . Conservation note: one damaged seal attached.
D. 20,422	Grant of freehold lease from the Burgess of Cavan Corporation to Walter Clifford and James Gray, of part of the lands of Rosscolgan, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1633. <i>I membrane</i> .
D. 20,423	Conveyance from Patrick O Donoge O Brogan to John Gibson, of property in Cavan town. 1633 July 9. <i>1 membrane</i> . Conservation note: one damaged seal attached.
D. 20,424	Conveyance from John Whitman to John Gibson, of property in Cavan town. 1633 July 29. <i>I membrane</i> . Conservation note: one damaged seal attached.
D. 20,425	Conveyance from Terence O Rely to John Gibson, of part of the lands of Rosscolgan, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1633 July 30. <i>I</i>

membrane.

D. 20,426 Conveyance from William Clifford and James Gray to John Gibson, of part of the lands of Rosscolgan, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1634 May 13. 1 membrane. Conservation note: some damage to manuscript, also damaged seal. D. 20,427 Conveyance from Lawrence Dardes to John Gibson, of property in Cavan town. 1634 May 30. 1 membrane with seal attached. Conveyance from William Moore and Owen Moore O Brogan to D. 20,428 John Gibson of property in Cavan town. 1634 Aug. 18. 1 membrane with two seals attached. D. 20,429 Grant of freehold lease from the Burgess of Cavan Corporation to John Gibson of property 'lying in the street called Castle Street in the Cavan'. 1634 Aug. 18. 1 membrane. D. 20,430 Conveyance from Lawrence Dardes to John Gibson of property 'situate in the Castle Street of Cavan.' 1635 Feb. 25. 1 membrane. Conservation note: seal is slightly damaged. Conveyance from Lawrence Dardes to John Moore of property D. 20,431 lying 'in the new street of Cavan town'. 1636 June 25. 1 membrane. D. 20,432 Coveyance from John Lockington, Lamlot Steele and Alice Moore to Nicholas Barry, of property in the town of Cavan. 1639 Mar. 20. 1 membrane with three seals MS 41,115 /1 Lease for one year from Charles Gibson to Richard Morris and Robert Hill of the 14 burgess acres and 12 tenements in Cavan town, 1695 Dec. 6. 1 membrane. Marriage settlement of Charles Gibson and Elizabeth Hill made between (1) Charles Gibson and (2) Richard Morris and Richard Hill secured by the 14 burgess acres and 12 tenements in Cavan town. 1695 Dec. 7. 1 membrane. MS 41,115 /2 Mortgage between (1) Charles Gibson (2) Richard Fenner and Marlborough Sterling and (3) Peter Metgee in consideration of £550 and interest, secured by the 14 burgess acres in Rosscolgan, barony of Lower Loughtee and 12 tenements in Cavan town. 1739 Nov. 23. 2 membranes. MS 41,115 /3 Lease for one year from Charles Gibson and Peter Metgee to Frisneed Ball of the 14 burgess acres in Rosscolgan, barony of Lower Loughtee, Bellews Park and 12 tenements and gardens in

Assignment of mortgage from (1) Charles Gibson and (2) Peter

Cavan town. 1740 Jan. 28. 1 membrane.

Metgee to (3) Frisneed Ball in consideration of £600, secured by the 14 burgess acres in Rosscolgan, barony of Lower Loughtee, Bellews Park and 12 tenements and gardens in Cavan town. 1740 Jan. 29. *I membrane*.

Lease from Charles Barry to William Thompson of house and garden in the town of Cavan for three named lives renewable forever. 1745 Aug. 6. *I membrane*.

MS 41,115 /4

Warrant of ownership between (1) Luke Sterling (2) Charles Barry and (3) Michael Maculla and Ann Maculla (nee Gibson) and Bridget Gibson concerning the 14 burgess acres in Rosscolgan, barony of Lower Loughtee, Bellews Park and 12 tenements and gardens in Cavan town, in consideration of the sum of £1,114 paid by Sterling to Maculla and Gibson. 1746 Jan. 20. *I membrane*.

MS 41,115 /5

Lease for one year from Frisneed Ball to Luke Sterling of the 14 burgess acres in Rosscolgan, barony of Lower Loughtee, Bellews Park and 12 tenements and gardens in Cavan town. 1746 Feb. 3. *1 membrane*.

Assignment of mortgage from Frisneed Ball to Luke Sterling in consideration of the sum of £754, secured by the 14 burgess acres in Rosscolgan, barony of Lower Loughtee, Bellews Park and 12 tenements and gardens in Cavan town. 1746 Feb. 4. 1½ membranes.

MS 41,115 /6

Lease for one year from Charles Barry, Michael Maculla, Ann Maculla (nee Gibson) and Bridget Gibson to John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, of the 14 burgess acres in Rosscolgan, barony of Lower Loughtee, Bellews Park and the 12 messuages and gardens in Cavan town. 1746 Mar. 8. *1 membrane*.

Conveyance from (1) Charles Barry and (2) Michael Maculla, Ann Maculla (nee Gibson) Bridget Gibson and Lettice Gibson and (3) Luke Sterling to (4) John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, of the 14 burgess acres in Rosscolgan, barony of Lower Loughtee, Bellews Park and the 12 tenements and gardens in Cavan town in consideration of the sum of £1,114. 1746 Mar. 9. 3½ membranes.

MS 41,115 /7

Assignment between Barbara Twigg and John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron reciting a judgement for £140 of James Twigg against Charles Gibson and payment of £45 by Maxwell to Barbara Twigg the remaining balance of judgement. 1747 Apr. 20. *1 membrane*.

Release from Peter Metgee to John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, of the 14 burgess acres in Rosscolgan barony of Lower Loughtee, Bellews Park and the 12 tenements and gardens in Cavan town. 1747 Dec.3. *I membrane*.

Memorial of release from Peter Metgee to John, 1st Baron, of the 14

burgess acres in Rosscolgan, barony of Lower Loughtee, Bellews Park and the 12 messuages and gardens in Cavan town. 1747 Dec. 3. *1 membrane*.

Release between (1) Peter Barnwell (2) Charles Barry and (3) John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, of the 14 burgess acres in Rosscolgan, barony of Lower Loughtee, Bellews Park and the 12 tenements and gardens in Cavan town. 1747 Dec.12. *1 membrane*.

Warrant of attorney from Sir Compton Domvile to Charles Barry in acknowledging full satisfaction of payment. 1747 Dec. 13. *1 sheet*.

### I.i.4.B Keadew & Abbey Land

MS 41,116/1

Deed of conveyance from Theobald Burke, Lord Baron Burke of Castleconnell *et al* to Sir Thomas Ashe of, 'the abbey, monastery of Caban... half a poll of land with the appurtenances' [Abbey Land, barony of Upper Loughtee]. 16 Feb. 1608. *I membrane with seal attached*.

Conservation note: this document is fragile.

MS 41,116 /2

Copy of conveyance from William Parsons to John Ashe of Keadew, parish of Urney, barony of Upper Loughtee in consideration of the sum of £40. 1612 Sept. 2. 2 sheets.

D. 20,411

Sale from Sir Thomas Ashe to John Ashe of the lands of Keadew, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1613 May 26. *I membrane*.

MS 41,116 /2

Lease from Thomas Ashe to John Price of Abbey Land and Keadew, parish of Urney, barony of Upper Loughtee for three named lives renewable forever. 1700 Feb. 11. *I membrane*.

Copy of lease from Thomas Ashe to John Price of Abbey Land and Keadew, parish of Urney, barony of Upper Loughtee for three named lives renewable forever. 1700 Feb. 11. 5 sheets.

MS 41,116 /3

Lease for one year from Thomas Ashe to John Price of Abbey Land and Keadew, parish of Urney and barony of Upper Loughtee. 1719 Aug. 18. *I membrane*.

Renewal of lease and insertion of a named life from Thomas Ashe to John Price of Abbey Land and Keadew, parish of Urney and barony of Upper Loughtee, in consideration of the sum of £30. 1719 Aug. 19. *1 membrane*.

Lease for one year from John Price to Wettenhall Sneyd of Abbey Land and Keadew, parish of Urney, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1728 Feb. 13. *1 membrane*.

Mortgage between John Price and Wettenhall Sneyd in

consideration of the sum of £700 secured by Abbey Land and Keadew, parish of Urney, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1728 Feb. 14. *1 membrane*.

### MS 41,116 /4

Articles of agreement between John Price Snr., John Price Jnr., Richard Price and John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron regarding the purchase by John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron of Abbey Land and Keadew, parish of Urney, barony of Upper Loughtee, for the sum of £1,000. 1734 Apr. 2 *sheets*.

Bond between Wettenhall Sneyd and John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron with Sneyd promising to secure John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron's title to Abbey Land and Keadew, parish of Urney, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1735 July 14. *1 sheet*.

### MS 41,116 /5

Lease for one year from Rev William Sneyd to Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron of Abbey Land and Keadew, parish of Urney, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1745 Jan. 13. *1 membrane*.

Conveyance from Rev William Sneyd, Rev Daniel Hearn and Barbara Sneyd executors of the will of Wettenhall Sneyd to Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron of Abbey Land and Keadew, parish of Urney, barony of Upper Loughtee, in consideration of the sum of £112 paid by Robert 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron in redeeming Price's mortgage of Feb. 1728. 1745 Jan. 13. *1 membrane*.

Fine of Abbey Land and Keadew parish of Urney, barony of Upper Loughtee, between Joseph Ashe, Susanne Ashe and Richard Ashe and Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron in consideration of the sum of £1,500. 1764 Jan 13. *1 membrane*.

Lease for one year from Hayes, Lord Viscount Doneraile and Joseph Ashe to Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron, of Abbey Land and Keadew, parish of Urney, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1764 Mar. 8. *I membrane*.

Search and list of judgements from Register's Office against Keadew, parish of Urney, barony of Upper Loughtee. *circa* 1815. 2 *sheets*.

### **I.i.4.C** Old Gaol and Session House sites

### MS 41,117 /1

Lease for three named lives from John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron to Henry Parr of, 'all the garden or tenement situate before the church yard gate of Cavan in the Abbey Land'. 1747 Sept. 29. *1 membrane*.

Lease for three named lives from Rev James Cottingham to Charles Stuart, 'all the tenement situate before the church yard gate of Cavan... for the purpose of building and erecting a new gaol'. 1778 May 2. *1 membrane*.

Lease for two named lives from Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron to Rev James Cottingham of 'that plot of ground whereon the gaol of Cavan is now built' noting Cottingham's purchase of Parr's interest in the lease. 1792 Oct. 31. *1 sheet*.

### MS 41,117 /2

Conveyance from Thomas Charles Stewart Corry and The Grand Jurors of the County of Cavan to Benjamin Woodward of the site of the old gaol in Cavan town in consideration of the sum of £100, paid by Woodward at public auction. 1825 July 20. *1 membrane*.

Conveyance from The Grand Jurors of the County of Cavan to Benjamin Woodward of 'all that ground on which the Sessions House of Cavan formerly stood and that part of the ground adjoining the on which the gaol of said town formerly stood' in consideration of the sum of £110, paid by Woodward at public auction. 1825 July 20. *1 membrane*.

### MS 41,117 /3

Agreement between Edward Cottingham and Benjamin Woodward, reciting Cottingham's willingness to transfer to Woodward 'his right title and interest' in the lease of the old gaol site, in consideration of the sum of £200. 1827 Mar. 5. *1 sheet*.

Conveyance from Edward Cottingham to Benjamin Woodward of Cottingham's 'right title and interest' in the lease of the old gaol site in Cavan town, in consideration of the sum of £200. 1828 Nov. 25. *1 membrane*.

Renewal of lease for three named lives from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to Benjamin Blake Woodward of the old gaol site in Cavan town. 1830 Feb. 26. *1 membrane*.

### **I.i.4.D** Somerville estate

### MS 41,118 /1

Lease for one year from James Somerville to Thomas Somerville of Burgess plots in the town of Enniskillen and other lands in the barony of Magheraboy, county Fermanagh, property in Cavan town and two messuages, stables and gardens, on Kings Street, Gormanstown, Parish of St. Michan, Dublin. 1699 Nov. 24. *1 membrane*.

Conveyance from James Somerville to Thomas Somerville of Burgess plots in the town of Enniskillen and other lands in the barony of Magheraboy, county Fermanagh, property in Cavan town and two messuages, stables and gardens, on Kings Street, Gormanstown, Parish of St. Michan, Dublin for the purpose of making provision for his children. 1699 Nov. 25. 2 membranes.

### MS 41,118 /2

James Somerville's bond with Thomas Somerville for £900. *Circa* 1713. *1 sheet*.

MS 41,118 /3

Lease for one year from James Somerville to Robert Clements of tenements and other property in Cavan town. 1717 Sept. 25. *1 membrane*.

Mortgage between James Somerville and Robert Clements, in consideration of the sum of £400, secured by tenements and other property in Cavan town. 1717 Sept. 26. *1 membrane*.

MS 41,118 /4

James Somerville's bond with Robert Clements for £400. 1717 Sept. 26. *1 sheet*.

MS 41,118 /5

Rent roll of James Somerville's estate in Cavan town. *Circa* 1718. *1 sheet*.

List of James Somerville's bonds and debts. Circa 1718. 1 sheet.

List of James Somerville's debts *circa* 1718 and two receipts for payments of debts to John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron *circa* 1721. *3 sheets*.

Fine on James Somerville estate. Circa 1718. 1 sheet.

MS 41,118 /6

Levy of fine (1) James Somerville, Edward Nicholson, Elizabeth Nicholson (nee Somerville) James Hastings, Jane Hastings (nee Somerville) Steven Steevens, Susanna Steevens (nee Somerville) (2) David Wilson and (3) Alexander McClintock on Burgess plots in the town of Enniskillen and other lands in the barony of Magheraboy, county Fermanagh, property in Cavan town and two messuages, stables and gardens, on Kings Street, Gormanstown, Parish of St. Michan, Dublin. 1718 May 6. *1 membrane*.

Settlement between Thomas Somerville and James Somerville of the Burgess plots in the town of Enniskillen and other lands in the barony of Magheraboy, county Fermanagh, property in Cavan town and two messuages, stables and gardens, on Kings Street, Gormanstown, Parish of St. Michan, Dublin, detailing the manner in which the rents are to be divided amongst James Somerville and his siblings. 1718 May 23. 2 membranes.

MS 41,118 /7

Assignment of rent charge from James Somerville to Jane Cathcart of £5 on lands in county Fermanagh. 1718 Oct. 10. *I sheet*.

Rent roll of James Somerville's estate in Cavan town, with letter to John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron regarding his intended purchase of the property. 1718 Oct. 16. *I sheet*.

Articles of agreement between James Somerville and James Littell regarding the sale of property in Cavan town, with rent roll of property. 1719 Jan. 21. *I sheet*.

Articles of agreement between James Somerville and James Littell

regarding the sale of property in Cavan town, with rent roll of property, 1719 Jan. 21; with Littells acknowledgement that he had purchased the property in trust for John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, 1719 Jan. 21; with receipt for £100 in part payment received by Somerville, 1719 Jan. 23. *1 sheet*.

D. 20,439

Lease for one year between Robert Clements and Gerald Burke, of property in Cavan town. 1719 Mar. 23. *1 membrane*.

MS 41,118 /8

Assignment of mortgage from Robert Clements to Gerald Burke, in consideration of £400, secured by property in Cavan town. 1719 Mar. 24. 1½ membranes.

D. 20,440

**(A)** 

Bond from James Somerville to John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron indemnifying John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron against William Hastings, on amount of a judgement depending at the time of John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron's purchase of Somerville's estate in Cavan town. 1720 Mar. 11. *1 sheet*.

**(B)** 

Assignment of James Somerville's bond to Gerald Burke. 1720 July 5. *1 sheet*.

Conservation note: both manuscripts are in a very fragile condition, requiring careful handling.

MS 41,118 /8

Lease for one year from James Somerville to John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron of property in Cavan town. 1720 July 7. *1 membrane*.

Conveyance from James Somerville to John,  $1^{st}$  Baron of property in Cavan town. 1720 July 8.  $1^{1/2}$  membranes.

Mortgage between John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron and Hugh Henry, in consideration of £910, secured by property in Cavan town. 1720 July 9. *1*½ membranes.

D. 20,441

Mortgage between John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron and Hugh Henry, in consideration of £910, secured by property in Cavan town. 1720 July 9. *1*½ membranes.

D. 20,442

Lease for one year between Gerald Burke and Hugh Henry, of property in Cavan town. 1720 Sept. 26. *1 membrane*.

MS 41,118 /9

Assignment of mortgage from Gerald Burke to Hugh Henry, in consideration of £400, secured by property in Cavan town. 1720 Sept. 27. 1½ membranes.

MS 41,118 /10

Copy of John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron account with James Somerville. *Circa* 1721, *1 sheet*; also three receipts from Somerville acknowledging payments of various amounts from John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron; 1720 Jan. 11, 1720 Feb., 1720 Mar. 21, *3 sheets*.

Letter from James Somerville to John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron including account showing payments by John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron of his bond with Somerville and outlining the outstanding balance. 1725 Nov. 26. *1 sheet*.

D. 20,443

Bargain and sale for one year between Hugh Henry and John Starling, of property in Cavan town. 1727 Jan. 5. *1 membrane*.

MS 41,118 /11

Assignment of mortgage between (1) Hugh Henry (2) John Starling and (3) John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron in consideration of the sum of £910, secured by property in Cavan town. 1727 Jan. 6. 1½ membranes.

Copy of lease and release between Luke Gardiner and Sir James Somerville of property in the Lordship of St. Mary's Abbey, Dublin. 1738 Apr. 17 & 18. 8 *sheets*.

MS 41,118 /12

Lease for one year from Sir Quaile Somerville to John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron of property on south side of Henry Street, Lordship of St. Mary's Abbey, Dublin. 1739 June 21. *1 membrane*.

Lease for lives renewable for ever from Sir Quaile Somerville to John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, of property on south side of Henry Street, Lordship of St. Mary's Abbey, Dublin. 1749 June 22. Also attached deed of renewal of lease between William Somerville and Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath. 1775 Apr. 1. 2 *membranes*.

MS 41,118 /13

Conveyance between (1) George Arthur Annesley, commonly called Viscount Valentia (2) John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron (3) Mark Baxter and (4) William Henry Blenkarne, of the Boot Inn tenement, Cavan, in consideration of the sum of £350. 1830 Feb. 3. 2 *membranes*.

### **I.i.4.E** Other property

MS 41,119

Lease for a year from Francis Maynard and Margaret Maynard to John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron of 'all that house and tenement situate lying and being in the town of Cavan formerly in the possession of Robert Johnston of Cavan... so that the said John Maxwell maybe in actual possession of the said premises.' 1737 Mar.10. *1 membrane*.

## **I.i.5** Dunsany-Fortland (county Cavan)

MS 41,120 /1

Copy of constat patent to Sir Tristram Beresford of Aghnahederny, Tullyboy and Ballaghanna in the barony of Clanmahon, county Cavan and to Henry Palmer of Derry, Drumbee and other lands in the barony of Castlerahan, county Cavan. 1666 Nov.3. *1 item*.

MS 41,120 /2

Indenture between (1) Edward Plunkett otherwise Edward, Lord Dunsany and Mary Plunkett otherwise Mary, Lady Dunsany and (2) Peter Daly and Denis Daly; relating to assignment of £500 per annum of Lady Dunsany in defeazance of bond in order to protect purchase in county Cavan from two judgements of Henry Langford and James Plunkett. 1740 Feb. 24. 11/2 membranes.

Lease for one year between (1) Edward Plunkett commonly called Edward, Lord Dunsany, (2) Peter Daly and Denis Daly, (3) John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron and (4) Henry Meredyth of the lands of Dunsany and Oxpark, county Meath and of lands known as Little Pace, county Dublin. 1740 Mar. 2. *1 membrane*; also another copy of same deed, *1 membrane*.

MS 41,120 /3

Bargain and sale for one year between (1) Edward Plunkett commonly called Edward, Lord Dunsany, Peter Daly and Denis Daly and (2) Henry Meredyth of the lands of Crover, Killyfassy, Turin, (Corcloghan) Fortland, Tullyboy Ballaghanna and Aghnahederny in the barony of Clanmahon. 1740 Mar. 2. *I membrane*.

Lease for one year from Henry Meredyth to David La Touche of the lands of Crover, Killyfassy, Turin, (Corcloghan) Fortland, Tullyboy Ballaghanna and Aghnahederny in the barony of Clanmahon. 1740 Mar. 2. *I membrane*.

Mortgage between (1) Edward Plunkett commonly called Edward, Lord Dunsany, (2) Peter Daly and Denis Daly, (3) John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron and (4) Henry Meredyth secured by the lands of Dunsany and Oxpark, county Meath and Little Pace, county Dublin to protect the sale of the estate in county Cavan from any claims of or for the dower of Bridget, Lady Dunsany. 1740 Mar. 3. 2 membranes; also another copy of same deed, 2 membranes.

MS 41,120 /4

Edward Plunkett commonly called Edward, Lord Dunsany's bond for £2,000 with Henry Meredyth. 1740 Mar. 3. 1 sheet.

MS 41,120 /5

Mortgage between (1) Henry Meredyth (2) John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron and (3) David La Touche securing £2,000 on the lands of Crover, Killyfassy, Turin, (Corcloghan) Fortland, Tullyboy Ballaghanna and Aghnahederny in the barony of Clanmahon for the purpose of completing the purchase money required. 1740 Mar. 3. 1½ membranes; also another copy of same deed, 1½ membranes.

MS 41,120 /6

Conveyance between (1) Edward Plunkett, commonly called Edward, Lord Dunsany (2) Peter Daly and Denis Daly (3) John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron and (4) Henry Meredyth of the lands of Crover, Killyfassy, Turin, (Corcloghan) Fortland, Tullyboy, Ballaghanna and Aghnahederny in the barony of Clanmahon in trust to Meredyth for Maxwell, in consideration of the sum of £5,120. 1740 Mar. 3. 2 *membranes*.

D. 18,572

Mortgage between (1) Edward Plunkett, commonly called Edward,

Lord Dunsany (2) Peter Daly and Dennis Daly (3) John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron and (4) Henry Meredyth, secured by the lands of Dunsany, county Meath and other lands in that vicinity. 1740 Mar. 3. 1½ membranes.

MS 41,120 /7

Lease for one year between (1) Edward Plunkett, commonly called Lord Baron of Dunsany and (2) Peter Daly and Denis Daly of Dunsany and other lands in county Meath, Little Pace in county Dublin and Crover, Killyfassy, Turin, (Corcloghan) Fortland, Tullyboy, Ballaghanna and Aghnahederny in the barony of Clanmahon. 1740 Apr. 25. *1 membrane*.

Release on settlement between (1) Edward Plunkett, commonly called Edward, Lord Baron of Dunsany and Mary his wife (2) Peter Daly and Denis Daly and (3) William Cooper one of the Masters of His Majesties Court of Chancery, allowing Edward Plunkett to sell Dunsany and other lands in county Meath, Little Pace in county Dublin and Crover, Killyfassy, Turin, (Corcloghan) Fortland, Tullyboy, Ballaghanna and Aghnahederny in the barony of Clanmahon, provided that the price realised is not less than 20 years purchase. 1740 Apr. 26. 3 membranes.

MS 41,120 /8

Conveyance from Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron to Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath of Pottleboy in the barony of Clanmahon 'in order to fulfil the intentions of John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron'. 1759 Aug. 20. *1 membrane*.

Draft deed of conveyance from Anne Darcy and Peter Delamar to James Smyth of Lavagh and Knockenore (sic) in the barony of Clanmahon, in consideration of the sum of £2,176. 1770 June 6. *1 item.* 

Conveyance from Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron to Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath of Lavagh, in the barony of Clanmahon in consideration of the sum of £916. 1774 Sept. 6. *1 membrane*. Conservation note: several small holes are evident on the folds of manuscript.

Conveyance from Andrew Nesbitt to Hector Graham in trust for Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath, of Ballymachugh, [Glebe] in consideration of the sum of £500. 1775 Feb. 3. *I membrane*. Conservation note: several small holes evident on this manuscript.

Conveyance from William Pole to Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath, of Tullyreagh (sic), parish of Kilbride, barony of Clanmahon in consideration of the sum of £809. 1775 June 26. *I membrane*. Conservation note: several small holes evident on this manuscript.

Attested copy recovery suffered by Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath of lands in county Cavan. 1789. *1 item*.

Conveyance from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to Myles McCabe of part of the lands of Lavagh, barony of Clanmahon, in consideration of the sum of £56. 1803 July 1. *1 sheet*.

MS 41,120 /9

Lease for three named lives from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron of Fortland house and demesne, barony of Clanmahon. 1805 May 1. *I membrane* with *I sheet* (map) attached.

Lease for 20 years and six months from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron of Lisduff and the pottle of Corcloghan (sic), barony of Clanmahon. 1805 May 1. *I membrane*.

Conveyance from Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron to Richard Kerr in trust for John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron of Fortland house and demesne, barony of Clanmahon, in consideration of the sum of £5,000. 1815 Nov. 3. *1 membrane*.

Conveyance from Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron to Richard Kerr in trust for John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron of Lisduff and the pottle of Corcloghan (sic), barony of Clanmahon, in consideration of the sum of £2,000. 1815 Nov. 3. *1 membrane*.

Conveyance from Richard Kerr to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron of Fortland and Lavagh, barony of Clanmahon. 1825 May 1. *I sheet*.

MS 41,120 /10

Lease for 20 years from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to Richard Kerr of Lisduff and the pottle of Corcloghan (sic), barony of Clanmahon. 1825 June 1. *1 sheet*.

Declaration of trust between Richard Kerr and John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron relating to Kerr's purchase of Fortland house and demesne and Lisduff and the pottle of Corcloghan (sic), barony of Clanmahon in trust for John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1825 June 10. *I sheet*.

Lease for 20 years from Rev Henry Vesey Fitzgerald, Dean of Kilmore to Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron of Lisduff and the pottle of Corcloghan (sic), barony of Clanmahon. 1839 Jan. 7. *1 sheet*.

## **I.i.6** Farnham (county Cavan)

**D. 20,410** Lease from Richard Waldron to Clement Cottrell of the lands of Monnery, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1612 Mar. 10. *1 membrane*.

Conservation note: in poor condition, parts missing, with small seal attached.

**D. 20,471** Indenture relating to Richard Waldron and Clement Cottrell, and the

manors of Dromhill and Dromellan. 1613. *I membrane*. Conservation note: this manuscript is quite difficult to read.

**D. 20,412** Conveyance from Clement Cottrell, and Ann his wife to Humphrey

Alleyn, of the lands of Monnery, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1618

Sept. 10. 1 membrane.

Conservation note: in poor condition, parts missing.

D. 20,416	Conveyance from Humphrey Alleyn to Sir Robert Dillon, Lord Dillon, Baron Kilkenny, of the lands of Monnery, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1630 Apr. 16. <i>I membrane</i> .
D. 20,473	Grant of annuity from Thomas Waldron to Henry Waldron. 1659 Mar. 16. <i>I membrane</i> .
D. 20,470	Exemplification of recovery by Thomas Waldron of the lands of Drumhell, Drummullan, Tullylough, Tirourkan in the manor of Dromhill. Undated, in latin. <i>1 membrane</i> . Conservation note: this manuscript is in very poor condition, with a damaged seal attached requires careful handling.
D. 20,433	Indenture relative to the sale of the manors of Dromhill and Dromellan, county Cavan by Thomas Waldron to Bishop Robert Maxwell. 1664. <i>I membrane</i> . Conservation note: manuscript in very poor condition, with several parts missing.
D. 20,434	Conveyance of Monney, barony of Upper Loughtee to John Bollard. 1668. <i>1 membrane</i> . Conservation note: manuscipt in very poor condition, with several tears.
D. 20,435	Conveyance from Bishop Robert Maxwell to Sir Francis Hamilton, of the lands of Gartnanoul, Snakeel and Inch, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1669 June 3. <i>1 membrane</i> .
D. 20,436	Articles of agreement between Sir Francis Hamilton and Bishop Robert Maxwell allowing Maxwell to use a passage through the lands of Gartnanoul to reach the island of Inishmore, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1669 Sept. 20. <i>1 membrane with seal</i> . Conservation note: parts of the manuscript are missing.
MS 41,121 /1	Lease for one year from John Maxwell to William Richardson and Samuel Waring, of 'the manor of Farnham and the demesne' barony of Upper Loughtee, county Cavan. 1711 June 26. <i>1 membrane</i> .
MS 41,121 /2	Indenture from John Maxwell to William Richardson and Samuel Waring of lands in the barony of Upper Loughtee, county Cavan 'in trust preserving the contingent uses and estates.' 1711 June 27. <i>I membrane</i> . Also duplicate copy of same. Conservation note: the duplicate copy is in a very fragile condition.
D. 20,437	Copy indenture between (1) John Maxwell (2) William Richardson & Samuel Waring and (3) Robert Maxwell. 1711 June 27. <i>1 item</i> .
D. 20,446	Copy of mortgage between William Davis and James Drope. 1754 June 15. <i>1 sheet</i> .
D. 20,447	Declaration of trust between Francis White and John, 1 <sup>st</sup> Baron. 1756 July 5. <i>1 sheet</i> .

D. 20,448

Bargain and sale between William Davis and Francis White, of the lands of (Middle) Drumcor, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1759 June 15. *I sheet*.

D. 20,449

Bond between William Davis and Francis White for the sum of some £31. 1759 June 15. *1 sheet*.

D. 20,450

Conveyance from William Davis to Francis White, of the lands of (Middle) Drumcor, barony of Upper Loughtee, in consideration of the sum of £121. 1759 June 16. *I sheet*.

Conservation note: the edges of this manuscript are quite frayed, with tears along the original folds.

MS 41,121 /3

Covenant between Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron and Ralph Clarke relating to the sale of Drumhell, Upper Loughtee in consideration of the sum of £1,950. 1790 Mar.1. *3 membranes*.

MS 41,121 /4

Lease from George de la Poer, Lord Bishop of Kilmore to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron of the lands of Breandrum, parish of Kilmore and Drumlaunaght, parish of Urney, both in the barony of Upper Loughtee for 21 years. 1825 Dec. 1. *1 sheet*.

Copy of memorandum of agreement between Maxwell Blacker, Rev Francis Fox, Richard Fox and Benjamin Blake Woodward regarding Breandrum, and observations on the lease of Derrywinny, parish of Kilmore, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1825 Dec. 15. 1 sheet.

MS 41,121 /5

Conveyance from George de la Poer, Lord Bishop of Kilmore and the Ecclesiastical Commissioners of Ireland to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron of the lands of Breandrum, parish of Kilmore and Drumlaunaght, parish of Urney, both in the barony of Upper Loughtee in consideration of the sum of £310. 1836 May 9. 2 membranes. Also receipt from Bishop of Kilmore for payment of rent to 1 May 1836. 1 sheet, and note regarding the map for the lease. 1 sheet.

D. 22,781

Assignment between (1) Richard Fox (2) Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and (3) James Saunderson, of the manor and demesne of Farnham, with the lands of Tullylough, Barony of Loughtee, Co. Cavan and other lands in the baronies of Castlerahan, Clanmahon and Tullyhunco, county Cavan. 1845 Dec. 17. *1 membrane*.

## **I.i.7** Hampson (county Cavan)

MS 41,122 /1

Copy of patent of lands from Charles II to Thomas Hampson, Anthony Hope and Thomas Smith of Aghacreevy and other lands in the barony of Castlerahan and Lavagh and other lands in the barony of Clanmahon. 1667 June 7. 2 sheets.

Bargain and sale for one year from Charles Hampson to Hon Robert Doyne, Walter Pollard, Faustin Cuppage and Rev Thomas Pollard of Aghacreevy and other lands in the baronies of Clanmahon and Castlerahan and other lands in county Longford. 1696 Oct. 14. *I membrane*.

Marriage settlement of Charles Hampson and Lettice Pollard, made between (1) Charles Hampson (2) Hon Robert Doyne (3) Walter Pollard (4) Faustin Cuppage and (5) Rev Thomas Pollard, detailing lands of Aghacreevy and other lands in the baronies of Clanmahon and Castlerahan and other lands in county Longford. 1696 Oct. 15. 1½ membranes.

### MS 41,122 /2

Conveyance from Robert Johnston to James Kennedy of Moydristan, in the barony of Clanmahon, in consideration of the sum of £288. 1703 Feb. 29. *1 membrane*.

Conservation note: Deed is torn along several of the original folds.

### MS 41,122 /3

Conveyance from surviving trustees appointed to facilitate the sale of forfeited and other estates in Ireland to Robert Johnston of Aghakilmore, in the barony of Clanmahon. 1703 June 23. *I membrane*.

Conservation note: Small hole in centre of membrane.

Conveynace from James Kennedy to Walter Nugent in trust for Charles Hampson, of tenement in the town of Cavan and the lands of Moydristan in the barony of Clanmahon. 1708 Dec. 11. *I membrane*.

Conservation note: Several small holes in membrane.

Conveyance from John Palmer to Thomas Fleming of Finaway, Drumbee and Derrylea in the barony of Castlerahan. 1713 Feb. 19. *1 membrane*.

Lease from Dillon Pollard to James Woods of Aghakilmore in the barony of Clanmahon. 1735 Sept. 3; the back of the deed is inscribed by Woods acknowledging receipt of £40 from John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron who purchased lease 1747 Jan. 30. *1 membrane*.

### MS 41,122 /4

Conveyance between (1) William Cooper (2) James Lennox Napier (3) Anna Maria Pollard and (4) Henry Meredyth of Finaway and other lands in the barony of Castlerahan and Aghacreevy and other lands in the barony of Clanmahon, in consideration of the sum of £9,453 paid by Meredyth. 1747 July 25. 1½ membranes.

Release from Anna Maria Pollard to Henry Meredyth of Finaway and other lands in the barony of Castlerahan and Aghacreevy and other lands in the barony of Clanmahon. 1747 Aug. 5. 1½ membranes.

Lease for 1,000 years from Henry Meredyth and John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron to Smith, Earl of Clanrickard of Finaway and other lands in the barony of Castlerahan and Aghacreevy and other lands in the barony of

Clanmahon as security for £10,000. 1750 Dec. 15. 2 membranes.

Reconveyance from Smith, Earl of Clanrickard to Henry Meredyth and John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, of Finaway and other lands in the barony of Castlerahan and Aghacreevy and other lands in the barony of Clanmahon, in consideration of the sum of £6,500. 1751 Dec. 6. *1 membrane*.

MS 41,122 /5

Conveyance from Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron to Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath of Aghafad, Aghacreevy, Ballyheelan, Drumeeny, Kiffogher (sic) and Mullaghboy in the barony of Clanmahon in consideration of the sum of £6,576. 1779 May 7. *1 membrane*.

Conveyance from Henry Meredyth to Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath of Aghacreevy, Kiffogher (sic), Ballyheelan, Mullaghboy, Drumeeny and Aghafad in the barony of Clanmahon. 1782 Aug. 21. *1 membrane*.

### **I.i.8** Lisnamaine (county Cavan)

MS 41,123 /1

Copy patent grant of lands from Charles II to Arthur Culme of Clough Oughter, Derenish Beg and other lands in county Cavan, 1673 May 20; also receipt for payment of a half a years crown rent Clough Oughter and other lands in county Cavan paid by Culme 1717 Apr. 4. 10 sheets (copy patent) & 1 membrane (receipt). Conservation note: Latin; document is difficult to handle; cover is torn.

Copy of patent of the Lisnamaine estate from Charles II to Arthur Culme; it likewise contains the grant to Benjamin Culme of the Doubally (sic) estate. *12 sheets*.

Conservation note: Latin; document is difficult to open and handle; some small tears on cover.

MS 41,123 /2

Articles of agreement made between Arthur Culme and Patrick Sheridan regarding the leasing of Corracanvy and other lands in the barony of Upper Loughtee; with rent roll of some of Culme family lands in county Cavan; includes tenant names. 1688 Nov. 28. *I sheet*.

Conservation note: Document is in quite poor condition with frayed edges and is torn in several places.

MS 41,123 /3

Lease from Arthur Culme to Hugh Parker of the island of Inishmuck, barony of Upper Loughtee for 999 years. 1690 Dec.30. *I membrane*; also another copy of same deed; *I membrane*.

Copy of marriage settlement of Arthur Culme and Elizabeth Smith made between (1) Arthur Culme (2) John Allen and John Smith and (3) John Linegar and Matthew Smith, secured by lands in counties Cavan, Monaghan and Meath. 1691 Dec. 29. *I sheet*.

Conservation note: Some small holes are noted along the original folds of this document.

MS 41,123 /4

Lease from Arthur Culme to Thomas Taylor of Killynaher in the barony of Lower Loughtee. 1693 Sept. 27. *1 sheet*. Conservation note: document is torn along several of its original folds.

MS 41,123 /5

Lease from Thomas Kinslagh and Elizabeth his wife to Hugh Ross of Lissamogan (sic) and other lands in the barony of Lower Loughtee. 1704 Sept. 18. *I membrane*; also another copy of same deed; *I membrane*.

Lease for two years from Cromwell Kinslagh to Joseph Ingham of the lands of Drumacon, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1713 April 4. *I membrane*.

MS 41,123 /6

Mortgage between Cromwell Kinslagh and Joseph Ingham secured by Drumacon, barony of Upper Loughtee in consideration of the sum of £370. 1713 May 1. *I membrane*.

Lease from Joseph Ingham to Cromwell Kinslagh of Drumacon, in the barony of Upper Loughtee. 1713 May 2. *1 sheet*.

MS 41,123 /7

Articles of agreement between Rev Robert Maxwell and Jane Culme regarding the sale of lands in the baronies of Upper and Lower Loughtee and in county Meath. 1714 Sept. 16. *1 sheet*.

MS 41,123 /8

Articles of agreement between Rev Robert Maxwell and Jane Culme regarding the sale of lands in the baronies of Upper and Lower Loughtee and in county Meath. 1714 Sept. 17; also rent roll including tenant names, length of tenure and observations on leases relating to these lands. *I membrane* with *I sheet* (rent roll) attached.

Articles of agreement between Cromwell Kinslagh and John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron regarding the sale of Drumacon in the barony of Upper Loughtee. 1715 Jan. 18. *I membrane*; also another copy of same deed, *I membrane*.

MS 41,123 /9

Lease for one year from Jane Culme to Rev Robert Maxwell of lands in the baronies of Upper and Lower Loughtee and in county Meath. 1715 Apr. 30. *I membrane*.

Conveyance from Jane Culme to Rev Robert Maxwell of lands in the baronies of Upper and Lower Loughtee and in county Meath; with attached memorandum of leases executed on these lands. 1715 May 1. 2 membranes.

MS 41,123 /10

Lease for one year from Rev Robert Maxwell to John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, of Drumasladdy and other lands in the baronies of Upper and Lower Loughtee. 1715 Sept. 26. *1 membrane*.

Release from Rev Robert Maxwell to John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, of Drumasladdy and other lands in the baronies of Upper and Lower Loughtee. 1715 Sept. 27. *1 membrane*; also another copy of the same deed.

MS 41,123 /11

Lease for one year from Cromwell Kinslagh to John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, of Drumacon in the barony of Upper Loughtee. 1716 Feb. 14. *I membrane*.

Release from Cromwell Kinslagh to John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, of Drumacon in the barony of Upper Loughtee. 1716 Feb. 15. *I membrane*.

MS 41,123 /12

Agreement between Jane Culme and Rev Robert Maxwell, whereby Culme promised to pay losses and damages to Maxwell sustained by him as he was kept from occupying some of the lands he had purchased by tenants who pretended to hold leases for 99 years granted by Arthur Culme. 1722 April 26. *1 sheet*.

MS 41,123 /13

Release from Daniel Sheridan to John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, of Corracanvy and other lands in the barony of Upper Loughtee. 1724 July 24. *I membrane*.

Lease from John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron to Daniel Sheridan of Derenish Mor and other lands in the barony of Upper Loughtee. 1724 July 25. *1 sheet*.

MS 41,123 /14

Assignment from Thomas Parker to William McCausland of the lands of Inishmuck, in the barony of Upper Loughtee. 1729 July 21. *1 membrane*.

Assignment from William McCausland to John Sheridan of the lands of Inishmuck, in the barony of Upper Loughtee. 1736 Mar. 17. *I membrane*.

MS 41,123 /15

Partition of lands made between (1) Edmond Morton Pleydell, Edmond Pleydell and Jonathan Pleydell, (2) Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron and Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron and (3) John Wallis, relating to the lands of Tullyanog and Killicar in the barony of Lower Loughtee. 1750 July 16. *I membrane*.

MS 41,123 /16

Release from James Farrell to Hugh Reilly of Pollabane, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1791 June 11. 2 *membranes*.

Conveyance between (1) William Henry, Earl of Clermont, Robert, Earl of Roden, Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron, James Farrell and (2) Hugh Reilly of Pollabane, barony of Upper Loughtee, in consideration of the sum of £2,408. 1791 June 11. *3 membranes*.

MS 41,123 /17

Covenant between Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron and Hugh Reilly relating to sale of Pollabane, barony of Upper Loughtee. 1791 June 11. *3 membranes*.

### MS 41,123 /18

Application to purchase quit rent by John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to the Right Honourable the Lords Commissioners of His Majesty's Treasury of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland of the Lisnamaine estate in county Cavan. 1824 Mar. 10. *1 membrane*; also two receipts for payment of quit rent 1823 June 12 and 1824 Apr. 12, 2 *membranes*.

Copy of negative search in Registers Office, Dublin for deeds relating to the Culme, Maxwell and Stone families (1708-1822) and of or concerning the lands of Feugh, Derryhoo, Drumasladdy and Killicar, in the barony of Lower Loughtee. 1824 July 21. *1 sheet*.

## **I.i.9** Massareene (county Cavan)

### MS 41,124 /1

Lease for one year from John O'Neill and the other trustees nominated and appointed in and by an act of parliament entitled 'An act for confirming a settlement made on the marriage of the now Lord Viscount Massareene etc' and Rev Robert Maxwell of Carrickeeshill and other lands in the barony of Castlerahan, Aghakilmore and other lands in the baronies of Tullyhaw and Mullaghmore and other lands in the baronies of Tullyhaw and Tullyhunco. 1716 Nov. 7. *1 membrane*.

### MS 41,124 /2

Lease for one year from Rev Robert Maxwell and John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron to Rev Luke Sterling of the lands of Lackan (sic), Killyvally and Corughan (sic) in the barony of Castlerahan. 1717 Apr. 24. *I membrane*.

Release from Rev Robert Maxwell and John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron to Rev Luke Sterling of the lands of Lackan (sic), Killyvally and Corughan (sic) in the barony of Castlerahan in consideration of the sum of £140. 1717 Apr. 25. *I membrane*.

Conservation note: deed is stained and torn along several of its folds.

### MS 41,124 /3

Conveyance from Rev Robert Maxwell and John 1<sup>st</sup> Baron to Henry Grattan of the retrenched lands of and in Garryross in the barony of Castlerahan and those of Lackan (sic) known by the name Calves Close in the barony of Clanmahon, in consideration of the sum of £30. 1717 May 22. *1 membrane*.

Conveyance from Rev Robert Maxwell and John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron to James Tuite of the retrenched lands of Enagh, Corrymaddyduff and Drumsheel (sic) in the barony of Castlerahan, in consideration of the sum of £145. 1717 May 24. *1 membrane*. Also, letter from A Trench to T R Blackley regarding the lending of this document between the two parties. 1905 Apr. 3. *1 sheet*.

### MS 41,124 /4

Copy declaration of trust between Boleyn Whitney and John, 1st

Baron regarding Whitney's purchase of Barconny Massereene in the barony of Castlerahan. 1736 Mar. 16. *I sheet*. Also copy deed of conveyance of the lands of Barconny Massereene from John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron to Whitney in consideration of the sum of £180. 1736 Mar. 16. *I sheet*. Memorandum detailing how the purchase money was to be paid by Mr. Whitney. 1736 Mar. 16. *I sheet*. Case for legal opinion concerning sale of Barconny Massereene Massereene to Mr. Whitney. 1785 Apr. 19. *I sheet*. Note regarding several leases on the Massareene estate. *Circa* 1830. *I sheet*.

D. 20,444

Declaration of trust between Boleyn Whitney and John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron regarding the lands of Barconny Massereene, barony of Castlerahan and the customs and tolls of the market of Cavan town. 1736 Mar. 16. *I sheet*.

MS 41,124 /5

Conveyance from Rev Luke Sterling Snr., to Luke Sterling Jnr. of Lackan (sic), Killyvally, Corughan (sic) and Farragh in the barony of Castlerahan. 1741 Aug. 12. *I membrane*.

Lease for one year from Luke Sterling to John Sterling of Lackan (sic), Killyvally, Corughan (sic) and Farragh in the barony of Castlerahan. 1743 Dec. 20. *1 membrane*.

Mortgage from Luke Sterling to John Sterling in trust for John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron in consideration of the sum of £130 secured by Lackan (sic), Killyvally, Corughan (sic) and Farragh in the barony of Castlerahan. 1743 Dec. 21. *I membrane*.

Lease for 31 years from Luke Sterling to William Forster of Lackan (sic), Killyvally and Corughan (sic) in the barony of Castlerahan. 1753 July 2. *1 membrane*.

MS 41,124 /6

Copy of will of John Reilly. 1746 Sept. 9. Draft bill between Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron against Owen Reilly regarding lands of Drumcassidy, barony of Castlerahan. *circa* 1750. Also case of Owen Reilly to make a title of said lands to a purchaser. 1754 Mar. 12; with Owen Reilly's agreement for sale of said lands to John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron. 1754 Apr. 2. *4 items*.

Conservation note: several of these documents are in quite poor condition.

Conveyance from Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron to Thomas Forster of Aghaweely, barony of Clanmahon. 1769 June 23. *1 membrane*.

MS 41,124 /7

Lease for one year between (1) Luke Sterling (2) Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron and (3) Henry Meredyth of Lackan (sic), Killyvally and Corughan (sic) in the barony of Castlerahan. 1772 Jan. 20. *I membrane*.

Conveyance between (1) Luke Sterling (2) Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron and (3) Henry Meredyth of Lackan (sic), Killyvally and Corughan (sic) in the barony of Castlerahan in consideration of the sum of £768.

1772 Jan. 21. 1 membrane.

MS 41,124 /8

Lease for one year from Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron to Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath, of 'eight acres' of Kilgolagh, in the barony of Clanmahon. 1774 July 7. *1 membrane*.

Conveyance from Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron to Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath, of 'eight acres' of Kilgolagh, in the barony of Clanmahon. 1774 July 8. *1 membrane*.

Copy of patent granted by King Charles II to John, Lord Massareene of certain lands in county Cavan. 1818 May 12. *I sheet*.

# **I.ii** Marriage settlements

MS 41,125 /1

Of James Barry and Anne Meredyth. Between (1) James Barry (2) Anne Meredyth (3) Philip Savage, Charles Meredyth, Henry Meredyth, Arthur Meredyth and Richard Nevill (4) Thomas Meredyth and Paul Barry, securing a marriage portion of £2,000 for Anne Meredyth on lands in the barony of Carbury, county Kildare. 1698 Oct. 7. 3 membranes.

MS 41,125 /2-4 /2

Lease for one year of the lands in counties Cavan, Meath and Armagh securing the marriage settlement of John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron and Judith Barry, made between (1) Rev Robert Maxwell and John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron and (2) James Barry, Thomas Meredyth, Samuel Waring and William Richardson. 1719 May 26. 2 *membranes*.

/3-4

Of John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron and Judith Barry. Between (1) Rev Robert Maxwell and John 1<sup>st</sup> Baron (2) James Barry, Thomas Meredyth, Samuel Waring and William Richardson (3) Marmaduke Coghill and Richard Nevill (4) Judith Barry (5) Robert Maxwell brother of John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron and Robert Maxwell of Falkland, county Monaghan, securing a marriage portion of £6,000 for Judith Barry on lands in counties Cavan, Meath and Armagh. 1719 May 27. 6½ membranes. Also duplicate copy of same.

MS 41,125 /5

Of Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath and Margaret Foster. Between (1) Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath, Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron and Henry Meredyth (2) William Foster and Owen Wynne (3) Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron and Robert Sibthorp (4) Anthony Foster and Margaret Foster, securing a marriage portion of £5,995 for Margaret Foster on lands in the baronies of Clanmahon and Castlerahan, county Cavan. 1759 Nov. 17. 7 ½ membranes.

## MS 41,125 /6-8

Of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Juliana Lucy Annesley made between (1) Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath and John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron (2) Arthur, Viscount Valentia and his daughter Juliana Lucy Annesley (3) Thomas Fitzmaurice (4) Henry Betagh (5) Sir Henry Cavendish and Sir Frederick Flood (6) William, Lord Bishop of Cork and Rev Henry Wynne (7) John Foster and Owen Wynne, securing a marriage portion of £10,000 for Juliana Lucy Annesley, secured by lands in county Cavan. 1789 July 4. *19 membranes*.

#### /7

/6

Settlement between (1) Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath and John 5<sup>th</sup> Baron (2) John Foster and Owen Wynne of lands in county Cavan to be charged as part of the marriage settlement of John 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Juliana Lucy Annesley. 1789 July 4. *7 membranes*.

#### /8

Mortgage between (1) Arthur, Viscount Valentia and his daughter Juliana Lucy Annesley (2) Thomas Fitzmaurice (3) John Foster and Owen Wynne (4) John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath, securing £5,000 as a marriage portion for Juliana Lucy Annesley, on lands in Buckinghamshire, Essex, Warwickshire, Cambridgeshire, England and Carmarthenshire, Wales. 1789 July 4. *11 membranes*.

## MS 41,125 /9

Copy sketch of proposed settlement on the intermarriage of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and the Hon. Miss Stapleton and Mr. Sidebottom's opinion thereon. 1828 July 3. *12 sheets*.

# **I.iii** Mortgages

Assignments of mortgages are also included within this section.

### MS 41,126 /1

Between Thomas Waldron and Henry Hastings in consideration of £700 secured by the 'small proportion of Dromhill' and other lands in the barony of Loughtee. 1656 Jan. 29. *1 membrane*. Conservation note: manuscript is in very poor condition with some sections missing.

#### MS 41,126 /2-3 /2

Lease for one year from John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron to Rev Rowland Singleton of the lands comprising the Farnham and Massareene estates in county Cavan and the Lisnamaine estate in counties Cavan and Meath. 1719 Nov. 29. 1½ membranes.

#### /3

Between John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron and Rev Rowland Singleton in consideration of £5,000 secured by the lands comprising the Farnham and Massareene estates in county Cavan and the

Lisnamaine estate in counties Cavan and Meath. 1719 Nov. 30. 2 *membranes*. Also duplicate copy of same.

MS 41,126 /4

Between Rev Robert Maxwell and Francis Edwards in consideration of the sum of £2,000. 1720 Dec. 19. *I membrane*. Also duplicate copy of same.

MS 41,126 /5

Counterpart between James Barry and Mary Mercer in consideration of the sum of £2,161 secured by property in Finglas, county Dublin. 1722 Nov. 12. 2 ½ membranes.

MS 41,126 /6

Lease for one year from Mary Mercer to Hugh Henry of lands in county Carlow and in the barony of Scarawalsh, county Wexford. 1724 Apr. 30. *I membrane*.

Assignment between (1) Mary Mercer (2) James Barry and (3) Hugh Henry, in consideration of the sum of £2,161 secured by lands in county Carlow and in the barony of Scarawalsh, county Wexford. 1724 May 1. 3 membranes.

Conservation note: manuscript is in quite poor condition and is torn along part of the original fold.

MS 41,126 /7

Assignment between (1) Rev Rowland Singleton (2) John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron and (3) Charles Jervais in consideration of the sum of £5,000 secured by the lands comprising the Farnham and Massareene estates in county Cavan, the Lisnamaine estate in counties Cavan and Meath and lands in county Armagh including the Abbey of St Peter and Paul held under lease from the Archbishop of Armagh. 1735 June 10. 6½ membranes.

MS 41,126 /8

Lease for 1,000 years from (1) John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron and Henry Meredyth to (2) William Sharpe, in making a financial settlement to Sharpe, as ordered by the Court of Common Pleas of £5,111, secured by the lands of Finaway and other lands in the barony of Clanmahon and Aghnacreevy and other lands in the barony of Castlerahan. 1753 Feb. 6. *3 membranes*. Also duplicate copy of same.

MS 41,126 /9

Assignment between (1) William Sharpe (2) Charles Walker (3) John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron in consideration of the sum of £5,175, secured by the lands of Finaway and other lands in the barony of Clanmahon and Aghnacreevy and other lands in the barony of Castlerahan. 1756 Mar. 26. *4 membranes*. Also, attached to assignment, power of attorney from Sharpe to Mark Whyte. 1755 Aug. 4. *1 sheet*. Also duplicate copies of both manuscripts.

MS 41,126 /10

Reconveyance between (1) Charles Walker (2) William Sharpe and Anne Abbott (3) Alexander McCauley and Henry Meredyth, executors of the will of John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron of Finaway and other lands in the barony of Clanmahon and Aghnacreevy and other lands in the barony of Castlerahan, in consideration of the sum of £1,011. 1760 Sept. 6. *4 membranes*.

Conservation note: manuscript is in quite poor condition some sections are illegible.

## MS 41,126 /11-12 /11

Lease for one year from Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron to Andrew Stone of Tonaloy and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco and Drumasladdy and other lands in the baronies of Upper and Lower Loughtee. 1773 Feb. 19. *I membrane*.

#### /12

Between Robert 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron and Andrew Stone in consideration of the sum of £20,000 secured by Tonaloy and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco and Drumasladdy and other lands in the baronies of Upper and Lower Loughtee. 1773 Feb. 20. 2 *membranes*. Also duplicate copy of same.

MS 41,126 /13

Transfer between (1) Richard Stone (2) James Rivers and Sarah Mauvillain (3) William Henry, Earl of Clermont and Robert, Earl of Roden (4) Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron (5) James Farrell, in consideration of the sum of £20,000 paid by Farrell to Stone, secured by Tonaloy and other lands in the barony of Tullyhunco and Drumasladdy and other lands in the baronies of Upper and Lower Loughtee. 1790 June 1. 7 *membranes*.

MS 41,126 /14

Between Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath (2) William, Lord Bishop of Kilmore and Rev. Henry Wynne and (3) Rev. William Maxwell, in consideration of the sum of £10,000 secured by lands in the baronies of Clanmahon and Castlerahan. 1792 June 15. *3 membranes*. Also duplicate copy of same.

MS 41,126 /15

Assignment between (1) Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath (2) John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron (3) Hon. Arthur Viscount Valentia (4) Robert Wynne and (5) Owen Wynne, in consideration of the sum of £5,000 secured by lands in the baronies of Clanmahon and Castlerahan. 1793 Aug. 1. 6 *membranes*.

MS 41,126 /16

Between (1) William, Lord Bishop of Clogher and Rev. Henry Wynne (2) Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath and (3) Rev. William Maxwell for securing £10,000 on lands in the baronies of Clanmahon and Castlerahan. 1797 July 10. *4 membranes*.

MS 41,126 /17

Assignment between (1) Henry Ellis (executor of Rev. William Maxwell) (2) John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron (3) Rev. James Dunn and Anne, his wife and (4) William Morgan, in consideration of the sum of £10,000 secured by lands in the baronies of Clanmahon and Castlerahan. 1824 Oct. 14. *3 membranes*. Also, 'conveyance and assignment of just estate and release from the trusts from William Morgan Esq. surviving trustee in the settlement of Rev. James Dunn and wife to Mrs Anne Dunn.' 1849 Apr. 14. *3 membranes*. Conservation note: the outer vellum is torn along part of the original fold.

MS 41,126 /18

Assignment between (1) Owen Wynne, Rev. William Henry Wynne, Edmond Wynne and Mary Anne his wife (2) Somerset Richard, 8th Baron and (3) Lady Mary Crichton, in consideration of the sum of £2,500, secured by lands in the baronies of Clanmahon and Castlerahan. 1843 Nov. 27. 2 membranes.

Assignment between (1) Bedel Stanford (2) Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron and (3) Hon. Samuel Crichton and Lady Charlotte Crichton, in consideration of the sum of £4,600 secured by lands in the baronies of Clanmahon and Castlerahan. 1843 Dec. 29. *3 membranes*.

MS 41,126 /19

Assignment between (1) Theodosia, Baroness Howden (2) Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron and (3) Henrietta Fox, in consideration of the sum of £2,796 secured by lands in the counties of Wexford and Kildare. 1844 May 20. *I membrane*.

# **I.iv** Assignments of judgements

MS 41,127 /1 Between (1) Charles Echlin (2) John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron (3) Marmaduke Coghill and (4) Rowland Singleton and Nathaniel Huson. 1720 Oct. 31. *1 membrane*. Also duplicate copy of same.

MS 41,127 /2 Between (1) Rev Claudius Gilbert (2) John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron (3) Joseph Marriott and (4) Rev Rowland Singleton. 1722 July 12. *I membrane*.

MS 41,127/3

Between (1) Theophilus Clements, executor of the will of Robert Clements, Ann Ashe, widow and relict of St George, late Lord Bishop of Derry and Sir Ralph Gore executor of the will of St. George, late Lord Bishop of Derry (2) John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron (3) Henry Singleton and (4) Rowland Singleton. 1723 Feb. 18. *1 membrane*. Also duplicate copy of same.

MS 41,127 /4 Between (1) Hector Graham and (2) John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1799 Apr. 12; and between Mary Cradock and Benjamin Blake Woodward, 1802 Feb. 11. *I membrane and 1 sheet*.

MS 41,127 /5

A series of assignments relating to a judgement against John, 5<sup>th</sup>
Baron, namely between (1) Thomas Fitzpatrick and (2) James
Gerahty, 1817, July 3; between (1) James Gerahty and (2) Hon
Robert Thomas Maxwell, 1840 May 26, with duplicate copy of
same; also copy of bond between James Gerahty and John, 5<sup>th</sup>
Baron, 1823 Sept. 16; with duplicate copy of same; certificate of
search in Prothonotary's Office, 1823 Sept. 20; costs and
certificates from King's Bench obtained by James Gerahty, 1833
Apr. 16, 3 copies and costs of assignment of judgement, undated, 3

copies. 13 sheets.

### MS 41,127 /6

A series of assignments relating to two judgements against John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Rev Alexander McClintock, namely: between (1) Rev John Browne and (2) George Browne and Thomas Swan, 1818 Sept. 11; between (1) George Browne and Thomas Swan (2) James & Catherine Browne and (3) John Browne, 1825 Nov. 15; between (1) John Browne (2) John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and (3) Margaret Swan, 1826 July 24 and between (1) Margaret Swan and (2) John Whelan and Thomas Whelan, 1832 Apr.9. *4 sheets*.

#### MS 41,128 /1-7

Assignment of judgements and associated papers:

#### 1/

Between (1) John Moutray Jones and (2) William Erskine, 1820 June 12; between (1) Nicholas Mahon and (2) John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, 1820 Nov. 13, and between (1) Henry Ellis (2) John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron (3) James & Ann Dunn and (4) Morgan Crofton and William Crofton, 1824 Oct. 15. *3 sheets*.

#### 2/

Between (1) Ann Murphy and (2) Hon. George Arthur Annesley, commonly called Lord Viscount Valentia, 1825 May 7; between (1) Thomas Fitzgerald and (2) Hon. George Arthur Annesley, commonly called Lord Viscount Valentia, 1828 Oct. 29 and between (1) James Smyth and (2) Hon. George Arthur Annesley, commonly called Lord Viscount Valentia, 1829 June 17. 3 sheets.

## 3/

Between (1) Jane Cooke and (2) Charles Fox, 1839 Aug. 8 and between (1) Robert Ward and (2) Charles Fox, 1839 Nov. 22, with a certificate of satisfaction from the Prothonotary's Office of Charles Ward against George Ward, 1839 Nov. 22. *3 sheets*.

## 4/

Between (1) Charles Fox and Rev John Browne and (2) James Saunderson, 1842 May 4; also copy of bond between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Rev John Browne, 1839 July 4, with memorandum of satisfaction and a search from the court of Common Pleas, 1865. *4 sheets*.

#### 5/

Between (1) Rev Nicholas Goslin and (2) Lady Helen Crichton, 1843 Dec. 20; also copy of bond between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Nicholas Goslin; with searches in Prothonotray Office in 1816 and 1833; search in Queen's Bench, 1844 and cost of redocketing judgement in Queen's Bench, 1844; between (1) Esther Elizabeth Gore and (2) Lady Mary Crichton, 1843 Dec. 26; with search in Queen's Bench, 1844 and cost of redocketing judgement in Queen's Bench, 1844; between (1) Esther Elizabeth Gore and (2) Lady Mary

Crichton, 1843 Dec. 26; with search in Common Pleas, 1844 and cost of redocketing judgement in Common Pleas, 1844; between (1) Bedel Stanford and (2) Hon Samuel Crichton and Lady Charlotte Crichton, 1843 Dec. 29; with search in Queen's Bench, 1844 and cost of redocketing judgement in Queen's Bench, 1844; also letter from Stanford to Ralph Scott, regarding bond between Stanford and Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron, 1844, Jan. 19. *16 sheets*.

## 6/

Between (1) John Whelan and Thomas Whelan (2) Henrietta Fox and (3) Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron, 1844 Feb.29; between (1) Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron (2) John Litton and (3) Henrietta Fox, 1844 May 4; also bond between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and John Litton, 1826 June 20, also search in Prothonotary's Office, 1827 Mar. 6; between (1) Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron (2) John Litton and (3) Henrietta Fox, 1844 May 8; also bond between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and John Litton, 1825 Aug. 17, also search in Prothonotary's Office, 1827 Mar. 6 and between (1) William Gosselin and (2) Mrs Anne Carden. 1844 July 12. 8 *sheets*.

#### 7/

Between (1) Thaddeus Connellan and (2) Stephen Grehan, 1846 June 27; also bond between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Thaddeus Connellan, 1833 May 10; also letter from Connellan to a Mr Reeves detailing his execution of the assignment to Grehan, 1846 June 27; between (1) Hon. William George Maxwell and (2) John William Cannon, 1851 Mar. 14; between (1) Hon. William George Maxwell and (2) John William Cannon, 1851 Mar. 14; also bond of collateral securing these assignments between Maxwell and Cannon, 1851 Mar. 14; with search in Queen's Bench, 1851 Apr. 7 items.

# I.v Annuities and charges

MS 41,129 /1

Assignment from Sir Maurice Eustace to John Maxwell. £20 per annum issuing out of the lands of Irishtown, barony of Castleknock, county Dublin. 1686 June 30. *1 membrane*.

MS 41,129 /2

"Covenant for payment of annuity and assignment of money for securing same", between (1) Rev. Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron (2) Theophilus Clive (3) Nicholas Tickling, William Nettleton, Ann Watts and John Cockrane and (4) John Moore. 1807 Jan. 13. Also account of payment made by Rev. Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron to the above parties. 1828 Jan. 13. 5 membranes & 1 sheet.

MS 41,129 /3-4

Grant of annuity between (1) John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron (2) Rev William Nettleship (3) Moses Hopper and (4) Henry Arthur Broughton, 'of £179 16s 3d for the life of the said John Barry with a demose to a

trustee for 100 years for securing the same charged on estates in Ireland.' 1818 May 16. 6 membranes. Also copy of same. 1 item.

MS 41,129 /5

Release of annuity from Rev William Nettleship and Moses Hopper to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1829 May 15. *1 membrane*.

MS 41,129 /6

Copy deed of annuity between (1) John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron (2) Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Anna Frances his wife (3) Robert, Earl of Roden, Hon. George Arthur Annesley, Lord Viscount Valentia (4) Hon. Edward Southwell, Lord Viscount Bangor and Hon. Rev. Myles Stapleton. 1829 Apr. 21. Also copy of same. *2 items*.

MS 41,129 /7

Assignment of shares in annuity between (1) William Birchall and James Taverner Reed, executors of John Moore (2) William Nettleton, George Hale (executor of Ann Watts) and John Cockrane (executor of John Cockrane Snr.) (3) Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron (4) John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and (5) Hon. George Arthur Annesley, Lord Viscount Valentia. 1829 June 1. 4 membranes.

MS 41,129 /8-9

Copy charge of the following sums of money (£920 from Mrs Sarah Dalley; £900 from Mrs Mary Gerrard and £800 from Mr Montague Newland), 'upon certain hereditaments in the county of Cavan and demise of the same hereditaments for raising the same pursuant to the powers limited to the Right Hon. John, Baron Farnham[John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron] and Henry Maxwell, Esq.[Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron] by the settlement of the 21 April 1829.' 1829 June 2. Also bonds to above parties, for same amounts of equal date and draft copies of charges. Abstract of title of Mr Montague Newland to premises in Grange Walk, Bermondsey, Surrey, 1829 June; letter from Newland to Col Ollney, regarding settlement, 1827 May 22 and lease from Elizabeth Hodgson to William Darnwell, 1813 Mar. 5; will of William Darnwell, 1814; assignment of premises on Grange Walk, Bermondsey, Surrey from William Townsend Trimbrell and Sarah his wife to Montague Newland. 1821 June 25. 2 membranes and 11 items in two folders.

Conservation note: some of the manuscripts in these folders are in quite poor condition.

MS 41,129 /10

Drafts of charges 'by way of mortgage on the Farnham estates for securing principal' between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and William Nettleton, 1829 July 28; and between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and George Hale, undated. Also copies of bonds between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Nettleton and Hale. 1829 Mar. 23. *4 items*.

MS 41,129 /11

Draft assignment between (1) Hugh Rump (2) Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and (3) John Creighton. 1841 May 12. Another draft assignment between (1) George Hale (John Cockrane- in red writing on manuscript) (2) Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and (3) John Creighton. 1841 May. 13. Also copies of bond between (1) John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Rev. Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron and (2) John Cockrane. 1829 Mar.23. *5 items*.

**MS 41,129 /12** Appointment

Appointment of charge between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Arthur Hume over the Farnham estates in county Cavan, valued at some £3,229. 1837 Jan.17. 2 membranes.

1037 3411.17.

MS 41,129 /13

Assignment of charge between (1) Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron (2)
Benjamin Blake Woodward (3) Arthur Hume (4) Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron
(5) James Saunderson, John Creighton and Robert Fowler (6) Rev.
Francis Saunderson (7) Alexander Saunderson and (8)John
Creighton, Robert Fowler and Alexander Saunderson, of £15,000 on
the Farnham estates in county Cavan. 1838 Dec. 15. 6 membranes.

MS 41,129 /14

Release and declaration as to shares between (1) Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron (2) Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron (3) Alexander Saunderson and his wife Hon. Sarah Julianna Saunderson (nee Maxwell) (4) Andrew Nugent and the Hon. Harriet Margaret, Viscountess Bangor (nee Maxwell) (5) James Pierce, 9<sup>th</sup> Baron (6) Hon. Richard Thomas Maxwell (administrator of the will of Hon. Edward William Maxwell) (7) Hon. Richard Thomas Maxwell (8) Hon. William George Maxwell (administrator of the will of Hon. Robert Thomas Maxwell) (9) Hon. William George Maxwell and (10) William Wynne. 1851 Mar. 14. *3 membranes*.

MS 41,129 /15

Assignment of shares of the Hon. Robert Thomas Maxwell as security for loan between (1) Hon. George William Maxwell (2) Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron (executor of the will of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron) and John William Cannon. 1851 Mar. 14. *4 membranes*.

MS 41,129 /16

Assignment of debt of £5,000 and interest due from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and of bond and judgement for securing the same from (1) William Clarke Walker, Sampson Jervois and Catherine Jervois (the executors of the late Francis Walker Esq.) to (2) Thomas Francis William Walker (only child and heir at law of Francis Walker). 1851 Dec. 8. *I membrane*.

# I.vi Leases

# I.vi.1 Barry (counties Carlow & Wexford)

MS 41,130 /1 Carrickduff, Carlow: covenant to execute lease to Henry, Bishop of Meath. 3 lives. 1795 July 18. *1 sheet*.

MS 41,130 /2 Bunclody, Wexford: to Eleanor Forster, Samuel Foley & Elizabeth Foley. 3 lives. 1791 Apr. 19. 2 ½ membranes.

MS 41,130 /3 Carrhill, Wexford: renewal of lease from John Doyle to Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron. 3 lives. 1840 Dec. 26. *1 membrane*.

Carrhill, Wexford: to Joseph Deane Browne. 7 years. 1851 Feb. 24. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,130 /4

Newtownbarry, Wexford: to Thomas Foley and Margaret Foley. 3 lives. 1805 May 7. *1 sheet*.

Newtownbarry, Wexford: deed of surrender of lease from Thomas Devereux and John Devereux. 1806 Dec. 6. *1 sheet*. Also unexecuted deed of surrender from same party. *Circa* 1806. *1 membrane*.

Newtownbarry, Wexford: to Charles Ryan. 3 lives. 1807 May 10. 1 sheet.

Newtownbarry, Wexford: from Sarsfield Colclough to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 3 lives. 1825 Jan. 1. *1 sheet*.

Newtownbarry, Wexford: renewal of lease from John Godley and Rev Andrew McCreight to Barry Fox, Charles Fox, Richard Fox, Henrietta Fox and Alexander Saunderson. 1839 Mar. 5. *I membrane*.

# I.vi.2 Carmichael (county Cavan)

MS 41,131 /1

Aghnacor: to William Ellis. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. *1 membrane with map*.

Aghnacor: to Gustavous Noble. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 10. *I membrane with map*.

Aghnacor: to William Scott. 3 Lives. 1834 Mar. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,131 /2

Ardra: to Richard Gibson. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,131 /3

Bohora: to John Weir & Thomas Kinkead. 3 Lives. 1789 Jan. 16. *1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.* 

Bohora: to Richard Weir. 3 Lives. 1837 Mar. 14. *1 membrane with map*.

Bohora: to Moses Kinkade. 3 Lives. 1837 Mar. 14. *1 membrane with map*.

Bohora: to George Bigger. 3 Lives. 1847 Sept. 1. *1 membrane with map*. Also, deed of surrender from George Bigger Snr. & George Bigger Jnr. 1845 Nov. 12. *1 sheet*.

MS 41,131 /4 Clodrum: to John Goodfellow. 3 Lives. 1796 Aug. 4. 1 membrane.

Clodrum: to James Wallace. 3 Lives. 1866 Nov. 29. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,131 /5 Clonkeen: to Alexander Johnston. 3 Lives. 1832 Mar. 5. 1 membrane with map.

Clonkeen: to William Richardson. 3 Lives. 1832 Mar. 5. *1 membrane with map*.

Clonkeen: to Robert Johnston. 3 Lives. 1832 Mar. 5. *I membrane with map*.

Clonkeen: to Samuel Connor. 3 Lives. 1869 June 10. *I membrane with map*.

MS 41,131 /6 Clontygrigny: to James Thompson. 3 Lives. 1789 Jan. 16. *1 membrane*.

Clontygrigny: to James Sewell. 3 Lives. 1834 Mar. 10. *I membrane with map*.

Clontygrigny: to John Graham. 3 Lives. 1837 Mar. 14. *I membrane with map*.

Clontygrigny: to James Sewal. 3 Lives. 1837 Sept. 7. *I membrane with map*.

Clontygrigny: to William Gwynne. 3 Lives. 1837 Sept. 7. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,131 /7 Condry: to John Jackson. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

Condry: to Francis Elliott. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,131 /8 Cornacrum: to James Pratt. 3 lives. 1841 June 1, with duplicate copy of same. Also, related deed of surrender. 1860 July 16. 2 membranes both with maps & 1 sheet.

Cornacrum: to Andrew Rodgers. 3 lives. 1854 Mar. 29. *I membrane with map*.

Cornacrum: to Andrew Rodgers. 3 lives. 1862 Dec. 1. 1 membrane with map.

Cornacrum: to Robert Parke. 3 lives. 1862 Dec. 1. 1 membrane with map.

D. 20,475

Derrylane: to Hugh Mulvey. 3 lives. 1800 Oct. 26. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,131 /9

Derrylane: to Charles Magee. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 26. 1 membrane with map.

Derrylane: to Hugh Davis. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 26. Also, related deed of surrender. 1837 Oct. 23. 1 membrane with map & 1 sheet.

Derrylane: from Charles Magee to Henry Davis. 21 years. 1826 Oct. 26. Also, related deed of surrender. 1837 Aug.26. 2 *sheets*.

Derrylane: to Thomas Davis. 3 lives. 1837 Oct. 24. 1 membrane with map.

Derrylane: to Hugh Davis. 3 lives. 1837 Oct. 24. 1 membrane with map.

Derrylane: to Joseph Donaldson. 3 lives. 1865 Aug. 30. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,131 /10

Dring: to Thomas Rogers. 3 lives. 1841 June 1. *1 membrane with map*.

Dring: to William McMichael. 3 lives. 1841 June 1. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,131 /11

Drumbullion: to John Harkness. 3 lives. 1800 Oct. 10. *I membrane* with 1 sheet (map) attached.

Drumbullion: from John Hix Snr. to John Hix Jnr. 2 lives. 1838 Dec. 1. *1 sheet*. Inscribed on manuscript, 'Given up to me in consequence of alienation without my permission. Farnham.' 11 Feb. 1839."

Drumbullion: to William McCauley. 3 lives. 1866 Nov. 29. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,131 /12

Drumkilroosk: to William Reilly. 3 lives. 1866 Nov. 8. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,131 /13

Drumminnion: to George, John & James Bole. 3 lives. 1785 Oct. 24. *1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.* 

MS 41,131 /14

Dunaweel: to Gustavis Noble. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. Also, related deed of surrender. 1837 Oct. 23. *1 membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

Dunaweel: to Gustavis Noble. 3 lives. 1837 Sept. 7. 1 membrane with map.

Dunaweel: to William Clemenger. 3 lives. 1862 Mar. 2. *1 membrane with map*.

Dunaweel: to George Montgomery. 3 lives. 1864 Oct. 12. *1 membrane with map*.

Dunaweel: to Robert Smith. 3 lives. 1868 Feb. 3. 1 membrane with map.

Dunaweel: to Robert Davis. 3 lives. 1869 June 10. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,131 /15 Lackan: to John Magee. 3 lives. 1841 June 1. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,131 /16 Laheen: to Thomas Davis. 3 lives. 1855 Apr. 10. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

MS 41,131 /17 Portlongfield: to John Godley. 3 lives. . 1819 Apr. 1. *I membrane with map*.

Portlongfield: to John Bleakly. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 26. Also related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Portlongfield: to James Huggins. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 26. Also, related drainage certificate; 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Portlongfield: to George Bleakly. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

Portlongfield: to William Bleakly. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. Also, note outlining rent due on lease. 1879-1881. *I membrane with map & I sheet*.

MS 41,131 /18 Portlongfield: to William Cooke. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. 1 membrane with map.

Portlongfield: to William Bleakley. 3 lives. 1852 Aug. 30. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Portlongfield: to William Little. 3 lives. 1861 Apr. 23. *I membrane with map*.

Portlongfield: to Archibald Godley. 3 lives. 1864 Apr. 6. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,131/19 Sallaghan: to John Wallace. 3 lives. 1824 May 1. 1 membrane with map.

Sallaghan: to James Noble. 3 lives. 1824 May 1. *1 membrane with map*.

Sallaghan: to Thomas Ellis. 3 lives. 1824 May 1. *1 membrane with map*.

Sallaghan: to Widdis Elliott. 3 lives. 1824 May 1. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Sallaghan: to William Morrow. 3 lives. 1824 May 1. *I membrane with map*.

Sallaghan: to Thomas Woods. 3 lives. 1824 May 1. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

MS 41,131 /20 Sallaghan: to Andrew Huggins. 3 lives. 1825 Aug. 13. 1 membrane with map.

Sallaghan: to Robert Graham. 3 lives. 1825 Aug. 13. *I membrane with map*.

MS 41,131 /21 Tonaloy: to Richard Gilpin. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Tonaloy: to William Kellet. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

Tonaloy: to Robert Magee. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 10. 1 membrane with map.

## I.vi.2.A Drainage Certificates Carmichael estate (county Cavan)

MS 41,132 /1 Dunaweel: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Gustavis Noble. 1860 May 11. *1 membrane*.

MS 41,132 /2 Sallaghan: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and William Morrow. 1860 May 11. *1 membrane*.

## I.vi.3 Cavan town

The town leases have been catalogued in a chronological manner, where a particular tenement is named or the location of the property mentioned, this information is included at beginning of the catalogue entry.

MS 41,133 /1 Barrack Hill: Copy lease to Rev James Cottingham. 3 lives, renewable forever. 1758 June 17. 1 sheet.

Copy lease to Rev James Cottingham. 3 lives, renewable forever.

1763 Apr. 14. *I sheet*. Also, abstract of title of Edward Cottingham and Rev Henry Cottingham to premises in Cavan. *Circa* 1814. *I sheet*.

The Black Lyon: to Robert Arskine. 3 lives, renewable forever. 1790 Aug. 4. *1 membrane*.

MS 41,133 /2

To John Wright. 3 lives, renewable forever. 1811 Sept. 20. *1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.* 

The Boot Inn Tenement, Main Street: to William Hennery. Renewal of lease. 1812 Mar. 7. *1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached*. Conservation note: Lease is a little damaged along the original folds.

MS 41,133 /3

Burgessacre: James Fowles to John Trevors. 3 lives. 1822 Apr. 20. *1 sheet*.

Renewal of lease to Rev Henry Cottingham, of premises demised to Rev James Cottingham in 1763. 3 lives. 1835 Apr. 11. 2 *membranes*.

Conservation note: parts of manuscript are missing.

Renewal of lease to Edward Cottingham, of premises demised to Rev James Cottingham on 18 Jan. 1787. 3 lives. 1835 Apr. 11. 2 *membranes*.

Conservation note: parts of manuscript along folds are missing.

MS 41,133 /4

Keadew & Kinnypottle: to John Edward Vernon. 3 lives. 1853 Oct. 10. *I membrane with map*.

Main Street: to Robert Erskine. Fee farm grant. 1861 Oct. 29. *1 membrane with map*.

Main Street: to Eliza Donnelly. Fee farm grant. 1864 Aug. 30. *1 membrane with map*.

# I.vi.4 Dunsany-Fortland (county Cavan)

MS 41,134 /1

Abstracts of leases entitled 'Dunsany Estate', relating to Ballaghanna, Crover, Callanagh, Freeduff, Killyfassy, Kilgolagh, Lavagh, Tullyboy and Tullyreagh (sic) in the barony of Clanmahon. 1736-1790. *3 sheets*.

Fragment of abstract of leases relating to Aghacreevy, Aghafad, Drumeeny, Kiffogher (sic), Lavagh and Mullaghboy, barony of Clanmahon. 1752-1790. 2 sheets.

MS 41,134 /2

Aghakilmore: to Garret Plunkett and John Plunkett from Connor Caffrey. 1 life. 1806 May 1. *I sheet*.

Aghakilmore: to Terence Coyle from Connor Caffrey. 1 life. 1806 May 1. *1 sheet*.

Aghakilmore: to James Donohoe from Thomas Donohoe. 1 life. 1806 May 1. *1 sheet*.

MS 28,842 (20)

Ballaghanna: to William Lahy from Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron. 3 lives. 1871 Oct. 26. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,134 /3

Ballaghanna: to Patrick Cooke Jnr. from Patrick Cooke Snr. 1 life or 17 years. 1806 May 1. *1 sheet*.

Ballyheelan: to Andrew Bell from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 3 lives. 1798 Nov. 1. *I membrane*.

Carricknabrick: to Anthony Kilroy, Richard Kilroy and William McClean from Henry, Bishop of Meath. 3 lives. 1763 Mar. 31. *I sheet*.

Corrisory (sic): to Philip Gaffney from Thomas Chambers, Henry Chambers and Charles Chambers. 12 years. 1806 May 1. *I sheet*.

MS 41,134 /4

Crover: to George Trelford from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 3 lives. 1794 Aug. 5. *I sheet*. Also Ejectment for non-payment of rent, Hon Somerset Richard Maxwell, [8<sup>th</sup> Baron] against Henry Trelford. Hilary Session 1861. *I sheet*. Also, letter from Hon Somerset Richard Maxwell [8<sup>th</sup> Baron] to unknown person. 1861 Jan. 23. *I sheet*.

Crover: to John Charles Tatlow from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1798 Nov. 1. *1 item*.

MS 41,134 /5

Drumbee: to Thomas Fannin from John Montgomery. 21 years. 1822 Nov. 1. *1 sheet*.

Drumbee: to Terence Cumiskey from John Montgomery. 21 years. 1822 Nov. 22. *I sheet*.

Fortland: to Charles Carr Morton from Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron. 7 years. 1815 June 9. *I sheet with map*.

MS 41,134 /6

Kilgolagh: to Samuel Cheevers from Richard Begnall. 1 life. 1806 May 1. *1 sheet*.

Kilgolagh: to Cormick Darmody from Richard Begnall. 1 life. 1806 May 1. *1 sheet*.

Kilgolagh: to William Gosselin from John & Frances Henderson. 1 life. 1830 May 5. *I sheet with map*.

Killyfassy: to Thomas Lynch and Michael Fitzpatrick from William

Ramsey. 1819 Jan. 4. 1 sheet.

Killyfassy: surrender of lease from William Lahy Snr. to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1830 Aug. 9. *1 sheet*.

MS 28,834 (3)

Lavagh: to Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath from Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron. One year. 1774 Sept. 5. *I membrane*.

MS 41,134 /7

Lavagh: to John Sheridan from Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath. 3 lives. 1789 Jan. 10. *1 sheet*.

Conservation note: manuscript is in very poor condition with some parts torn.

Lavagh: to James Strong from Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath. 3 lives. 1790 Jan. 7. *1 sheet*.

Lavagh: surrender of lease from Henry White to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1808 Aug. 27. *1 sheet*.

Lisnabantry: to Jane Woods from Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron. 2 lives. 1840 July 11. *I membrane*.

MS 41,134 /8

Portan: to Samuel Kirk from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 3 lives. 1837 Mar. 14. *1 membrane with map*.

Tullyboy: to James McCabe from Alexander McCabe. 1 life. 1822 Nov. 1. *1 sheet*.

MS 41,134 /9

Tullyreagh (sic): to William Nixon from Henry, Bishop of Meath. 3 lives. 1787 Aug. 10. *I membrane*.

Conservation note: manuscript is in very poor condition with some parts torn.

Tullyrea (sic): to James Cook from William Nixon. 31 years or life of Cook. 1805 Apr. 3, with receipt for payment of rent from William Nixon to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, 1831. *I membrane & 1 sheet*.

Tullyreagh (sic): assignment of lease from William Nixon to John Nixon. 3 lives. 1830 Jan.12. *I membrane*.

Conservation note: manuscript is torn along several of the original folds.

Tullyreagh (sic): memorandum of agreement between John Nixon and John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, detailing the sale by Nixon of his interest in the lands to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, 1832 Apr. 3, also indenture of same transaction. Also list of papers relating to Nixon's holding in Tullyreagh given to Thomas Farrelly, 1836 May 24. *1 membrane & 2 sheets*.

# I.vi.5 Farnham (county Cavan)

Demesne lands leased in more than a single townland

MS 41,135 /1 Breandrum, Drummonum & Deredis: to Richard Nixon. 7 years. 1861 May 2. *1 membrane*.

Drumbar, Drumconnick, Edermin & Derrycramph: to Rev Andrew McCreight & Lieut. Col. Henry Theophilus Clements. 3 lives. 1866 May 2. 2 membranes with map.

Lands leased in more than a single townland

MS 41,135 /2 Drumbar & Drumconnick: to Richard Davis. 3 lives. 1852 Aug. 30. Also, related deed of surrender. 1861 Dec. 26. 1 membrane with map & 1 sheet.

MS 41,135 /3 Farragh & Farranydaly: to Noble Paget. 3 lives. 1852 Aug. 30. *1 membrane with map*.

Lands leased in single townlands

MS 41,135 /4 Carrickane: to Alexander Saunderson. 3 lives. 1857 June 15. 1 membrane with map.

Carrickane: to William Wood. 3 lives. 1860 Aug. 16. Also, related drainage certificate. 1879 Apr. 29. *I membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

MS 41,135 /5 Cauhoo: to John McDowell. 3 lives. 1854 Mar. 29. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,135 /6 Clonagonnell: to George Lindon. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. Also, related deed of surrender. 1837 Oct. 20. 1 membrane with map & 1 sheet.

Clonagonnell: to John McDowell Snr. 3 lives. 1830 Aug. 21. *1 membrane with map*.

Clonagonnell: to Samuel McDowell. 3 lives. 1830 Aug. 21. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Clonagonnell: to John McDowell Jnr. 3 lives. 1830 Aug. 21. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Clonagonnell: to William McDowell. 3 lives. 1830 Aug. 21. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

MS 41,135 /7 Clonagonnell: to Robert McMichael. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. 1

membrane with map.

Clonagonnell to Henry Brady. 6 months. 1833 July 25. 1 sheet.

Clonagonnell: to Thomas Bennett. 3 lives. 1838 Nov.19. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Clonagonnell: to William McDowell. 3 lives. 1841 June 1, with duplicate copy of same. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 3 membranes with maps in both leases.

Clonagonnell: to George Lyndon. 3 lives. 1860 Aug. 9. 1 membrane with map.

Clonagonnell: to George Lyndon. 3 lives. 1864 Dec. 14. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,135 /8

Coolboyogue: from John Reilly, Rose Reilly, Adam Carson, Margaret Reilly, Elizabeth Reilly & Catherine Reilly to Charles Fox. 3 lives. 1818 Oct. 21. *1 sheet*.

Conservation note: some tears along the original folds.

Coolboyogue: to Terence Reilly. 3 lives. 1837 Mar. 14. *I membrane with map*.

Coolboyogue: to John Reilly. 3 lives. 1852 Aug. 30. 1 membrane with map.

Coolboyogue: to Michael Kenny. 3 lives. 1854 Mar. 29. Also, related drainage certificate. 1879 Apr. 29. *1 membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

Coolboyogue: to Michael Kenny. 3 lives. 1854 Mar. 29. Also, related drainage certificate. 1879 Apr. 29. *1 membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

MS 41,135 /9

Coras Point: to John Lanagan. 3 lives. 1810 Mar. 1. 1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.

Coras Point: to James Kellet. 3 lives. 1832 Feb. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,135 /10

Corracreeny: to William Hamilton Snr. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. *1 membrane with map*.

Corracreeny: to John Hamilton. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Corracreeny: to Alexander Hamilton. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. 1

membrane with map.

MS 41,135 /11

Deredis: to Richard Yeats. 3 lives. 1805 Aug. 10. Also, related deed of surrender. 1837 Sept.1. 1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) in lease & 1 sheet.

Deredis: to Thomas Hartley. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. Also, related deed of assignment to Michael and Joseph Yeats. 1837 Apr. 4. 1 membrane with map & 1 sheet.

Deredis: to Thomas Humphreys. 3 lives. 1861 Jan. 17. *I membrane with map*.

Deredis: to Joseph Montgomery. 3 lives. 1861 Jan. 21. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,135 /12

Derenish Beg: to William Vance. 3 lives. 1866 Apr. 12. Also, related drainage certificate. 1879 Apr. 29. Letter from Irish Land Commission. 1889 July 26. *I membrane with map & 2 sheets*.

MS 41,135 /13

Derenish Mor: to Henry Tilson. 3 lives. 1854 Mar. 29. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,135 /14

Derrycramph: to James Heaslip. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 10. *I membrane with map*.

Derrycramph: to Richard Mooney. 3 lives. 1834 Apr. 10. *I membrane with map*.

Derrycramph: to George Davis. 3 lives. 1834 Apr. 10. 1 membrane with map.

Derrycramph: to William Johnston. 3 lives. 1837 Mar.14. *1 membrane with map*.

Derrycramph: to Richard Mooney. 3 lives. 1841 June 1, with duplicate copy of same. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 3 membranes with maps in both leases.

Derrycramph: to Henry Mooney. 3 lives. 1860 Oct. 19. *1 membrane with map*.

Derrycramph: to John McCabe. 3 lives. 1860 Oct. 26. 1 membrane with map.

Derrycramph: to James Hartley. 3 lives. 1869 June 30. 1 membrane with map.

D. 20,465

Derryheen: deed of surrender and conveyance from Andrew Reilly. 1805 June 2. *1 sheet*.

MS 41,135 /15

Derryheen: deed of surrender from George Montgomery and others. 1835 Apr. 10. *I membrane with map*.

Derryheen: to William Tilson. 3 lives. 1864 Oct. 31. *I membrane with map*.

Derryheen: to William McMichael. 3 lives. 1866 Nov. 8. *1 membrane with map*.

Derryheen: to Robert Montgomery. 3 lives. 1870 Jan. 14. *I membrane with map*.

Derryheen: to William Tilson. 3 lives. 1870 Jan. 14. Also, related drainage certificate. 1879 Apr. 29. *I membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

MS 41,135 /16

Derryna: to John Adamson Moffett. 3 lives. 1830 Aug. 21. Also, duplicate copy of same. 2 *membranes both with maps*.

Derryna: to George Tubman. 3 lives. 1861 Jan. 17. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,135 /17

Derrywinny: to Christopher William Moffatt. 3 lives. 1854 Oct. 2. *1 membrane with map*.

Derrywinny: to Frances Montgomery. 3 lives. 1858 Apr. 28. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

MS 41,135 /18

Drumbar: to Richard N Somerville. Yearly Tenancy. 1889 Oct.30. *1 sheet*.

MS 41,135 /19

Drumconnick: to George Faris. 3 lives. 1769 May 29. *1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached*.

Drumconnick: to Edward McCabe. 3 lives. 1835 May 9. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Drumconnick: to Thomas McDowall. 3 lives. 1835 May 9. *1 membrane with map*.

Drumconnick: to Joseph Trevor. 3 lives. 1837 Mar.14. *I membrane with map*.

Drumconnick: to John Nethercott. 3 lives. 1837 Mar.14. *I membrane with map*.

Drumconnick: to John Browne. 3 lives. 1841 June 1. *I membrane with map*.

Drumconnick: to Edward McCabe. 3 lives. 1841 June 1. *I membrane with map*.

Drumconnick: to Mary Jephson. 3 lives. 1863 Dec. 22. 1 membrane with map.

Drumconnick: to William Hewitt. 3 lives. 1868 Feb. 3. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,135 /20

Drumgola: to David Reilly. 3 lives. 1810 Mar. 1. 1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.

Drumgola: to Robert Scarlet. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

Drumgola: to James Kemp. 3 lives. 1832 Feb.10. 1 membrane with map.

Drumgola: to James Graham. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5; with duplicate copy of same. 2 *membranes both with maps*.

Drumgola: to Richard Humphreys. 3 lives. 1832 Mar.5. *1 membrane with map*.

Drumgola: to John Reilly. 3 lives. 1852 Aug. 30. 1 membrane with map.

Drumgola: to William Moore. 3 lives. 1852 Aug. 30. Also, deed of conveyance from James Graham to William Moore, 1847 Apr. 13; with related deed of surrender. 1852 May 23. *I membrane with map & 2 sheets*.

Drumgola: to John Humphries. 3 lives. 1862 Sept. 9. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,135 /21

Drumgor: to Noble Paget. 3 lives. 1852 Aug. 30. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 Oct. 17. 2 membranes with map in lease.

MS 41,135 /22

Drumhecknagh: to Edward Bennett & William Bennett. 1796 June 29. Also, duplicate copy of same. 2 membranes each with 1 sheet (map) attached.

Drumhecknagh: to Alexander Bradburn. 6 months. 1833 July 25. *1 sheet*.

Drumhecknagh: to John Bradburn. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 10. *I membrane with map*.

Drumhecknagh: to William Bennett. 2 lives. 1834 Mar. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

Drumhecknagh: to John Bennett. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 25. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 Oct. 17. 2 membranes with map in lease.

MS 41,135 /23

Drummullig: to John Wilson. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. 1 membrane with map.

Drummullig: to William Wilson. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. Also, related drainage certificate. 1879 Apr. 29. *I membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

Drummullig: to Joseph Johnston. 3 lives. 1856 Apr. 7. Also, related drainage certificates. 1860 May 11 & 1879 Apr. 29. 2 membranes with map in lease & 1 sheet.

Drummullig: to Thomas Teevan. 3 lives. 1878 Dec. 20. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,135 /24

Edermin: to Joseph Bennister. 3 lives. 1782 Dec. 10. 1 membrane.

MS 41,135 /25

Eonish: to William Faris. 3 lives. 1777 Mar. 6. 1 membrane.

Eonish: to George Leviston. 3 lives. 1837 Mar. 14. *1 membrane with map*.

Eonish: to James Leviston. 3 lives. 1837 Mar. 14. *1 membrane with map*.

Eonish: to John Jackson. 3 lives. 1837 Mar. 14. *1 membrane with map*.

Eonish: to Samuel Robinson. 3 lives. 1837 Mar. 14. *1 membrane with map*.

Eonish: to Thomas Breen. 3 lives. 1844 Oct. 10. Also, related drainage certificate. 1879 Apr. 29. *1 membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

MS 41,135 /26

Farragh: to John McMichael. 3 lives. 1810 Mar. 1. 1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.

Farragh: to William Cleminger. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Farragh: to Richard Cleminger. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Farragh: to William Hewitt. 3 lives. 1866 Nov. 8. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,135 /27

Farranydaly: to Daniel Bera Jnr. 3 lives. 1810 June 1. *I membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached*.

Farranydaly: to Michael Golrake. 3 lives. 1810 June 1. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 Oct. 17. 2 membranes with 1 sheet (map) attached to lease.

Farranydaly: to Joseph Storey. 3 lives. 1811 Mar.1. *1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached*.

Farranydaly: to Noble Paget. 3 lives. 1830 Aug. 21. Also, related deed of surrender. 1852 Aug.16. *I membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

Farranydaly: to Thomas Kenny. 3 lives. 1830 Aug. 21. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Farranydaly: to John Creighton. 3 lives. 1830 Aug. 21. Also, duplicate copy of same. 2 membranes both with maps.

Farranydaly: to Noble Paget. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 10. *I membrane with map*.

Farranydaly: to George Cartwright. 3 lives. 1866 Jan. 29. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,135 /28 Gartnasillagh: to Robert Heaslip. 3 lives. 1864 June 29. 1 membrane with map.

Gartnasillagh: to Margaret Maxwell. 3 lives. 1869 June 10. *I membrane with map*.

MS 41,135 /29 Lisdaran: to Charles Moore. 3 lives. 1830 Sept. 29. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

MS 41,135 /30 Lisduff: to James McDowell. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

Lisduff: to William Forster. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. 1 membrane with map.

Lisduff: to William Forster. 3 lives. 1861 Jan.17. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,135 /31 Loughaconnick: to Humphrey Fegan. 3 lives. 1844 Oct. 10, with agreement signed by lessee agreeing to provide for his mother. 1844 Dec. 19. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with 1 sheet (agreement) attached to lease.

Loughaconnick: to Thomas Kenny. 3 lives. 1844 Oct. 10. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Loughaconnick: to George Tweedy. 3 lives. 1861 Jan. 17. 1

60

*membrane* with map.

Loughaconnick: to John McDowall. 3 lives. 1865 Nov. 23. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,135 /32

Monnery: to James Maxwell. 3 lives. 1743 Jan. 9. Also, cover noting date of lease and expiration date. 2 *sheets*. Conservation note: This lease is in very poor condition and is torn along its

original folds.

Monnery: to Samuel Manning. 3 lives. 1844 Oct. 10. Also, related drainage certificate. 1879 Apr. 29. *I membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

Monnery: to John Lindon. 3 lives. 1856 Apr. 7. Also, related drainage certificate. 1879 Apr. 29. *I membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

MS 41,135 /33

Rahultan: to Michael Kenny. 3 lives. 1830 Aug. 21. Also, related drainage certificate. 1879 Apr. 29. *I membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

Rahultan: to Joseph Ebbott. 3 lives. 1830 Aug. 21. *1 membrane with map*.

Rahultan: to Joseph Johnston. 3 lives. 1837 Sept. 7. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,135 /34

Tircullen: to James Smith. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. 1 membrane with map.

Tircullen: to Thomas Acheson. 3 lives. 1865 Feb. 16. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,135 /35

Tirourkan: to William Kemp. 3 lives. 1771 Aug 16. 2 membranes (1 lease & 1 map).

The seals on lease have been broken and the map, which was originally attached to lease, is now separate.

Tirourkan: to William Kemp. 3 lives. 1837 Sept. 7. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Tirourkan: to Edward Kemp. 3 lives. 1861 Jan. 17. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,135 /36

Tullylough: to Joseph Welsh. 3 lives. 1758 June 16. *1 sheet*. Conservation note: This lease is in quite poor condition with some tears along the original folds.

Tullylough: to Michael Kenny. 3 lives. 1835 May 9. Also, related drainage certificate. 1879 Apr. 29. *I membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

Tullylough: to Robert Walsh. 3 lives. 1835 May 9. Also, related drainage certificate. 1879 Apr. 29. *I membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

# I.vi.5.A Drainage Certificates Farnham estate (county Cavan) Coolboyogue: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Michael Kenny. 1860 MS 41,136 /1 May 11. 1 membrane. MS 41,136 /2 Deredis: between Henry, 7th Baron and Michael Yeates. 1860 May 11. 1 membrane. Deredis: between Henry, 7th Baron and Oswald Swan and Richard Nesbitt. 1860 May 11. 1 membrane. Deredis: between Henry, 7th Baron and Thomas Tilson. 1879 Apr. 29. 1 sheet. Derenish Mor: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Matthew Tilson. 1860 MS 41,136 /3 May 11. 1 membrane. Derrycramph: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Joseph Johnston. 1860 MS 41,136 /4 May 11. 1 membrane. Derrycramph: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Richard Mooney. 1860 May 11. 1 membrane. Derryheen: between Somerset Henry, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron and William Tilson. MS 41,136 /5 1879 Apr. 29. 1 sheet. Derrywinny: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Christopher William MS 41,136 /6 Moffatt. 1860 May 11. 1 membrane. Drumconnick: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and John Pratt. 1860 May MS 41,136 /7 11. 1 membrane. Drumconnick: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and John Pratt. 1860 May 11. 1 membrane. Drumhecknagh: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and William Leviston. MS 41,136 /8 1860 May 11. 1 membrane. Drummullig: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Sarah Wilson. 1860 MS 41,136 /9 May 11. 1 membrane. Drummullig: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Anne Wilson. 1860 May 11. 1 membrane. Farragh & Farranydaly: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Mary (Anne) MS 41,136 /10 Jane Paget. 1860 May 11. 1 membrane. Farragh: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and John Halliday. 1860 May MS 41,136 /11

11. 1 membrane.

Farragh: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and John Halliday. 1860 May 11. *I membrane*.

MS 41,136 /12 Monnery: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and John Lindon. 1860 May 11. *1 membrane*.

MS 41,136 /13 Rahultan: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Michael Kenny. 1860 May 11. *I membrane*.

Rahulatan: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Joseph Ebbott. 1860 May 11. *I membrane*.

Rahultan: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Joseph Johnston. 1860 June 11. *I membrane*.

Rahultan: between Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron and Joseph Ebbitt. 1879 Apr. 29. *1 sheet*.

MS 41,136 /14 Tullylough: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Charles Kenny. 1860 May 11. *1 membrane*.

Tullylough between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Joseph Walsh. 1860 May 11. *I membrane*.

# I.vi.6 Hampson (county Cavan)

MS 41,137 /1

Abstract of leases entitled 'Hampson Estate' relating to
Aghacreevy, Aghakilmore, Aghnagegna (sic), Ballyheelan,
Callanagh, Carricknabrick, Freeduff, and Kilgolagh in the barony of
Clanmahon, and Corbeagh, Cornhilt, Graddum, Drumbee,
Ducasland (sic), Derrylea, Finaway, Keenagh, Lisnabantry, Portan
and Sallaghill in the barony of Castlerahan. 1714-1788. 4 sheets.

MS 41,137 /2 Callanagh: Luke McDowell to James McDowell. 3 lives. 1806 May 1. 1 sheet.

MS 41,137 /3 Clonloaghan: to Owen Daly. 3 lives. 1811 Apr. 10. *I membrane with1 sheet (map) attached*.

Clonloaghan: to John Lahey. 3 lives. 1830 Aug. 21. Also, related deed of surrender, 1832 May 21; with draft of same. *I membrane with map & 2 sheets*.

The seals and signatures of lessor and lessee have been cut from the lease.

Clonloaghan: to Henry Lahy. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. 1 membrane with map.

Clonloaghan: to William Gibson. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. 1 membrane

with map.

Clonloaghan: to Robert Strong. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

Clonloaghan: to William Gibson. 3 lives. 1837 Mar. 14. *1 membrane with map*.

Clonloaghan: to Edward Reilly. 3 lives. 1860 Feb. 16. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,137 /4 Cornagrow: to William Byars. 3 lives. 1832 Feb. 10. *I membrane with map*.

Cornagrow: to Thomas Tilson. 3 lives. 1832 Feb. 10. *I membrane with map*.

Cornagrow: to Henry Byers. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. 1 membrane with map.

Cornagrow: to Charles Cootes. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. *I membrane with map*.

Cornagrow: to Charles Cootes. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 28,836 (8) Graddum: to Nugent Spinks. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 28,842 (21) Graddum: to Thomas Hanna. 3 lives. 1872 July 1. 1 membrane with map.

# I.vi.7 Lisnamaine (county Cavan)

MS 41,138/1 Cornagrow: to Robert Grier. 3 lives. 1864 Dec.14. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,138 /2 Corracanvy: to John Thickpenny. 3 lives. 1782 Sept. 6. 1 membrane.

Corracanvy: to Robert Graham. 3 lives. 1860 Oct. 26. *1 membrane with map*.

Corracanvy: to George Tubman. 3 lives. 1861 Feb. 28. *I membrane with map*.

MS 41,138/3 Corratober: to Matthew Tilson. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

Corratober: to Thomas Tilson. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *I membrane with map*.

Corratober: to Thomas Willis. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. Also, related drainage certificate. 1879 Apr. 29. *I membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

Corratober: to William Tilson. 3 lives. 1826, Oct. 25. *I membrane with map*.

Corratober: to Henry Tilson. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

Corratober: to John Tilson. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

Corratober: to Humphrey Tilson. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. Also, related deed of surrender. 1837 Feb.17. 1 membrane with map & 1 sheet.

Corratober: to Humphrey Tilson. 3 lives. 1837 Mar.14. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,138 /4

Derryhoo: to Jared Gregg. 3 lives. 1865 Nov. 14. Also, related drainage certificate. 1879 Apr. 29. *1 membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

MS 41,138 /5

Drumacon: to Constantine Keenan. 3 lives. 1787 July 28. *1 membrane*.

Drumacon: to John Doyle. 3 lives. 1789 June 10. 1 membrane.

MS 41,138 /6

Gartbrattan: to George McMichael. 3 lives. 1827 Apr. 6; with duplicate copy of same. Also, related deed of surrender. 1840 Dec.21. 2 membranes both with maps & 1 sheet.

Gartbrattan: to George West. 3 lives. 1832 Jan.3. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Gartbrattan: to John McMichael. 3 lives. 1856 Apr. 7. Also, related drainage certificate. 1879 Apr. 29. *I membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

MS 41,138 /7

Moher: to Benjamin Heaslip. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

Moher: to Christopher Heaslip. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

Moher: to John Heaslip. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

Moher: to Isaiah Heaslip. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with

тар.

Moher: to Joseph Heaslip. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 3. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,138 /8 Pottle: to John Adamson Moffett. 3 lives. 1829 June 1. *I membrane with map*.

MS 41,138 /9 Pollabane: to John Armstrong & Samuel Caldwell. 3 lives. 1769 June 15. 1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.

## I.vi.7.A Drainage Certificates Lisnamaine estate (county Cavan)

MS 41,139 /1 Corratober: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and William Kelly. 1860 May 11. *1 membrane*.

Corratober: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Humphrey Tilson. 1860 May 11. *1 membrane*.

Corratober: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Thomas Tilson. 1860 May 11. *I membrane*.

Corratober: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Henry Willis. 1860 May 11. *I membrane*.

Corratober: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Henry Tilson. 1860 May 11. *I membrane*.

Corratober: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Henry Tilson. 1860 May 11. *I membrane*.

MS 41,139 /2 Gartbrattan: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and John McMichael. 1860 May 11. *1 membrane*.

MS 41,139 /3 Pottle: between Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Christopher William Moffatt. 1860 May 11. *1 membrane*.

# I.vi.8 Massareene (county Cavan)

Lands leased in more than a single townland

MS 41,140 /1 Cloggagh & Ramonan: to James Hunter. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

Lands leased in single townlands

MS 41,140 /2 Aghaboy: to Peter Boylan. 3 lives. 1846 Aug. 5. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,140 /3

Aghaloughan: to Robert Henry Jnr. 3 lives. 1825 Aug. 5. *1 membrane with map*.

Aghaloughan: to Ralph Mulligan. 3 lives. 1825 Aug. 5. *1 membrane with map*.

Aghaloughan: to Samuel Henry. Snr. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

Aghaloughan: to Arnold Porter. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

Aghaloughan: to James Henry. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

Aghaloughan: to Robert Henry. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,140 /4

Aghaloughan: to Arthur McClean. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. *1 membrane with map*.

Aghaloughan: to James Porter. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /5

Carn: to John Coots Snr. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

Carn: to Robert Griffith. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

Carn: to Christopher Griffith. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,140 /6

Carn: to Christopher Griffith Jnr. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. *I membrane with map*.

Carn: to Robert Griffith. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. 1 membrane with map.

Carn: to William Cootes. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. 1 membrane with map.

Carn: to John Cootes. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. Also, notes outlining rent due on lease. 1877-1879. *I membrane with map & 2 sheets*.

Carn: to Henry White. 3 lives. 1841 June 1. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,140 /7

Carrickclevan: to Robert Forsythe Jnr. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /8

Carricknaveagh: to Bernard Parr. 3 lives. 1748 Oct. 20. 1 sheet.

Carricknaveagh: to James Mahood. 3 lives. 1835 Nov. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

Carricknaveagh: to John Kettyleton. 3 lives. 1835 Nov. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

Carricknaveagh: to Samuel Love. 3 lives. 1835 Nov. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

Carricknaveagh: to George Power. 3 lives. 1836 May 9. *1 membrane with map*.

Carricknaveagh: to Robert Waller. 3 lives. 1836 May 9. Also, letter from R Allen Solr. to A Godley, Agent, regarding lease. 1892 June 29. *I membrane with map & I sheet*.

Carricknaveagh: to Thomas Sturgeon. 3 lives. 1864 Dec. 8. Also, letter to Court of Bankrupts, for payment of rent. 1874 Sept. 16. *1 membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

Carricknaveagh: to Thomas Clarke. 3 lives. 1865 Feb. 16. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /9

Claddagh: to Robert Cumming. 3 lives. 1796 Mar. 22. 1 sheet.

Claddagh: to Robert Gibson. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with sheet.

Claddagh: to John Reburn. 3 lives. 1866 Dec. 29. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,140 /10

Clare: to John Morrow. 3 lives. 1813 June 10. Also, duplicate copy of same. 2 *membranes with 2 sheets (maps) attached*. Conservation note: The duplicate copy of the lease is in very poor condition.

Clare: to John Love. 3 lives. 1813 June 10. Also, related deed of surrender. 1833 Oct. 10. 1 membrane & 2 sheets (1 of which is map).

Seal has been broken on this lease and map is detached.

Clare: to Moses Porterfield. 3 lives. 1841 June 1. 1 membrane with map.

Clare: to John Kellett. 3 lives. 1841 June 1. 1 membrane with map.

Clare: to Richard Johnston. 3 lives. 1841 June 1. *1 membrane with map*.

Clare: to James Morrow. 3 lives. 1854 Mar. 29. 1 membrane with map.

Clare: to Thomas Love. 3 lives. 1861 Oct. 29. *1 membrane with map*.

Clare: to John Morrow. 3 lives. 1869 June 10. *1 membrane with map*.

## MS 41,140 /11

Cleffin: to Luke Wainwright. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

Cleffin: to Robert Williamson. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

Cleffin: to Oliver Nugent. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

Cleffin: to William Hunter. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

Cleffin: to Samuel Hunter. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

## MS 41,140 /12

Cleffin: to Andrew McElwaine. 3 lives. 1830 Aug. 21. *1 membrane with map*.

Cleffin: to Henry Haise. 3 lives. 1830 Aug. 21. *1 membrane with map*.

Cleffin: to Robert Waller. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. 1 membrane with map.

Cleffin: to Thomas Hunter. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. 1 membrane with man.

Cleffin: to Henry McCully. 3 lives. 1832 Feb. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

Cleffin: to James Williamson. 3 lives. 1832 Feb. 10. *I membrane with map*.

Cleffin: to Robert Cockrane. 3 lives. 1841 June 1. 1 membrane with map.

## MS 41,140 /13

Cloggagh: to Henry Montgomery. 3 lives. 1801 Dec. 11. *I membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.* 

Cloggagh: to John Reyburn. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,140 /14 Cornacreeve: to William White. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. 1 membrane with map.

Cornacreeve: to John White. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. 1 membrane with map.

Cornacreeve: to Anthony White. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,140 /15 Cornahilt: to James Morrow. 3 lives. 1854 Mar. 29. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,140 /16 Cornaseer: to Thomas Foster. 3 lives. 1834 Apr. 10. 1 membrane with map.

Cornaseer: to Samuel Heaslip. 3 lives. 1834 Apr. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /17 Deer Park (Crosserule): to James Morrow. 3 lives. 1878 Dec. 27. 1 membrane.

MS 41,140 /18 Derrin: to Patrick Lahy. 3 lives. 1808 Aug. 6. 1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.

Derrin: to George Strong. 3 lives. 1810 Mar. 1. *I membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.* 

Derrin: to George Strong. 3 lives. 1832 Feb. 10. 1 membrane with map.

Derrin: to John Ludlow. 3 lives. 1867 Aug. 5. 1 membrane with map.

**MS 41,140 /19** Derry: to Thomas Spinks. 3 lives. 1832 Feb. 10. *1 membrane with map.* 

Derry: to William Heaslip. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. *1 membrane with map*.

Derry: to Christopher Spinks. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. *1 membrane with map*.

Derry: to William Spinks. 3 lives. 1837 Mar. 14. Also, duplicate copy of same. 2 membranes both with maps.

MS 41,140 /20 Derrylurgan: to Joseph Whyte. 3 lives. 1804 Aug. 1. 1 membrane & 1 sheet (map).

This lease is very faded and difficult to read.

Derrylurgan: to Robert Morrow Jnr. 3 lives. 1804 Oct. 7. 1

membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.

Derrylurgan: to Richard Butler. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

Derrylurgan: to Robert Morrow. 3 lives, renewable for ever. 1827 Jan. 6. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /21

Derrylurgan: to Samuel Whyte. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 10. Also, notice of application by lessee, to fix fair rent. 1887 Oct. 26. *I membrane with map & I sheet*.

Derrylurgan: to Humphrey Tilson. 3 lives. 1844 Oct. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

Derrylurgan: to Richard Maguire. 3 lives. 1844 Oct. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

Derrylurgan: to Moses Smith. 3 lives. 1844 Oct. 10. Also, note signed by lessee promising to pay his mother £2 yearly, 1844 Dec. 4; and notice of application by lessee, to fix fair rent. 1887 Oct. 26. 1 membrane with map & 2 sheets.

Derrylurgan: to Joseph Porter. 3 lives. 1844 Oct.10. *1 membrane with map*.

Derrylurgan: to Hugh Smith. 3 lives. 1844 Oct. 10. Also, note signed by lessee promising to pay his mother £2 yearly. 1844 Dec.2. 1 membrane with map & 1 sheet.

Derrylurgan: to Robert Fegan. 3 lives. 1847 Jan. 3. Also, related deed of surrender, 1847 Jan. 1; and notice of application by lessee, to fix fair rent. 1887 Oct. 26. *1 membrane with map & 2 sheets*.

MS 41,140 /22

Dundavan: to Rev James Neligan. 2 lives. 1792 Apr. 28. 2 *membranes*.

MS 41,140 /23

Dundavan: to George Montgomery. 3 lives. 1837 Mar. 14. *1 membrane with map*.

Dundavan: to William Collins. 3 lives. 1837 Mar. 14. Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Dundavan: to John Dodson. 3 lives. 1852 Aug. 30. 1 membrane with map.

Dundavan: to John Dodson. 3 lives. 1852 Aug. 30. 1 membrane with map.

Dundavan: to Richard Standish Phibbs Irwin. 3 lives. 1852 Aug. 30.

Also, related drainage certificate. 1860 May 11. 2 membranes with map in lease.

Dundavan: to Peter Brady. 3 lives. 1852 Aug. 30. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,140 /24

Fintawan: to Robert Porter. 3 lives. 1817 Aug. 14. *1 membrane with map*.

Fintawan: to John Hogg. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

Fintawan: to Joseph Byers. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. 1 membrane with map.

Fintawan: to Samuel Hogg. 3 lives. 1854 Mar. 29. *1 membrane with map*.

Fintawan: to John Hogg. 3 lives. 1854 Mar. 29. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,140 /25

Galloncurra: to James Cochrane Jnr. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. *1 membrane with map*.

Galloncurra: to James Cochrane Snr. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. *1 membrane with map*.

Galloncurra: to William Cochrane. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. *1 membrane with map*.

Galloncurra: to Robert Strong. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. *1 membrane with map*.

Galloncurra: to John McElwain. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /26

Gallonnambraher: to John Byers. 3 lives. 1825 Aug. 5. *I membrane with map*.

Gallonnambraher: to Francis Daly. 3 lives. 1825 Aug. 5. Also, note outlining rent due on lease. 1849-1851. *I membrane with map & I sheet*.

Gallonnambraher: to Robert Byers. 3 lives. 1825 Aug. 5. *1 membrane with map*.

Gallonnambraher: to Robert Morrow. 3 lives. 1825 Aug. 5. *1 membrane with map*.

Gallonnambraher: to William Byers Jnr. 3 lives. 1825 Aug. 5. 1

*membrane* with map.

MS 41,140 /27

Gallonnambraher: to Alex Morrow Jnr. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

Gallonnambraher: to William Byers Snr. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

Gallonnambraher: to William Byers. 3 lives. 1832 Feb. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /28

Gola: to Matthew Wainright. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,140 /29

Greaghadossan: to Robert Rusk. 3 lives. 1794 July 9. *1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached*.

Greaghadossan: to Thomas McElwain. 3 lives. 1832 Feb. 10. *I membrane with map*.

Greaghadossan: to Robert Rusk. 3 lives. 1832 Feb. 10. *I membrane with map*.

Greaghadossan: to James McElwain. 3 lives. 1832 Feb. 10. *I membrane with map*.

Greaghadossan: to Samuel O Hara. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. *1 membrane with map*.

Greaghadossan: to Thomas McConnell. 3 lives. 1867 Aug.5. Also, note outlining rent due on lease. 1879. *I membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

MS 41,140 /30

Greaghclaugh: to John Parr. 3 lives. 1769 May 29. *1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached*.

Greaghclaugh: to John George Parr. 3 lives. 1835 Nov. 10. *I membrane with map*.

Greaghclaugh: to Samuel Crothers. 3 lives. 1836 May 9. *1 membrane with map*.

Greaghclaugh: to Robert Magill. 3 lives. 1836 May 9. *I membrane with map*.

Greaghclaugh: to Joseph Burns. 3 lives. 1836 May 9. *1 membrane with map*.

Greaghclaugh: to Robert Montgomery. 3 lives. 1836 May 9. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /31

Killyfinla: to Archibald Morrow. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

Killyfinla: to Andrew Morrow Snr. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. Also, related deed of surrender. 1837 Sept. 1. *1 membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

The seals and signatures have been removed from the lease.

Killyfinla: to Joseph Morrow Snr. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

Killyfinla: to Robert Morrow Jnr. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

Killyfinla: to Charles Comerford. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. Also, note outlining rent due on lease. 1876. *1 membrane with map & 1 sheet*.

MS 41,140 /32

Killyfinla: to David Stafford. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. *1 membrane with map*.

Killyfinla: to Christopher Griffith Jnr. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

Killyfinla: to David McCutchen. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

Killyfinla: to Arnold Porter. 3 lives. 1837 Sept. 7. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /33

Killyvally: to William Whyte. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *I membrane with map*.

Killyvally: to William Coots. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

Killyvally: to William White. 3 lives. 1838 Nov. 19. *I membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /34

Lackanduff: to John Morrison. 3 lives. 1852 Aug. 30. 1 membrane with map.

Lackanduff: to Elizabeth Morrison. 3 lives. 1852 Aug. 30. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /35

Lismagiril: to Thomas Clarke. 3 lives. 1805 Aug. 14. *I membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.* 

Lismagiril: to James Reilly. 3 lives. 1805 Aug. 14. *1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.* 

Lismagiril: to Terence Clarke. 3 lives. 1805 Aug. 14. *I membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.* 

Lismagiril: to Samuel Love. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

Seal and signature of lessor have been removed.

Lismagiril: to Samuel O Hara. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

Lismagiril: to John Rusk. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. 1 membrane with map.

Lismagiril: to Andrew Hunter. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *I membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /36

Lismagiril: to Hugh Williamson. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. *1 membrane with map*.

Lismagiril: to John Hunter. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. *1 membrane with map*.

Lismagiril: to Samuel Love. 3 lives. 1837 Sept. 7. Also, note outlining rent due on lease, 1878-1881; writ of possession issued by court of common pleas, 1882 Feb.18; and notice to be served on the relieving officer of the electoral division prior to the execution of habere etc., 1882 Feb. 20, with duplicate of same. 2 membranes with map in lease & 3 sheets.

MS 41,140 /37

Moydristan: to William Strong. 3 lives. 1784 Oct. 10. *1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached*.

Moydristan: to William Strong. 3 lives. 1867 Aug. 5. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /38

Pollamalady: to William Hogg. 3 lives. 1865 Nov. 14. *I membrane with map*.

Pollamalady: to William Hogg Snr. 3 lives. 1866 Dec. 13. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /39

Pollareagh: to John Stafford Jnr. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /40

Ramonan: to Hugh Morrow & Robert Morrow. 3 lives. 1811 Dec. 1. *1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.* 

Ramonan: to Robert Morrow. 3 lives. 1811 Dec. 1. *1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.* 

Ramonan: to Wilson Morrow. 3 lives. 1811 Dec. 1. *1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.* 

Ramonan: to Robert Morrow. 3 lives. 1827 Jan. 6. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /41

Ramonan: to Robert Morrow. 3 lives. 1830 Aug. 21. *1 membrane with map*.

Ramonan: to Thomas Morrow. 3 lives. 1832 Jan. 3. 1 membrane with map.

Ramonan: to Hugh Porter. 3 lives. 1832 Feb. 10. 1 membrane with map.

Ramonan: to John Evans Snr. 3 lives. 1832 Feb. 10. 1 membrane with map.

Ramonan: to John Evans Jnr. 3 lives. 1832 Mar. 5. 1 membrane with map.

Ramonan: to Hugh Porter. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 10; with duplicate of same. Also, related deed of transfer from Porter to Rev Robert H Clarke, 1865 Jan. 18. 2 membranes both with maps & 1 sheet.

Ramonan: to Samuel Whyte. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

Ramonan: to Thomas Morrow. 3 lives. 1837 Mar. 14. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /42

Shannow: to John Foster. 3 lives. 1863 Dec. 22. 1 membrane with map.

Conservation note: Due to damage this lease may not be opened.

Shannow: to William Hetherington. 3 lives. 1869 Jan. 19. *1 membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /43

Tedeehan: to William Dobson. 3 lives. 1826 Oct. 25. *I membrane with map*.

MS 41,140 /44

Tievenaman: to Benjamin Stafford & Alexander Stafford. 3 lives. 1799 Apr. 1. *I membrane*.

Tievenaman: to William Reburn. 3 lives. 1866 Dec. 29. *1 membrane with map*.

Tievenaman: to William McCauley. 3 lives. 1867 Aug. 5. *1 membrane with map*.

Tievenaman: to James Harrison. 3 lives. 1867 Aug. 5. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,140 /45

Togher: to John Makemson & William Spinks. 3 lives. 1767 June. 1 membrane with 1 sheet (map) attached.

Togher: to James Maguire. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

Togher: to John Magill. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 10. *1 membrane with map*.

Togher: to William Spinks. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

Togher: to Charlton Spinks Snr. 3 lives. 1834 Mar. 25. *1 membrane with map*.

Togher: to John Magill. 3 lives. 1837 Mar. 10. 1 membrane with map.

MS 41,140 /46

Togher: to Christopher Malcomson. 3 lives. 1841 June 1. Also, duplicate copy of same. 2 membranes both with maps.

Togher: to John Malcomson Jnr. 3 lives. 1841 June 1. *1 membrane with map*.

Togher: to John Malcomson Snr. 3 lives. 1841 June 1. *I membrane with map*.

Togher: to Thomas Malcomson. 3 lives. 1841 June 1. *1 membrane with map*.

Togher: to John Lowry. 3 lives. 1841 June 1. 1 membrane with map.

Togher: to James Malcomson. 3 lives. 1841 June 1. *1 membrane with map*.

Togher: to Nugent Spinks. 3 lives. 1841 June 1. Also, letter from R Allen, Solr. to A Godley, agent concerning case taken against lessee for cutting turf for sale from his holding, 1891 Dec. 21; and undertaking by lessee not to cut turf again on his holding, 1892 Jan. 1. *I membrane with map & 2 sheets*.

# I.vii Unexecuted and draft leases

# I.vii.1 Barry (county Carlow)

**MS 41,141** Unexecuted lease between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Thomas Beale, of part of the lands of Kilbrannish, barony of Forth. 1833 May 1. *I* 

membrane with map.

# I.vii.2 Cavan town

MS 41,142 /1 Draft renewal of lease dated 17 June 1758, between John James, 4<sup>th</sup> Baron and Rev Henry Cottingham. 1823. Also duplicate copy of

same. 2 items.

MS 41,142 /2 Draft renewal of lease dated 14 April 1763, between John James, 4<sup>th</sup> Baron and Rev Henry Cottingham. 1823. Also duplicate copy of

same. 2 items.

MS 41,142 /3 Draft renewal of lease dated 20 June 1769, between John James, 4<sup>th</sup>

Baron and Edward Cottingham. 1823. Also duplicate copy of same.

2 items.

MS 41,142 /4 Draft renewal of lease dated 18 January 1787, between John James,

4<sup>th</sup> Baron and Edward Cottingham. 1823. Also duplicate copy of

same. 2 items.

MS 41,142 /5 Unexecuted renewal of lease dated 17 June 1758, between John

James, 4<sup>th</sup> Baron and Rev Henry Cottingham. 1823. Also duplicate

copy of same. 2 membranes.

Conservation note: several tears along the original folds of this document.

MS 41,142 /6 Unexecuted renewal of lease dated 14 April 1763, between John

James, 4<sup>th</sup> Baron and Rev Henry Cottingham. 1823. Also duplicate

copy of same. 2 membranes.

Conservation note: several tears along the original folds of this document.

MS 41,142 /7 Draft lease between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Rt. Hon. George Robert

Dawson and Rt. Hon. Thomas Spring Rice, of plot of ground on

Farnham Street. 1835 Apr. 11. 1 item.

MS 41,142 /8 Unexecuted renewal of lease dated 20 September 1811, between

Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Francis Wright. 1841 Oct. 30. Also duplicate

copy of same. 2membranes.

# I.vii.3 Farnham, Fortland & Massareene

MS 41,143 /1 Drumgor, Farnham: Unexecuted lease from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to Robert McKinley. 1837 Oct. 10. *1 membrane with map*. Also duplicate copy of same.

MS 41,143 /2 Crover (aka Corfarnough), Fortland: Draft lease from John Charles Tatlow to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1831 June 21. Also duplicate copy of same with lawyer's amendments and other legal papers including registry searches and a map survey of Crover, dated 1830. 6 items.

MS 41,143 /3 Fortland: Draft sketch lease to Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron. To commence from May 1805. *I sheet*.

MS 41,143 /4 Crover, Fortland: Draft lease from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to John Charles Tatlow. 1831 June 21. Also duplicate copy of same. 2 *items*.

MS 41,143 /5 Crover, Fortland: Draft lease from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to John Charles Tatlow. 1831 August 23. Also duplicate copy of same. *2 items*.

MS 41,143 /6 Cleffin (Aghacleffin), Massareene: Unexecuted lease from John 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to Robert Cockrane. 1837 Sept. 7. *1 membrane with map*. Also duplicate copy of same.

MS 41,143 /7 Carricknaveagh, Massareene: Unexecuted lease from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to Catherine Parr. 1837 Mar. 14. *1 membrane with map*. Also duplicate copy of same.

MS 41,143 /8 Dundavan, Massareene: Unexecuted lease from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to James Lahey. 1836 May 9. *I membrane with map*. Also duplicate copy of same.

# I.viii Legal and financial papers concerning family members

# I.viii.1 John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron & Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron

MS 41,144/1 Search for judgements in the Courts of King's Bench and Exchequer against Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron from 1730. 2 *items*.

MS 41,144/2

Conveyance between (1) John Tandy and William Westberry, (executors of the will of James Napper) (2) Robert Perceval (guardian to William Napper, minor, son of James Napper) (3) Thomas Trotter (4) Mary Mercer, John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron and Judith his wife (5) Robert Jocelyn and (6) Josiah Hort, Lord Bishop of Kilmore, of lands in the barony of Carbury, county Kildare. 1734

May 16. 2 ½ membranes.

D. 20,445

Assignment of the Office of Prothonotary in the Court of Common Pleas from John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron to Messrs. David La Touche, Nathaniel Kane and David La Touche Jnr., in securing a loan of £1,484. 1742 Feb. 8. *1 sheet*.

MS 41,144 /3

Heads of an agreement between John Bell and John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, regarding the proposed sale by Bell of the lands of Aghacreevy, to John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron. 1745 Oct. 1. *I sheet*.

D. 20,452

Bond between Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron and John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, detailing various amounts totalling some £28, 500 payable to various persons. 1757 Sept 29. *I sheet*.

D. 20,474

Grant of the title of Earl of Farnham to Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron. 1763 May 13. *1 membrane*.

MS 41,144 /4

Release of charge of £200 by George Boyd to Henry Meredyth, (executor to the will of John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron) over the real and personal estate, of John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron. 1764 May 15. *I membrane with 1 sheet*.

MS 41,144 /5

Reconveyance from William Deane and John Gavin to Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron, of Maxwell family lands in the counties of Cavan and Armagh. 1768 Feb. 5. Also consent of James Johnston and Henry Meredyth in allowing transaction. 1768 Feb. 5. *4 membranes with 1 sheet*.

MS 41,144 /6

Exemplification of recovery suffered by Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron, of several lands in county Cavan, including those of the Farnham estate in the barony of Upper Loughtee and those of the Massareene estate in the baronies of Castlerahan, Clanmahon and Tullyhaw. 1768 May 16. 5 membranes with seal attached.

MS 41,144 /7

Bundle of legal papers relating to Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron and his management of his estate in county Cavan including: legal case with lawyer's opinion concerning the sale of part of the Carmichael estate to John Carty in 1791 and Andrew Lanuze in 1792. Also memorandum detailing queries regarding leases on the Carmichael estate, with some notes regarding the Manor of Castlecraig and the obligations of tenants living there. Agreement between Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron and William, Lord Bishop of Kilmore regarding the letting of part of the demesne most likely Farnham, to the Bishop. 1793. 8 *items*.

D. 15,409

Deed between (1) Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron and Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath (2) Denis Daly and (3) George Moore relating to lands in county Mayo. 1789 June 29. *1 sheet*.

# I.viii.2 Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath

MS 41,145 /1

An agreement between John Bell the younger, Andrew Bell and Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath, 'to confirm the sale of Aghacreevy made by John Bell the elder to the late Lord Farnham.' 1764 Mar. 13. *I sheet*.

MS 41,145 /2

Legal papers with lawyer's opinion concerning the purchase of Mrs Ann Darcy's estates in county Cavan, including the lands of Clonoose Big, Muckram (sic) and Drumcor, parish of Drumlumman, barony of Clanmahon by William Webb, the lands of Loughdawan, parish of Drumlumman by James Young and the lands of Lavagh and Knockmore (sic), parish of Ballymachugh, barony of Clanmahon by James Smith. 1779. Also negative certificates of judgements against James Smyth in the courts of King's Bench, Exchequer and Common Pleas. 1779; with rental of Mr James Smyth's estate. Copy recovery by Nicholas Coyne of lands in county Cavan. Undated. *7 items*.

MS 41,145 /3

Valuations and surveys of Mr. Poole's estate including the lands of Tullymongan and Rosscolgan, parish of Urney, barony of Upper Loughtee; Drumbrucklis and Aghaloory, parish of Ballintemple, barony of Clanmahon; Lossetkillew, parish of Ballymachugh, barony of Clanmahon and Drumawick (sic) and Tullybane (sic). Survey of these and other lands by Theobald Burke, 1740; Philip Tuite's Valuation of Poole's lease, 1754; A rent roll of William Pole Esq., in county Cavan, 1774 and another rent roll of Poole's estate, undated. *4 items*.

MS 41,145 /4

Miscellaneous legal papers concerning Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath including amongst others: copy of memorial of marriage settlement of Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath and Margaret Foster, 1759; agreement regarding the sale of Lavagh, barony of Clanmahon by Robert Bell to Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath, 1770 July 11; copy deed of annuity from Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath to Anne Stafford, 1784; copy negative search in Common Pleas and Exchequer against Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath, 1778-1799 and certificate of satisfaction from Court of Common Pleas between Hector Graham and Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath, 1798. 6 items.

D. 18,646

Lease from Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath to Rev Henry Wynne of 'seven townships in the Kings County', for 21 years. 1796 May 1. *I membrane*.

D. 18,647

Mortgage between (1) Rev Henry Wynne (2) Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath and (3) Mary Lucinda Herbert, Catherine Thomasina Herbert, Lady Ann Fitzgerald and John James, 4<sup>th</sup> Baron, secured by the 'seven townships in the Kings County'. 1798 Apr. 4. *3 membranes*.

# MS 8,527/ 1-8

Correspondence, financial accounts and other material in respect of the estates of the Barry and Maxwell (Barons Farnham) families of Newtownbarry, Co. Wexford. Including:

#### /1

Copy of patent to hold fairs at Newtownbarry, county Wexford. 1728. 8 sheets.

## /2

Rentals (including tenant names), of lands in county Carlow belonging to Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath. 1782, 1793 & undated. *3 sheets*.

Conservation note: these manuscripts are fragile and require careful handling.

## /3

Letters to Captain Kerr, agent on the Newtownbarry estate, regarding estate business. 1813-1830. *14 sheets*.

#### /4

Miscellaneous legal and financial papers including, promissory notes; lists of tenants names; accounts and receipts and surveys of land. *circa* 1800- *circa* 1830. *43 items*.

#### 15

Drafts and memorandas; with other legal documents. 1802-1830. 7 *sheets*.

## **/6**

Lease from Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron to Mrs Matilda Barker Colclough, of the lands of Ballyprecas, barony of Scarawalsh, county Wexford. 3 lives. 1841 Mar. 24. *I sheet with map*; also another undated tracing of land. *I sheet*.

#### /7

Calculations of sums of money. 1829 & undated. 15 items.

## /8

Miscellaneous papers including: Estimate of crops on the East Wall and Cold Harbour Farms, 1873 Sept. 25; Copy of calculation of rents, head rents and tithes on the Newtownbarry estate, 1867 Jan. 22; List of subscriptions received for the enlargement of Barnebrack National School; Memorandum of letting value of the Wenninngton estate 1875 Mar; List of leases made on the Barry estates in counties Carlow and Wexford between 1735- 1861; List of weekly tenants in Newtownbarry, 1894-1896; Names of owners and occupiers in Newtownbarry, 1891 Oct. 22; Lease for 21 years from Rev C J Lambart to John Keating of property in Newtownbarry, 1881 Dec. 9; Balance Sheet for the Newtownbarry estate for the year ending 1880 Apr. 30 and bound volume listing tenants names with ancillary

# I.viii.3 John James, 4<sup>th</sup> Baron

D. 18,649

Reconveyance of mortgage between (1) John James, 4<sup>th</sup> Baron (2) Catherine Thomasina Herbert and (3) Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1814 Aug. 12. *I sheet*.

# I.viii.4 John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron

MS 41,146 /1

Legal case of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron concerning the ownership and occupation of the lands of Aghacreevy during the period *circa* 1661 to *circa* 1810. *I item*.

MS 41,146 /2

Various legal papers relating to the case of the renewal of the lease of the lands of Barragh and Ballyquinn (sic), barony of Forth, county Carlow, including copies of the case with lawyer's opinion; copies of leases and conveyances detailing occupation of these lands and drafts of case in court of Chancery. 1751-1836. 11 items.

MS 41,146 /3

Bundle of legal papers including: lawyer's opinion on the settling of the Maxwell family estates in counties Wexford and Cavan, 1756; notices recalling searches amongst the papers of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron for leases and a list of deeds relative to the Wexford and Carlow estates. 1756-1833. *9 items*.

Conservation note: some of the material in this folder is in very poor condition and requires careful handling.

MS 41,146 /4

Legal case regarding Moore's tenement in Cavan town, including copy lease of property from Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron to John Moore, 1769. Also copy memorial of deed of lease and release from Moore to Edward Sneyd, 1770. Draft copy of case; case with lawyer's opinion; copy notice of case, 1827; copy notice to tenants of property to quit, 1828 and copy of the Civil Bill of action, 1829. Also return of search in Registrar's Office for Robert and John Stockman and their connection to property in Cavan town, 1832, with will of John Stockman of Cavan town, dated August 1810. 8 items.

MS 41,146 /5

Miscellaneous bonds granted by John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and other bonds assigned to him. 1774-1802. *5 items*.

MS 41,146 /6-8

Bonds with fragmentary accounts and correspondence relating to their payment, granted to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and other persons including Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath and Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron from various parties including:

## **/6**

Ambrose Cox, Rev Thomas Foster, David La Touche, George Humphrys, Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath, Robert Doughty, James Williams, Rev John Browne, Henry Brownrigg, Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron, Richard Annesley, Henry Lanazaue and William Caulfield. 1781-1799. *21 items*.

#### /7

Thomas Whaley, Thomas Dillon, Joseph Maxwell, James Williams, Rev William Cockburn, Boyle Travers, Sir John MacCartney, Thomas Combe, William Wynne, Joseph Halliday, Richard Kerr, James Whitestone, Thomas Humphrys, Robert Mayne and Philip Godsal. 1800-1810. *19 items*.

#### /8

Philip Ward, Richard Kerr, James Wright, Mary Love, John Buvor, Nicholas Mahon, Rev John Browne, William Gosselin, Catherine Jervais, Mrs Anne Jervais, Anne Murphy, Francis Walker, George Wynne, Christopher Armitage Nicholson, John Murray and Arthur Hume. 1811-1836. 29 items.

Conservation note: some of these manuscripts are in quite fragile condition and require careful handling.

MS 41,146 /9

Searches for judgements against John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron in courts of King's Bench, Chancery and Common Pleas, 1788-1790. *3 items*.

MS 41,146 /10

Miscellaneous legal papers concerning, John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron including amongst others: copy of memorial of marriage settlement of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Lady Lucy Annesley, 1789; copy of memorial of deed of mortgage between Lord Valentia et al and John Foster, Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath and John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron et al, 1789; deed of annuity from John Bell to John, 5th Baron on the lands of Aghacreevy and Kilnahard, parish of Ballymachugh, barony of Clanmahon, county Cavan, 1799 July 14; deed of rent charge between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Somerset Lowry Corry, Earl of Belmore et al, 1816 Feb. 8; close copy will of Col. Thomas Nesbitt, 1820; John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron in account with Rev Henry Cottingham, 1821; abstract of instructions to prepare assignments of judgements, 1822; names and situation of lands and property of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, located in county Cavan, 1828 July 12; copy of ejectment decree and sheriff's warrant from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron against George Moore et al, tenants of property in Cavan town, 1829 July 20; deposition of Mrs Mary Haire, Pittsburgh, USA, 1835; bond of indemnity from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron *et al* to Thomas Lewis in trust for the Union Life Office, 1836. 24 items.

MS 41,146 /11

Miscellaneous legal cases with lawyer's opinion concerning John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron; the Farnham estates in counties Cavan, Wexford and Carlow and the use of these lands as security for mortgages. 1789-1848. *16 items*.

Conservation note: some of the earlier documents are in fragile condition, torn along the original folds.

**MS 41,146 /12** Pro

Promissory notes of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1792-1799. *38 items*. Conservation note: some of these manuscripts are in quite fragile condition and require careful handling.

MS 41,146 /13

Receipts of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1795-1812. 6 items.

MS 41,146 /14

Bills of legal cost of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron from: John Fitzpatrick, 1797-1802, 1816-1818 & 1825-1827 with receipts for payment; from Crofton & Son, 1824; costs of assignment of judgement from Francis Walker to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, 1828; from R & N Montgomery, 1829-1838; from Simmons & Cooper, 1836-1837 with receipt for payment; from J M Gerard, 1838-1839 and Pentland & Pitcher, 1842. *13 items*.

Conservation note: several of the documents are in a fragile state, torn along the original folds.

MS 41,146 /15

Promissory notes of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1800-1821. *48 items*. Conservation note: some of these manuscripts are in quite fragile condition and require careful handling.

MS 41,146 /16

Letter from Robert Bell Booth to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron regarding the lands of Bellsgrove, detailing his claim to rent half of these lands following the death of his brother John Bell Booth. Apr. 3 1807. *1 sheet*.

MS 41,146 /17

Accounts and other legal material generated by and for Benjamin Woodward, William Wynne, John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and the legatees of John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron, detailing how the monies recovered from the Menla estate, county Galway were distributed; also accounts detailing the legal costs of the recovery. Undated & 1808-1809. *9 items*.

MS 41,146 /18

Account between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron, 1815-1822. *One soft bound volume*. Conservation note: the spine of this volume is in poor condition.

MS 41,146 /19

Legal case concerning the lease from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron of Fortland, county Cavan with lawyer's opinion. 1818. *3 items*.

MS 41,146 /20

Copies of bonds secured by John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, correspondence regarding their payment and receipts for their payment issued to Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron and Charles Fox, as executors of the will of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1819-1839. *12 items*.

MS 41,146 /21

Legal case of repayment of loan originally granted from Dr William Maxwell to Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath, with lawyer's opinions and accounts detailing repayments, of loan to representatives of Dr Maxwell by John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1820-1824. 8 *items*.

MS 41,146 /22

Copy of deed of annuity from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to Mrs Jane Wright, 1821 May 17; also letters to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron from Sophia Wright and John Martin, daughter and son-in-law respectively of Mrs Jane Wright regarding their claims on the annuity after her death. Also Certificate from Her Majesty's Consulate, New York, noting that Sophia Wright was still alive and in good health, residing in New York, 1840. 1821-1840. *15 items*.

Conservation note: copy of annuity is in fragile condition, torn along the original folds.

MS 41,146 /23

Legal cases and copies with lawyer's opinions regarding the settlement made on the marriage of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and the entailment and settlement of the Farnham estate on future generations after the death of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1822-1829. *13 items*. Conservation note: some of the manuscripts are torn along the original folds and require careful handling.

MS 41,146 /24

Letters to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron from John Litton, regarding legal matters and cases; including copy letter from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to Litton, 1825 June 11. Undated & 1823-1829, *15 items*.

MS 41,146 /25-26

Lawyers opinions, statements, reports, affidavits, accounts, correspondence and other legal material between Sir William Bellingham, John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and William Wynne, executor of the will of Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron, in relation to the sale of some of the Farnham estate lands in county Cavan pursuant to the wills of Robert and Barry, 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> Barons respectively. 1823-1832. *24 items in two folders*.

MS 41,146 /27

Letters to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron from John Fitzpatrick, regarding legal matters, including the title and settlement of the Maxwell family lands in counties Carlow and Wexford; mortgages, leases and bonds. 1823-1833. *21 items*.

MS 41,146 /28

Letters to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron from various persons, including Bundle & Ridges Jewellers, Robert Hamilton, J Driscoll, Charles Fox, Donovan & Walker, Richard Kerr, John Browne, Richard Down, William Farnan, Francis Walker, Major Woodward, J M A Hewitt, H Wynne, Montague Newland and James Colclough regarding legal and financial matters. 1823-1834. *29 items*.

MS 41,146 /29

Letters to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron from Horace Rochfort, J S Rochfort, Walter Hole and Thomas Baker regarding political matters namely the county Carlow election of 1830 and the county Wexford election, 1831. Also letters from Thomas Baker to Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron regarding payment of his expenses incurred during the county Wexford election. Letters from Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron and Thomas Baker to Charles Fox, regarding the same matter, with several copies of reply from Fox to Baker. 1823-1841. *18 items*.

MS 41,146 /30 Miscellaneous legal cases with lawyer's opinion concerning John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1824-1837. 7 items.

MS 41,146/31 Letters to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron from Nathaniel Montgomery, regarding the legal matter of leases and the building of Derryheen Church of Ireland, county Cavan. 1824-1836. *26 items*.

MS 41,146/32 Letters to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron and Charles Fox from John C Tatlow, his brother William Tatlow and Bridges & Masons, regarding interest payments on a bond, which their father had joined Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron in signing. 1824-1840. *16 items*.

MS 41,146/33 Grant to Elizabeth Kilroy, relict of Richard Kilroy from Standish O Grady, Chief Baron of Exchequer of Ireland of 'custody and farm of the lands of Kilnahard [parish of Ballymachugh] and Lisnabantry [parish of Killinkere] over and above the possession of George Wood. 1826 Mar. 13. 1 membrane with two seals attached.

MS 41,146/34 Post copy bill from Chancery between Nicholas Tickling and others and John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron relative to loans granted by Tickling and others to Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron. *circa* 1825, with associated bills of cost from John Steward, 1825 and from John Fitzpatrick, 1827. Also letter to Charles Fox from William Birchann representative of one John Moore, guarantor to Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron with Fox's reply. 1842. 5 items.

MS 41,146/35

Letters to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron from Sarsfield Colclough, B M Colclough, Mark Kerr and M Browne, concerning legal and financial matters on the Newtownbarry estate, county Wexford between the respective parties. Also bond for £550 from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to A Vesey Colclough, 1834; with warrants to satisfy bond from Queen's Bench and Common Pleas between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Sarsfield Colclough, 1839, 1825-1841. *11 items*.

MS 41,146/36 Notice to Edward Cottingham from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to renew leases on property in Cavan town. 1827. 2 *items*.

Legal cases and copies with opinion of A R Sidebottom and Richard Warren, and copies, regarding the surrendering and re-granting of leases on the Farnham estate; also regarding the abatements of rent granted by John James, 4<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1827-1836. *9 items*. Conservation note: some of the manuscripts are torn along the original folds.

Financial agreement between (1) John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron (2) George, Earl of Mountnorris and George Arthur, Viscount Valentia and (3) Sir Scrope Bernard Morland and Sir George Duckett regarding a loan of £200 to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1827 June 28. 2 *membranes*.

Legal instructions for deed of settlement of the Farnham estates pursuant to the will of Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron, with draft copies of deeds

MS 41,146 /39

MS 41,146 /37

MS 41,146 /38

87

of settlement and conveyance, between various parties including John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, Lord Clermont, Lord Valentia, Benjamin Blake Woodward, Earl of Shannon, John Godley, Rev Andrew McCreight and Barry Fox. 1828-1839. 8 items.

Conservation note: some of these manuscripts are in quite poor condition. Some are torn along their original folds they require careful handling.

MS 41,146 /40

Deed of settlement of Farnham estate in county Cavan between (1) William Charles, Viscount Clermont (2) John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron and Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron (3) William Wynne and Benjamin Blake Woodward and George Arthur Annesley, Viscount Valentia. Bargain and sale from parties (1-3) to party (4) in trust for the use of party (2). 1828 July 14. 8 *membranes*.

MS 41,146 /41

Lists of mortgages, settlements, bonds, judgements and other miscellaneous debts encumbering the Farnham estate. Undated, but most likely, *circa* 1830. *3 items*.

Conservation note: fragile condition, torn along the original folds, requiring careful handling.

MS 41,146 /42

Draft deed to trustees of schools and for the endowment of schools on the Farnham estate, with lawyer's opinion and observations relating to these deeds; also copy of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron's case respecting schoolmasters on the county Wexford estate with lawyer's opinion. *circa* 1830. 6 items.

MS 41,146 /43

Legal case concerning the sale of oak and sally bark from Dunaweel Wood, county Cavan with lawyer's opinion. 1832. 2 items.

**MS 5,010** 

Receipts for moneys paid by John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. Jan- May 1832. *I volume*.

MS 41,146 /44

Letters to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron from N Elwood regarding the payment of loan granted by Elwood to J B Maxwell, nephew of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1834-1838. Also letter from Maxwell to Elwood, 1824 and account of loan and interest due. 1838. *6 items*.

MS 41,146 /45

Letters to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron from D Campbell, Manager of the Provincial Bank of Ireland, Cavan regarding the lease and construction of the Presbyterian Church and a Bank House on Farnham Street, Cavan. 1835. *4 items*.

MS 41,146 /46

Bond and agreement between Matthew Vaughan, John McDoweal (sic) and John Donoho (sic) and John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to carry out repairs to Dunaweel Cottage, county Cavan; also another bond and agreement between Thomas Kemp, Thomas McDowell and George Kemp and John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to erect a forge and house for a blacksmith. 1835. 2 items.

MS 41,146 /47

Letters to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron from Nathaniel Montgomery regarding the Wilton and Murray families and the lease of the lands of

Tirourkan, parish of Annagelliff, county Cavan. 1836. 9 items.

MS 41,146 /48 Promissory notes from Benjamin Blake Woodward to John, 5<sup>th</sup>

Baron. Also receipts handed over by Woodward to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron in payment of loan. 1837-1838. Also letters to Major Woodward

from John Litton. 1825. 15 items.

MS 41,146 /49 Copy case on behalf of the Corporation of Cavan as submitted to

Richard W Greene Esq., and also copy of his opinion. 1838 June 23.

1 item.

Conservation note: parts of this manuscript are torn along the original folds.

MS 41,146 /50 Miscellaneous receipts received, in the settling of outstanding

accounts and interest payments on bonds, by Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron and Charles Fox, as executors of the will of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron.

1838-1840. 47 items.

# I.viii.5 Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron

Legal and financial papers including legal searches and lawyer's opinions with correspondence, relating to the various debts of Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron and the proposed methods for their payment, with material relating to his tenure as rector of Temple Michael, county Longford, Diocese of Ardagh. 1807- *circa* 1841. The manuscripts in this section have been arranged in a chronological manner.

MS 41,147 /1 Legal searches for Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron in courts of Common

Pleas, Exchequer and King's Bench and Prothonotary's Office

during the period 1790-1838. 29 items.

**D. 18,672** Sale between (1) William Molloy (2) Anne Darcy (3) Mary

Nugentand (4) John Ball, Philip Roche and Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron of lands in Lackan called Pilsworth, county Westmeath. 1794 Oct. 22.

2 membranes.

MS 41,147 /2 Deed of defeazance between Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron and John, 5<sup>th</sup>

Baron relating to the lands of Dungummin, parish of Kilbride and the lands of Knockanore, parish of Ballintemple, both in the barony

of Clanmahon, county Cavan. 1802 Dec. 9. 1 sheet.

MS 41,147/3 Correspondence, accounts and receipts relating to bonds granted to

Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron by, Richard Dempsey, Catherine Bail, Thomas Bleakley, Nelly Connor, Mary Temple, Anthony Kilroy, James Bennett, Catherine Corr. James Smith and William Read.

1805-1838. 27 items.

MS 41,147 /4-5 Correspondence and copies of letters between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and

Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron, regarding the lease of Fortland, county Cavan

and the pecuniary relationship between the two parties; also several lawyers opinions on the charging of a £4,000 mortgage on the settled Farnham estates; copy draft and copy bill of this matter between Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron and John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron in Court of Chancery, with a copy of John James, 4<sup>th</sup> Baron statement of the assets of Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath at the time of his death. 1807-1842 & undated. *29 items in two folders*. Conservation note: some of this material is torn and is fragile to handle.

MS 41,147 /6

Presentation of Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron to rectory of Temple Michael, county Longford, Dioceses of Ardagh, 1813 Oct. 28; also his title to this property, 1813 Nov. 26, and his assent and consent to conduct the services according to the rites of the established church of England and Ireland, 1813 Nov. 28. 2 membranes and 1 sheet. Conservation note: both of the membranes are torn and are in poor condition.

D. 18,648

Lease from Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron to William Johnston, of the lands of Clonmacnoise, Kings County. 1814 Apr. 14. *1 membrane*.

MS 41,147 /7

Correspondence, accounts, receipts and other legal papers of Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron from Dean Magenis, Rev Wynne, George Webb, William Birchann, Honor Washington. 1814-1832. *14 items*.

MS 41,147 /8

Account of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron, 1815-1821; also two duplicate copies of same, also cash account between the same parties, 1815-1822 and a General account between the same parties, 1836. *5 items*.

Conservation note: several of these manuscripts are difficult to open and are torn along the original folds.

MS 41,147 /9-11

Correspondence and accounts relating to bonds granted to Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron by various parties, including:

# /9

G Nicholson, Nathaniel & John Preston, Mrs. Stafford, James Wallace, William Glenton, Thomas McCann, William Love and Charles Hunt. 22 items.

## /10

James Baker, Molly McClean, John Corkedale, Edward Gibney, Terence Brady, Robert McCally, Lowry Heaslip, Stephen Major, J Moore, William Lahy, James Lahy, John Nesbitt and Margaret Reid. 25 items.

## /11

George Wilton, Thomas Lowe, William Johnston and Hugh Porter. 1815-1839. 28 items.

MS 41,147 /12

Bond of Attorney from Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, 1816 Aug. 21. Assignment of living of Temple Michael glebe lands from Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, 1817 Feb.12; also

copy draft deed between Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron and John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, 1819. *3 items*.

Conservation note: copy of draft deed is in poor condition and is torn in several parts.

MS 41,147 /13

Lawyers opinions and correspondence relating to the debts and post obit of Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron including, a statement of the debts of Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron, 1821 and 1827 (with proposals for the payment of those of the former year); account of Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron's post obits; also a bill of costs of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron relative to debts of Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron, undated. 1821-1829 & undated. 26 items.

MS 41,147 /14

Draft assignment of bond and judgement from Robert Fenwick and Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron to Robert Morris, with rough draft of same. Also letter from Fenwick to Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron detailing sale of bond. 1823. Assignment of judgement from James Clements to Mrs. Anne Lyons (from Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron). 1823 Dec. 17. Also correspondence from James Clements to John Fleming regarding assignment, 1841 and original bond between Clements and Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron. Another assignment of judgement from Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron to Simon Nicholls, 1832 July 1; another copy assignment from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron to Rev Charles Eustace, 1834 Nov. 8. 9 items.

MS 41,147 /15

Correspondence and accounts relating to a post obit bond granted to Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron by C S Baldwin. 1823-1840. *15 items*.

MS 41,147 /16

Correspondence from Archbishop of Tuam regarding non-residency of Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron at Temple Michael, county Longford and sequestration of these church lands in payment of debts, 1824-1831; also correspondence regarding bond between George Woods and Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron. Correspondence between Woods and John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and other parties regarding the payment of tithes of Temple Michael, county Longford, with account of Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron and June Woods relict of George Woods. 1824-1826. *18 items*.

MS 41,147 /17

Receipts and other miscellaneous papers relative to Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron and the settling of his affairs, including receipt for his funeral expenses, assignment of his life policy, his legacy duty. Also a bill of costs from Barlow and detail pertaining to amounts expended by various curates of Temple Michael, county Longford in the improvement of the property. 1828-1841. *19 items*.

MS 41,147 /18

Various papers relating to debts of Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron to Richard, Bishop of Waterford including a schedule of these debts. 1835. Also papers relating to the sequestration of the lands of Temple Michael, county Longford. 1831-1836 & undated. *10 items*.

MS 41,147 /19

Correspondence from H Cannan, Lawyer, Edinburgh, to Charles

Fox, regarding the payment of legal fees owed by Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron; also receipt for furniture hired by Lady Anne Maxwell while in Edinburgh, *circa* 1831. 1831-1841. *5 items*.

# MS 41,147 /20-21

Correspondence including receipts to Charles Fox and Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron in settling the financial affairs of Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron, including his debts and bonds from:

# /20

Nicholas Padwick, William Birchann, T Drummond, Rev Thomas Harpendale, wife of Edward Conway and executors of George Werner. 19 items.

## /21

John McClelland, John Allen, Walker & Colthurst, John A Smith, John Jones, Miss E J Sandes, Miss Lindsay, Mrs Hawthorne, Freake, Borough, Arnuit & Co and Charles King. 1834-1841. 27 *items*.

MS 41,147 /22

Legal papers including drafts and copies of affidavits between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron regarding the latter's debts to Richard, Bishop of Waterford. 1835. *17 items*.

MS 41,147 /23

Common Pleas, Brief on behalf of the plaintiff John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to shew cause against the within conditional order. 1835 Nov. 25. Two copies containing the opinions of T B Smith and Joseph Stock. Also King's Bench, John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron against Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1836 Feb. 6. *3 items*.

MS 41,147 /24

Correspondence and copy letters relating to the sequestration of the glebe lands of Temple Michael, county Longford and the distrainment of goods from it. Also correspondence from Edward Stoppford to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron regarding the lease of church lands in county Cavan. 1836. *27 items*.

MS 41,147 /25

Copy affidavit, order, consent and awards between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1836 Jan.-June. 7 *items*.

MS 41,147 /26

Lawyers opinion, copy affidavits and notices relating to the sequestration of the glebe lands of Temple Michael, county Longford and the distrainment of goods from it. 1836 & undated. 24 items.

Conservation note: some of the items are torn.

MS 41,147 /27

Letters from the Archbishop of Tuam to Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron, Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron and Charles Fox relating to the glebe lands of Temple Michael, county Longford. 1838. *4 items*.

MS 41,147 /28

Draft copy of prerogative of Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron, deceased in testate. Renunciation and consent of his children in granting estate

# I.viii.6 Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron

MS 41,148 /1 Indenture from John Hassard, High Sheriff of county Cavan and

several freeholders, electing Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron as MP for county

Cavan, 1824 Feb. 24. 1 membrane.

MS 41,148 /2 County Cavan Commission of the Peace for Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron, 1824

Oct. 24. 1 membrane.

**MS 19,117-19,123** Cash books of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron, between Nov. 1833-Oct.1834,

Nov. 1835-Oct. 1837, Nov. 1838-July 1840 and 1843 and 1849. 7

volumes.

MS 41,148/3 Bills of legal costs of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron from Ager & Birchann,

1834-1841; from Gregory, Faulkner, Gregory & Skirrow, 1849-1850 and from James and John Armstrong, 1851-1862. *3 items*.

MS 18,627 /1-2 Tradesmen's and other bills with receipts to Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron. Dec.

1839-Jan. 1839. circa 60 items in 2 folders.

MS 41,148 /4 Legal cases with lawyer's opinion regarding the improvement of the

navigation of the river Erne above Belturbet and the ancillary drainage works. 1841-1843. Legal cases with lawyer's opinion regarding the raising of a mortgage and charge on the Farnham estate. Also deed of rent charge on part of the Farnham estate from Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron to James Pierce, 9<sup>th</sup>. July 5 1842, and another deed of rent charge between the same parties, 1843 Feb.1. 1842-1846. *6* 

items.

MS 41,148 /5 Invitation to Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron from the High Sheriff of county

Cavan to attend a dinner, 1852; letter from S J Jackson of Gildea & Jackson to R M McClintock, 1855 and printed references for Mr. William Griffin, Parish Clerk and School Master and Mrs. Griffin,

Teacher, 1864. 3 items.

MS 41,148 /6 Lawyer's opinion regarding the lease of Derryheen, parish of

Urney, with correspondence from James Armstrong and Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron to Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron regarding same. 1864. *3* 

items.

# I.viii.7 Anna, Lady Farnham (wife of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron)

**MS 19,124-19,127** Cash books of Anna, Lady Farnham, between Dec. 1828 – Oct.

1832. 4 volumes.

# I.viii.8 Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron and James Pierce, 9<sup>th</sup> Baron

MS 41,149 /1

Legal papers and correspondence relative to the purchase of the church land of Lisduff, parish of Ballymachugh, barony of Clanmahon. Including letters from Joseph McGuire to William Gosselin and John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron regarding the renewal fines payable on the lease of the lands, 1829-1836. Also letter from William Fenner, Solicitor, Ecclesiastical Commissioners of Ireland, (ECI) to Charles Fox, regarding the deed of conveyance of the perpetuity of the lands of Lisduff, 1842. Various certificates and agreements between ECI and Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron in conducting the sale and transfer of Lisduff. 1840-1841. Also costs of conveyance of this land to Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron from McCausland & Fetherstone, with receipt for payment of amount, 1840. *12 items*.

MS 41,149 /2

Miscellaneous legal papers including: a statement by Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron as executor of will of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, 1841; particulars of a sum due for principal interest and costs on foot of a judgement for £2,000 obtained in King's Bench in Hilary Term 1830, also a list of documents handed over to Charles Fox for Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron on payment of the judgement and costs of assignment of judgement from Pentland & Pritcher, 1842. Also letters from Pentland & Pritcher to Charles Fox, regarding the assignment, 1842. Original ejectment for non-payment of rent from Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron against Reps of Thomas Letoler *et al*, county Wexford, 1849. 8 *items*.

MS 41,149 /3

Proposal, with outline map from Robert Ladley to Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron to become tenant of part of the lands of Drumconnick, parish of Urney, 1871 Mar. 13; also memorandum of agreement between Thomas Nolan and Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron, regarding Nolan's leasing of the lands of Edermin, parish of Urney, 1871 Mar. 13. Letter from William McLoughlin to Archiblad Godley, detailing how he held his house in the townland of Gartbrattan, parish of Kilmore. 1878 June 29. Undertaking by Eliza Humphrey's to give up possession of house in Derryheen, parish of Urney, county Cavan when required. 1878 Oct. 22. *4 items*.

MS 41,149 /4

Deed of mortgage and covenant between (1) Matthew Weld O Connor (2) Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron *et al* and (3) Sir R Duckworth *et al* on behalf of the Provident Institution for Life Insurance, detailing how Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron acted as surety for the mortgage. 1880 June 14. Also receipt showing payments made by O'Connor, 1886 and letter from B Whitney to James Pierce, 9<sup>th</sup> Baron regarding the mortgage. 1887 Jan. 29. *3 items*.

MS 41,149 /5

Proposal by Samuel Patrick to James Pierce, 9<sup>th</sup> Baron to become

tenant of part of the lands of Drumkilroosk, parish of Killashandra. 1885 Oct. 24. Memorandum of agreement between James Pierce, 9<sup>th</sup> Baron and William Hewitt, regarding Hewitt's lease of a house in Drumconnick, parish of Urney, 1887 Aug. 6. 2 *items*.

# I.viii.9 Arthur Kenlis, 11th Baron

MS 41,150

Bank accounts of Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron with the Provincial Bank of Ireland. May 1913-June 1914 and June 1914-Dec. 1915. *Two volumes*.

# I.viii.10 Aileen, Lady Farnham (wife of Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron)

MS 18,628

Tradesmen's and other bills, with several receipts to Aileen, Lady Farnham. 1912-1920. 23 items.

# I.viii.11 Miscellaneous cases and papers

**MS 11,495** 

Various documents relating to law cases concerning Farnham estate properties. 1719- 1892. Including:

- (1): A list detailing marriages and baptisms of members of the Maxwell family. 1719-1767. *1 item*.
- (2): Declaration of trust between Henry Meredyth and John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron. 1743. *1 item*.
- (3): Warrant of attorney to Marlborough Sterling to enter judgement on behalf of John Sterling. 1743. *1 item*.
- (4): Cases relating to the lands of Carrickclevan, parish of Ballintemple, barony of Clanmahon and Carrickeeshill, parish of Killinkere, barony of Castlerahan. 1758-1767. *4 items*.
- (5): Certificate of satisfaction being acknowledged in case at the suit of Charles Walker against John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron. 1760. *1 item*.
- **(6):** Bonds, agreements and judgements between Henry Meredyth, Andrew Stone, Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron *et al*, including deeds of assignement of judgements from Robert Cunningham to Andrew Stone, and Margery Crowe to Andrew Stone, both dated 14 Nov. 1779, amounting to some £12, 666. 1763-1779. 2 *membranes* and 6 *sheets in two covers*.

- (7): Case of Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron regarding lands securing mortgage, with opinion of Philip Tisdall. 16 Mar. 1767. *1 item*
- (8): Bond between Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron and Andrew Stone. 1773. *1 item*.
- (9): Case regarding the sale of the Moynalty estate, county Meath; with a copy of Councillor Burstons opinion respecting the Monalty and Cavan estates intended to be sold. 1787. *1 item*.
- (10): Case for the opinion of Luke Fox, concerning Lisnamaine estate. 20 May 1791. *1 item*.
- (11): Statement by John James, 4<sup>th</sup> Baron of the assets of Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath. [Undated, *circa* 1798]. *1 item*.
- (12): A list of debts and charges affecting the estates of Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1805-1842. *I item*.
- (13): Undertakings by tenants Robert Magill and William H White not to commit waste or cut turf for sale, respectively. 1891-1892. 2 *items*.

Conservation note: some of these manuscripts are in quite fragile condition and require careful handling.

# I.viii.12 Wills, copy wills and other testamentary material

MS 41,151 /1	Of Bishop Robert Maxwell. 1672 Sept. 9. 1 membrane.
D. 20,438	Copy will of John Maxwell. 1713 Jan. 8. 1 sheet.
MS 41,151 /1	Of James Barry. 1725 April 10. 1 sheet.
D. 20,451	Of Edward Sterling of Garryross, barony of Castlerahan, county Cavan. 1757 June 23. <i>1 sheet</i> .
D. 20,453	Copy will of John, 1 <sup>st</sup> Baron. 1759 July 27. 1 item.
D. 20,454	Copy will of John, 1 <sup>st</sup> Baron. 1759 July 27. <i>3 items</i> . Conservation note: several of these manuscripts are in a fragile condition and require careful handling.
D. 20,455	Copy will of John, 1 <sup>st</sup> Baron, with codicil. 1759 July 31. <i>1 item</i> .
D. 20,456	Copy will of Mary Carmichael. 1764 Oct. 23. 1 item.
D. 20,457	Copy will of Judith, Lady Farnham (wife of John, 1 <sup>st</sup> Baron). 1769 May 30. <i>1 item</i> .

requires careful handling. D. 20,458 Codicil to the will of Judith, Lady Farnham. 1770 May 30. 1 item. D. 20,459 Codicil to the will of Judith, Lady Farnham. 1770 May 30. 1 item. D. 20,460 Copy will of Judith, Lady Farnham, with probate. 1775 Feb. 16. 1 item. Conservation note: manuscript is in quite poor condition, with several tears along the original folds, requires careful handling. Codicil to the will of Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron. 1778 Oct. 8. 2 sheets. D. 20,461 Draft of will of Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron, by Theobald Wolfe. 1779 Apr. 8. D. 20,462 1 item. Conservation note: manuscript is in quite poor condition, with several tears along the original folds, requires careful handling. Of Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron. 1779 April 12. 1 item; with duplicate copy of MS 41,151 /2 same. Copy will of Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron. 1798 Sept. 29. 1 item. D. 20,463 MS 41,151 /2 Of Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath. 1798 Dec. 1. 1 item. D. 20,464 Copy of will (1801 Apr. 21) and probate (1803 Jan. 19) of Rev James Cottingham. 1 item. D. 20,466 Query on the will of Judith, Lady Farnham (wife of John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron). 1823 Nov. 9. 1 sheet. Copy will of Thomas Wilton. 1827 Jan. 28. 1 item. D. 20,467 D. 20,468 Copy will of the Right Hon. Edward Southwell, Viscount Bangor. 1837 July 17. 1 item. D. 20,469 Two documents relating to the Stamp Duty on the legacy of the

Conservation note: this manuscript has several tears along the original folds and

# I.viii.13 Executors' receipts

sheets.

MS 41,152/1 Receipts received, for the payment of interest by J Mitchell on behalf of Edward, Viscount Bangor. 1837. 25 items.

Right Hon. Edward Southwell, Viscount Bangor. 1839 July 23. 2

MS 41,152 /2 Receipts received, for subscriptions and donations; general disbursement and private disbursement by J Mitchell and other employees of Edward, Viscount Bangor. 1837. 32 items.

MS 41,152 /3 Receipts received, for payments to Lady Bangor, John Beattie and William Hutchinson and for seed and lime by J Mitchell and other employees of Edward, Viscount Bangor. 1837. 16 items. MS 41,152 /4 Statement of Lord Bangor's account 1836-1837; also a statement of the improvements made to Lord Bangor's affairs since they were committed to Mr. Blacker's management, 1838; with an abstract of the trustees of Lord Bangor with Mr. Blacker, 1837-1838. 3 items. MS 41,152 /5 Miscellaneous receipts and correspondence relating to payments made by the executors of the will of Edward, Viscount Bangor. 1837-1839. 34 items. Miscellaneous receipts received, in the settling of outstanding MS 41,152 /6 accounts by Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron, as executor of the will of Edward, Viscount Bangor. 1837-1838. 35 items. Receipts received, for the payment of interest by Somerset Richard, MS 41,152 /7 8<sup>th</sup> Baron, as executor of the will of Edward, Viscount Bangor. 1837-1838. 36 items. Receipts received, for general disbursements by Somerset Richard, MS 41,152 /8 8<sup>th</sup> Baron, as executor of the will of Edward, Viscount Bangor. 1837-1838. 34 items. MS 41,152 /9 Receipts received, for subscriptions and donations by Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron, as executor of the will of Edward, Viscount Bangor. 1837-1838. 13 items. Receipts received, for lime, seeds and from John Beattie by MS 41,152 /10 Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron, as executor of the will of Edward, Viscount Bangor. 1837-1838. 10 items. MS 41,152 /11-13 Account of debts and securities paid off by R Binney; amounts paid by executors of Lord Bangor to Mr Blacker; and amounts of principal money paid off; with duplicate copy of same. 1838-1839. Also accounts, receipts and vouchers for these payments. 1838-1840; with original covers of documents, addressed to Charles Fox. 48 items in three folders.

# I.viii.14 Insurance policies

MS 41,152 /14

MS 41,153 /1 Fire policy for Farnham House from Royal Exchange Assurance. 1824 Mar. 25. Also, another fire policy for Farnham House from the Liverpool & London & Globe Insurance Co. 1870 Oct. 21. 2 sheets.

of Edward, Viscount Bangor. 1839. 2 items.

Residuary account from Stamp Office, Dublin relating to the estate

MS 41,153 /2

Fire policy for Ardlougher Barracks, parish of Kildallan from Royal Exchange Assurance. 1904 Sept. 28. Another fire policy for Nugent Humphreys for Ballyhaise House and other buildings in the village of Ballyhaise from Royal Exchange Assurance. 1915 Oct. 19. Also, fire policy for Farnham House and the various demesne buildings from Royal Exchange Assurance, with an inventory of these buildings and some of their more valueable contents. 1910 Sept. 29. 8 sheets, one housed in an envelope.

# II Estate Papers

This sub group of manuscripts is divided into five sections, namely, rentals and rent rolls, accounts, maps and survey, material relating to tenants and miscellaneous estate papers. These manuscripts contain detail pertaining to the rental income generated by the estate during the period 1699 to 1897. The Maxwell family estates in counties Cavan, Wexford and Carlow are represented within the rentals, however detailed coverage is restricted to two specific periods namely 1800-1808 and 1841-1848. Estate and demesne accounts are most detailed for the period 1841-1842 and 1845-1847. Maps and surveys provide a unique cartographic source in illustrating the tenanted estate. [See below]. Some aspects of the landlord tenant relationship on the Farnham estate during the nineteenth century maybe gleaned from MS 3,117-3,118. Comprised of two bound volumes these detail tenant applications to the 5<sup>th</sup>, 6<sup>th</sup> and 7<sup>th</sup> Barons Farnham during the period 1832 to 1860, and their responses to these requests.

# II.i Rentals and Rent Rolls

MS 11,491

Rent rolls, rentals, valuations and surveys from various lands comprising the landholdings of the Maxwell family (Barons Farnham) in county Cavan. 1699-1823 & undated. Including:

- (1): Rent Roll of Pladwells [Plydells] part of Lisnamane [Lisnamaine], setting from 1699. *1 item*.
- (2): A list of the estate of Ms Jane Culme with 'the number of acres, there quality on every pole, tate and townland according to Irish Plantation, surveyed in 1713 by Josiah Shadwell'. *1 item*.
- (3): Mr Magrahs return of Lisnamaine estate, Feb. 1715. 1 item.
- (4): A rent roll for the Lisnamaine estate for half year ending Nov. 1715; with another copy of same. 2 *items*.
- (5): A rent roll of the Farnham and Munally estates for Nov. 1717. *1 item.*
- (6): A rent roll of the Massareene estate for one year ending May

- 1718. 1 item.
- (7): A rent roll of the Lisnamaine estate for half year ending Nov. 1718. *1 item*.
- (8): A list of tenants including the name and extent of their landholding; the annual rent and fees due with a list of observations detailing clauses within the leases for the Massareene estate, 1719-1786. 6 items.
- (9): A rent roll of the Massareene estate for one year ending May 1720. *1 item*.
- (10): Valuation of Massareene estate lands. [Undated, *circa* 1720]. *l item.*
- (11): Mr Hamilton's Valuation and rent roll of the Lisnamaine estate. [Undated, *circa* 1720]. *1 item*.
- (12): A rent roll of estate purchased from my Lord Massareene for one year as last set and may be improved; with survey and valuation of Massareene estate lands. [Undated, *circa* 1720]. 2 items.
- (13): Computation of rental income from the Lisnamaine and Massareene estates. [Undated, *circa* 1720]. *2 items*.
- (14): A rent roll for the Massareene estate for Nov. 1728. 1 item.
- (15): A rent roll of the Farnham and Massareene estates for a half year ending May 1734. *1 item*.
- (16): A list of tenants including the name and extent of their landholding; the annual rent and fees due with a list of observations detailing clauses within the leases for the Abbey Lands estate, 1737-1786. 5 items.
- (17): A list of leases on various rural landholdings and in Cavan town, 1737-1814. *I item*.
- (18): Total rental income from the several estates comprising the property of the Maxwell family (Barons Farnham) in county Cavan for the half year ending Nov. 1760 as received by William Elliott. *I item*.
- (19): A rent roll of part of the Earl of Farnham's estate in the county of Cavan to be sold pursuant to the will of Robert, late Earl of Farnham, *circa* 1799. *1 item*.
- (20): A rental of part of the lands of Killicar, Drumasladdy, Feugh,

Derryhoo, Corryrourke, Curraghabreedin, Cormeen, Freeduff, Ardlougher Mill and Drumderg, in various parishes, county Cavan, included in a legal case between Bellingham and John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1823 Aug. 27, with copy of same. *2 items*.

Conservation note: these fragile manuscripts require careful handling many are torn along the original folds.

MS 5,504-5,506

Rent cash books relating to the Newtownbarry estate, county Wexford. 1774-1806 & 1841. 3 volumes.

**MS 13,340** 

Rent roll of lands in Cavan settled on Mrs Anne Saunderson, 1779; with State of title of Francis Saunderson to lands in Cavan *circa* 1779 and account of legal costs of Anna, Lady Farnham, Feb. 1852. *3 sheets*.

MS 41,154 /1

A printed rent roll, "of part of the Earl of Farnham's estates in the county of Cavan, to be sold pursuant to the will of Robert, late Earl of Farnham. Undated, but most likely *circa* 1799. Also abstract between John Elliott, Farnham estate agent and John James, 4<sup>th</sup> Baron relating to the rental income from the lands of Cormeen and Claddagh, parish of Castlerahan; Corryrourke, parish of Mullagh and Greaghadossan and Tievenaman, parish of Killinkere all in the barony of Castlerahan and Gortnamragher (sic) for the period ending, 1 Nov. 1799. 2 *items*.

MS 41,154 /2-10

Abstracts compiled by John Elliott, agent for John James, 4<sup>th</sup> Baron detailing the rental income from the Farnham, Massareene, Hampson, Lisnamaine, Cavan town: Somerville, Barry and Abbey, Carmichael, 2<sup>nd</sup> Purchase of Carmichael lands, Crane of Cavan, Customs of Cavan and Belturbet estates, all located in county Cavan, including in tabulated form detail of the rental arrears due at the start of each period; rent due; total of arrears and rent due; sums received; arrears at the end of the period and observations; with a list of rental arrears and by whom owed. Also income and expenditure accounts for the entire property for each of the periods as listed below.

/2

For the half-year ending 1 May 1800 and 1 Nov. 1800. 2 items.

/3

For the half-year ending 1 May 1801. 1 item.

/4

For the half-year ending 1 May 1802 and 1 Nov. 1802. 2 items.

/5

For the half-year ending 1 May 1803, with account of John Elliott at 31 Oct. 1803. 2 items.

#### /6

For the half-year ending 1 May 1804 and 1 Nov. 1804. 2 items.

#### /7

For the half-year ending 1 May 1805 and 1 Nov. 1805. 2 items.

#### /8

For the half-year ending 1 May 1806 and 1 Nov. 1806. 2 items.

#### /9

For the half-year ending 1 May 1807 and 1 Nov. 1807. 2 items.

## **/10**

For the half-year ending 1 May 1808, with observations for 1814 Dec. 12. Also vellum cover. *3 items*.

Conservation note: some of these manuscripts are torn along the original folds and are fragile, requiring careful handling.

MS 3,133 Rental of the Newtownbarry estate of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron in counties Wexford and Carlow, 1818-1830.

Conservation note: label on packing box states that these manuscripts should not be issued under any circumstances.

MS 3,502 Rental of the Farnham estates in county Cavan, in the barony of Forth, county Carlow and in the barony of Scarawalsh, county Wexford. Undated, but most likely *circa* 1820. *1 volume*.

MS 41,154/11 Observations for filling the Fortland rental, with some observations. Undated, but most likely mid 1820s. Rental of the Carlow and Wexford estates belonging to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, including the names of tenants, name and extent of lands held by them; yearly rent; date of lease and tenure. 1822. Also rudimentary overall rental of the Cavan, Carlow and Wexford estates, 1826 Apr. 27. 3 items.

MS 41,154/12 Rental arrears due on the Farnham estate at Nov. 1836, with remarks and explanation of arrears; with a list of arrears due from the Irish rental for the same period. 4 items.

MS 41,154/13 Rental arrears due on the Farnham estate at May 1837, with remarks on arrears due; with a list of arrears due from the English rental for the same period. *3 items*.

MS 41,154/14 Rentals of Lavagh, Lisduff and part of Fortland demesne, parish of Ballymachugh, barony of Clanmahon. *circa* 1839. Also rental and valuation of the same lands by Paget & Babington. Undated, but most likely *circa* 1839. 2 *items*.

**MS 5,012** Rentals of the estates of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron, in county Cavan, 1841-1848. *I volume*.

MS 18,624 Arrears due on the Farnham estate. Including tenants names,

townlands and amounts, with a memorandum from Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron to Abraham Brush, agent. Nov 1842 & May 1843. 2 *items*.

**MS 3,134** 

Incumbered Estates Court Rental of the Newtownbarry estate county Wexford including lands in the barony of Forth, county Carlow. Title on cover reads, 'Rental of Samuel Ashton Esq'. *circa* 1854. *I volume*.

MS 5,013

Rental of the estates of Somerset Henry, 10<sup>th</sup> Baron in county Cavan. 1897. *1 item*.

# II.ii Accounts

MS 11,492

Farm, household and other accounts of the Farnham estates, county Cavan. 1734-1862. Including:

(1): John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron in account with Archdeacon Dr Sneyd. 1734. *1 item.* 

(2): Abstract of the recorded debts of Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron to Nov. 1815. *I item*.

(3): Rev Henry,  $6^{th}$  Baron recorded debts according to priority. 1816-1827. *1 item*.

**(4):** Interest and annuities, insurances, rents and private accounts, Apr. 1817- July 1825. *3 items*.

(5): Arrangement between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron on claim of latter on the Fortland estate. [Undated, *circa* 1820]. *1 item*.

(6): Bonds and debts of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. [Undated, *circa* 1820]. 2 items.

(7): Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron's debts as classified by John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. [Undated, *circa* 1825]. 2 *items*.

(8): Financial arrangements between John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron and Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron; with a list of judgements from the Courts of Exchequer, Common Pleas and Kings Bench. [Undated, *circa* 1825]. 2 *items*.

(9): Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron's Irish debts. 1827. *1 item*.

(10): Judgements against Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron to Easter 1827. *1 item*.

(11): Ferguson's Account for the period ending 30 June 1838. 10 items.

(12): Secretary's account for the period ending 30 June 1838. 10 items.

(13): Charity account for the period ending 30 June 1838. 9 items.

(14): Moral Agency account for the period ending 30 June 1838. 8 *items*.

(15): Steward's account for the period ending 30 June 1838. 7 *items*.

(16): Rev Charles Eustace in account with Archibald Rosser, Oct. 1838- May 1839, with a letter from Charles Fox to Rosser, 9 Nov. 1839, also a reply from Rosser to Fox, 11 Nov. 1839. 2 *items*.

(17): Expense of deepening and widening an outfall between the estates of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and Count Nugent. By Robert Stratford. June 1862. *1 item*.

MS 18,622

Account of expenditure by Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron, on Drumbar Lodge, county Cavan between 1839 and 1840. 1840 Nov. 15. *I sheet*.

**MS 18,619** 

Account of A. Brush, agent for Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron, for half year ending 31 Dec. 1840, comprising rents due Nov. 1839 and May 1840. *I sheet*.

MS 18,625

Farnham estate and household accounts including those for gardeners; stewards; servants; subscriptions; law expenses; insurance; school expenses; interest; allowances in rent; lodgements of rent; charities; rent charges; contracts; house expenses; county cess and poor rate and miscellaneous bills. *circa* 1842. *12 items*.

MS 18,623

Abstract of agents account, Farnham estate. 1842. 1 sheet.

MS 18,620/1-2

Accounts of A. Brush, agent for Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron, for half year ending 30 June 1843, comprising rents due 1 May 1842 to 1 Nov. 1842. Including the following accounts:

#### /1

Arrears due Nov. 1841; arrears due May 1842; cash received for timber sold; cash received for farming produce and stock; cash received for grazing; cottiers rents not included in rental; cash received for school requisites; cash received for sales by inspectors; cash received in repayment for cost of ejectment; renewal fines; cash received for fines; overpayments; lodgements in bank; rents; interest; cess and poor rate; servants wages; stamps; stipends and rent charges. 21 items.

# 2/

Cash paid to steward on account of labour and bills; sundries; salaries to schoolmasters; sundry expenses of schools; sundry expenses of house; charities; allowances to tenants for plantations; allowance to tenants for abatements; road contracts; Farnham garden; salaries paid to inspectors; cash paid for stock; arrears due May 1842 and arrears due Nov. 1842. *14 items*.

# MS 18,626/ 1-2

Farnham estate and household accounts, 1845. Including those for:

#### /1

Stewards; gardeners; cattle; school expenses; charities; rent; rent charge; county charges and contracts. *9 items*.

#### /2

Sundry estate expenses; allowances in rent; salaries of agent and inspectors; law expenses; subscriptions; servants wages; house keeping; insurance; interest; lodgements to bank and an index. 11 items.

# MS 18,621/1-2

Accounts of A. Brush, agent for Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron, for half year ending 31 Jan 1848, comprising rents due Nov. 1846 and May 1847. Including the following accounts:

## /1

Arrears due May 1846; arrears due Nov. 1846; cash received for timber sold; farming produce and stock; cash received for grazing; cash received for cottiers rents; school requisites; cash received in repayment for cost of ejectment; cash received for meat sold to labourers; overpayments; lodgements in bank; rents; interest and annuities; cess and poor rate; servants wages; stamps; stipends; rent charges; sundries and salaries paid to schoolmasters. 21 items.

## /2

Sundry expenses of schools; charities; allowances to tenants for plantations; allowance to tenants for abatements; allowance to tenants for loss of potato crop; road contracts and deer park wall; salaries paid to inspectors; stock and farming produce; bills for Farnham; carriage of parcels; cash paid for meat for labourers; Stewards accounts for carriage of parcels; for bricks, lime and sand; for nails; for oils and paints; for turf; for labourers and tradesmen; for farming seeds and for sundries. Gardener's accounts for glass; for bricks, lime and sand; for carriage of parcels; for labourers and tradesmen; for nails; for sundries; arrears due Nov. 1846 and May 1847 and insolvent arrears. 27 items.

# II.iii Maps and Surveys

These maps and surveys detail parts of the rural and urban estates of the Barons Farnham in county Cavan. Covering the period 1723- 1919 they have been compiled by the following cartographers and surveyors: R W Atcheson, John Bell, James Benister, Robert Benister, James Brady, James Campbell, Francis Elliott, George Frazer, James Grier, James Kilroy, Owen Lynch, Andrew Marks, James Meikle, William McCawley, James McCollum, James A McCollum, James Norris, Oliver Nugent, John Piers, Patrick Smith, Robert Stratford, Richard Strong (after 1875 Stronge), Robert Henry Stronge, R T Wellwood and James Workman. Ancillary correspondence, reports, memorandums and valuations provide information relating to tenants and leases. Several of the maps relate to the distribution of tenanted lands by the Irish Land Commission in the early twentieth century.

There is a total of 248 maps, relating to seven estates. The estates and their maps and related material are listed as follows:

Carmichael estate: 21.F.115/38

21.F.117/34

21.F.118/ 1-4, 7-17, 22-25, 27-35, 37-39 & 43-54.

**Cavan town estate**: 21.F.119/15-24

21.F.120/18-20.

**Dunsany/Fortland estate**: 21.F.117/4.

**Farnham estate**: 21.F.117/ 25-28 & 30

21.F.119/ 2-5, 7-14, 25-31, 34-40 & 43-54

21.F.120/ 3-17 & 21-39.

**Hampson estate**: 21.F.116/43

21.F.117/5-6 & 13-15.

Lisnamaine estate: 21.F.116/44

21.F.118/26, 36, 40-41

21.F.119/ 1, 6, 32-33, & 41-42

21.F.120/ 1.

**Massareene estate**: 21.F.115/ 1-37 & 39-63

21.F.116/ 1-42 & 45-66

21.F.117/ 1-3, 7-10, 12, 16-24, 29, 31-33 & 35-39

21.F.118/ 5-6 & 18-21

21.F.120/40.

## 21. F. 115/ 1-63 /1

[A map of Carickahishill [Carrickeeshill, parish of Killinkere] and Lurganure [Lurgananure, parish of Killinkere]]. Surveyed in April 1724 by Oliver Nugent and John Bell. Scale 40 [to an inch].

# /2

A map of Carickahishill [Carrickeeshill] & Lurganure [Lurgananure] according to the present mares and bounds, for ascertaining Mr Maxwell's and Mr Coot's parts. Surveyed in April 1724 retrencht at the instance of the honble Charles Coote Esq. and Counsellor John Maxwell. By Oliver Nugent and John Bell. Scale 40 [to an inch].

## /3

A map of Carickahishill [Carrickeeshill] according to the present mares and bounds. Surveyed in April 1724 and retrencht at the instance of the Honrble Charles Coote and Counsellor John Maxwell. By Oliver Nugent and John Bell. Scale 40 [to an inch].

## /4

Copy of a Map of the Lands of Carrickahishal [Carrickeeshill]. Surveyed in 1724 by John Bell and Oliver Nugent Enlarged from a Scale of 40 perches to a Scale of 20 to an Inch in 1796 by John Piers.

#### /5

Archibald McMichael's holding in Carn [parish of Castlerahan]. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1861 Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /6

Thomas Coote's holding in Carn. By Richard Stronge 1875. Scale of 20 perches to one inch.

#### /7

Random sketch shewing the Situation of part of the Lands of Killefinlagh [Killyfinla, parish of Castlerahan] part of the Estate of Lord Farnham, county Cavan. [Undated].

#### /8

Letter from John Hogg, Carne [Carn] to A Beatt, regarding the occupation of lands, most likely those of Carn. 22 Sept. 1896.

## /9

[Map of] Carn. [Undated].

# **/10**

Sketch Map of Carnagh Lower [parish of Drumlumman] Part of The Right Honourable Lord Farnham's Estate. Surveyed by Richard Strong, March 1860. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## 21. F. 115 /11

Survey of Carnah [Carnagh Lower]. [By] Richard Strong. 10 April 1860. [Without map].

#### /12

[Extract from Ordnance Survey Sheet No. 36, county Cavan showing Patrick Donohoe's holding in Carnagh Lower as delimited by the Irish Land Commission. September 1907].

## /13

Thomas Clarke's holding in Carricknaveigh [Carricknaveagh, parish of Killinkere]. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1864. Scale 16 perches to one inch.

#### /14

[Sketch map of Carricknavea [Carricknaveagh]]. [Undated].

#### /15

Letter from James Clarke, Gola [parish of Killinkere] to an unidentified person, regarding payment of rent and his desire to get a piece of bog, in the Red Bog. [Undated]. Also memorandum from R H Stronge to T R Blackley, regarding Carricknaveagh bog. 3 June 1920.

## /16

Samuel Kennedys holding in Claudaugh [Claddagh, parish of Castlerahan]. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1859. Scale of 20 perches to one inch.

## **/17**

Part of Claddagh. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1860. Scale of 20 perches to one inch.

## /18

John Byer's Holding in Claddagh. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1862. Scale of 20 perches to one inch.

#### /19

Part of Claddagh. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1864. Scale of 16 perches to one inch.

## /20

George Freeland's holding in Claddagh. By Richard Stronge 1880. Scale of 20 perches to one inch.

# /21

Sketch map of Part of the Townland of Clare, [parish of Crosserlough]. Surveyed 1841 By Robert Benister. Scale of 20 perches [to one inch].

Part of the Townland of Clare Laid out in New Lines by Abraham Brush Esq. February 1841. [Surveyed by Robert Benister].

## /23

A survey of Part of The Townland of Clare. Apr. 1846. Scale of 20 perches to one inch.

## /24

Part of John Morrow's Holding in Clare. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1862. Scale of 16 perches to one inch.

## /25

Robert Stephens and Richard Johnston's holdings in Clare. By Richard Strong 1872. Scale of 20 perches to one inch.

## /26

William Morrow's Cutaway bog in Clare. By Richard Stronge 1876. Scale of 20 Irish perches to one inch.

# /27

James Love's holding in Clare. By Richard Stronge 1883. Scale 6 inches to one statute mile.

## /28

John Coote's holding in Clare. By Richard Stronge 1882. Scale of 20 perches to one inch.

# /29

Francis Porterfield's holding in Clare. By Richard Stronge 1891. Scale of 20 Irish perches to one inch.

# /30

Memorandum detailing several tenants and occupants of the townland of Clare. *circa* 1905.

# /31

[Extract from Ordnance Survey Sheet No. 38, county Cavan showing Francis Porterfield's holding in Clare as delimited by the Irish Land Commission. *circa* 1905.]

## /32

James Rosse's holding in Cliffin [Cleffin, parish of Killinkere]. By Richard Stronge 1882. Scale of 20 perches to one inch.

# /33

Parts taken from Lord's holding in Cliffin [Cleffin] by R S [Richard Stronge]. 1878. Scale of 20 perches to one inch.

Map of part of the townland of Cleffin, the Estate of Lord Farnham, Showing the farms occupied by Geo. Lundie. [By] George Frazer, 3 Jan. 1888. Scale of 18 inches to one Statute Mile.

# /35

Mr. Lundie's Farms in Cleffin. [Undated]. Scale of 18 inches to one Statute Mile.

# /36

Part of Curnacreeve [Cornacreeve, parish of Castlerahan]. By Richard Stronge 1887. Scale of 20 perches to one inch.

# /37

Memorandum noting the names of several tenants and the extent of their holdings in Cornacreeve. [Undated].

## /38

[Map of] Cornacrum [parish of Kildallan]. By [Robert] Benister, 1841. Scale of 20 perches [to an inch].

# /39

[Part of sketch of Cornahilt [parish of Castlerahan]]. Surveyed January 1853 by Robert Benister.

## /40

Map and Survey of part of Cornahilt. Property of The Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in May 1868. By J McCollum & Son. Scale of 16 inches to one mile Irish.

## /41

Part of Derry [parish of Crosserlough]. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1864.

# /42

Map of part of the townland of Derry. [By] George Frazer 5 June 1896. Scale 18 inches to a statute mile.

## /43

Unreclaimed bog in Derry. [By] Richard Stronge 1899. Scale 5 perches to one inch.

## /44

[Map of Derrylurgan, [parish of Denn]. Undated].

# /45

Survey of part of the Townland of Derrylurgan. The property of the Right Honble Lord Farnham. By Robert Benister 1844.

A Survey of Part of Derrylurgan. May 1848. By R Benister.

## /47

Derrylurgan Bog. March 1849. By Robert Benister.

## /48

Part of Derrylurgan. 1849. [By Robert Benister].

# /49

Memorandum by Robert Benister [regarding 21. F. 115/50]. February 1854.

# **/50**

Map showing lands between the townlands of Killyvally [parish of Denn] and Derrylurgan, [parish of Castlerahan]. Includes remarks and reports concerning a new road through Derrylurgan. By Robert Benister, Land Surveyor. Feby. 1854. See also 21.F.115/49.

## **/51**

Survey of bog in Derrylurgan. By Richard Strong 27 Novr. 1860. Without map.

## /52

Part of Derrylurgan. Surveyed by Robert Stratford & drawn by Richard Strong 1870. Scale of 20 perches to one inch.

## **/53**

Sketch map of part of Derrylurgan. [Undated].

# /54

Sketch map of part of Derrylurgan. [Undated].

## /55

Valuation of lands in Derrylurgan. By James Meikle for Hon Richard Maxwell, [Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron]. 2 Oct. 1871. Also includes note by George Lowry.

## **/56**

Survey of a plot of ground Belonging to Mr T Morrow, Derrylurgan. [By] Andrew Marks 7 Oct. 1871. [Without map].

## /57

Thomas Morrow's holding in Derrylurgan. By Richard Stronge 1876. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /58

Valuation of part of the lands of Derrylurgan. [By] Thomas Meikle April 1889.

Sketch Map of part of Drumhallagh [parish of Crosserlough]. Surveyed in August 1854. By R Benister. Scale of 20 perches [to one inch].

# /60

Sylvester Kimin's holding in Drumhala [Drumhallagh]. By Richard Stronge 1877. Scale 16 perches to one inch.

# **/61**

Sketch Map of part of Fintavin [Fintawan, parish of Lurgan] 1852. [By] Robert Benister. Scale 20 Irish perches.

# **/62**

A Sketch Map of part of Fintavin [Fintawan]. Belonging to The Right Honble Lord Farnham. Surveyed January 1856. Scale 20 perches Irish. [By Robert Benister].

# /63

Survey of parts of the townlands of Fintavan [Fintawan] and Claudaugh [Claddagh, parish of Castlerahan]. [By] Richard Stronge June 1889. [Without map].

# 21. F. 116/ 1-66 /1

Section of shoal in river between the townlands of Gallincora [Galloncurra, parish of Killinkere] and Greaghduff [parish of Killinkere]. June, 1868. [By] J McCollum & Son. Horizontal Scale: 120 feet to one inch; Vertical Scale: 10 feet to one inch. [Map estimate for draining lake at Greaghduff].

## /2

Estimate for deepening Shoal in River between The Townlands of Gallincora and Greaghduff. [By] J McCollum. June 1868.

## /3

Specifications for deepening Shoal in River between The Townlands of Gallincora and Greaghduff. [By J McCollum *circa* June 1868].

# /4

James Jenning's holding in Galloncoroe, [Galloncurra]. By Richard Stronge 1885. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /5

A Map and Survey of Part of the Lands of Gola [parish of Killinkere], situate in the Parish of Killinkere, and county of Cavan. The Estate of The Right Honorable, Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in July 1859. By James McCollum, Land Surveyor, Drung, Cavan. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

## 21. F. 116

# **/6**

Part of Gola. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1864. Scale 16 perches to one inch.

#### /7

Sketch Map of part of Gola. By Richard Strong 1873. Scale of 20 perches to one inch.

# /8

Part of Gola. By Richard Strong 1873. Scale of 20 perches to one inch.

## /9

Part of Gola. By Richard Stronge 1883. Scale of 20 perches to one inch.

# /10

Gola Bog. 1902. Scale 10 perches Irish to one inch.

# /11

Greaghadussan, (Part of) [Greaghadossan, parish of Killinkere]. Property of The Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed By James McCollum, Land Surveyor, Novr. 1858. Scale 16 p [perches] to an inch.

# /12

Map and Survey of part of the Lands of Greaghadussan [Greaghadossan], Parish of Killinkere, and county of Cavan. Estate of The Right Honorable Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in 1860. By James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

# /13

Sketch Map of Part of Greaghadusan [Greaghadossan]. (Sheegog's former Lease). 1860.

# /14

Part of Greaghadossan. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1866. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /15

Part of Greaghadossan. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1866. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /16

Return by Richard Strong of part of Greaghadossan. 31 October 1866.

Memorandum by Richard Strong, relating to changing tenancies of land in Greaghadossan. 17 April 1868.

## /18

Part of Greaghlough [Greaghclaugh, parish of Killinkere]. By Richard Stronge 1887. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /19

Note relating to a holding in the lands of Greaghclough. [By] R S [Richard Stronge] June 1889.

# /20

Note of Richard Stronge relating to a holding in the lands of Greaghclough. 10 June 1889.

# /21

Part of Keenagh [parish of Crosserlough] and Clare [parish of Crosserlough]. By Richard Strong 1873. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /22

Letter from Richard Stronge to Alex Beatt regarding Mrs. Brady's farm in Killyfinla [parish of Castlerahan]. 5 Novr. 1888.

## /23

Sketch map of Ellen Brady's holding in Killyfinla. [Undated]. Scale 20 perches.

# /24

Survey of Mrs E Brady's farm in Killafinla, [Killyfinla] . By Richard Stronge Nov. 1888.

## /25

A Survey of Part of Killyfinly [Killyfinla] . 1850. Scale 20 perches.

## /26

James Morrow's Unreclaimed Cutaway bog in Killyfinla. [By] Richard Strong 1865. Scale 8 perches to an inch.

# /27

Part of Killyfinla. By Richard Strong 1870. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /28

William Coote's holding in Killivally [Killyvally, parish of Denn]. By Richard Stronge 1888. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

Lackenduff [Lackanduff, parish of Denn]. Nov. 1855. Scale of 20 perches.

# /30

Part of Lishenry [parish of Denn]. By Richard Stronge 1877. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /31

Lishenry. By R Stronge 1882. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /32

Survey of cutaway bog in Lishenry and Toher [Togher parish of Crosserlough]. By Richard Stronge May 1887. [Without map].

# /33

Survey of Unreclaimed Cutaway Bog in Lismagiril, [parish of Killinkere]. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1863. Scale 16 perches to one inch.

# /34

Part of Lisnagirl, [Lismagiril] . By Richard Strong 1872. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /35

Part of Lisnagirl, [Lismagiril]. By Richard Strong 1873. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /36

Phil Reilly's holding in Lisnagiril, [Lismagiril]. By Richard Stronge 1886. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /37

Letter from Richard Stronge to A Beatt, regarding Phil Reilly's holding in Lismagiril and the construction of a cottage therein. 19 April 1886.

## /38

A Sketch Map of Part of Pollamalady, [parish of Lurgan]. The Estate of the Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in Sept. 1856. [By] Robert Benister. By a scale of 20 perches to an inch.

# /39

William Hogg's Holding in Polmalady [Pollamalady]. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1866. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# **/40**

Henry Elliott's Holding in Polmalady [Pollamalady]. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1870. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

Thomas Henry's holding in Polmalady [Pollamalady]. By Richard Stronge 1875. Scale 20 Irish perches to an inch.

# /42

Report by Richard Stronge on the lands of Derry [parish of Crosserlough]. Includes reference to Joseph Owen's farm. 3 Sept. 1878.

## /43

Letter from R Stronge to A Beatt regarding the extent of farms in Clonlohan [Clonloaghan, parish of Drumlumman]. 2 January 1883.

## /44

Letter from R Stronge to A Beatt regarding the extent of farms in Gartnabraher [Gartbrattan, parish of Kilmore]. 11 Oct. 1888.

## /45

Letter from R Stronge to Thomas Meikle regarding the extent of farms in Fintavan, [Fintawan, parish of Lurgan]. 11 April 1889.

# **/46**

Part of Pollareagh [parish of Crosserlough]. By Richard Strong 1871. Scale of 20 perches to one inch. Includes references to Pollareagh.

## /47

Sketch map of part of Pollareagh. By R Stronge 1876. Scale 20 Irish perches to one inch.

# /48

Memorandum regarding road measurements at Pollarea [Pollareagh]. Spring 1882. [By] Patrick Smith for the tenants.

# /49

Memorandum regarding road at Pollareagh. [By] Richard Stronge. 6 Nov. 1882.

# **/50**

Memorandum concerning reclaimed cutaway bog in Pottle, [parish of Denn]. [By] Richard Stronge April 1879.

# **/51**

Pottle Bog. By Richard Stronge 1881. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /52

Pottle. By R Stronge 1882. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

Pottle. By Robert Stratford. [Undated]. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

# **/54**

Part of Ramonan [parish of Castlerahan] & Clogga [Cloggagh, parish of Castlerahan]. [By] Richard Strong 1866. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## 155

Part of Teevenaman [Tievenaman, parish of Killinkere]. Surveyed 1854, copied July 1855. Scale 20 perches to an inch. [By Robert Benister].

# **/56**

A farm in Teveneman, [Tievenaman]. Surveyed by Richard Strong October 1858. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## 157

A Map and Survey of William Reaburn's farm in Teveneman, [Tievenaman]. Surveyed by Richard Strong October 1858. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /58

Part of Tievenaman. By Richard Strong 1871. Scale of 20 perches to one inch.

# /59

John Fay's Holding in Teevanaman, [Tievenaman]. By Richard Stronge 1875. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# **/60**

Part of Tievenaman. By Richard Stronge 1886. Scale 20 Irish perches to one inch.

# /61- /62

Memoranda of Richard Stronge regarding extent of cutaway bog held by Benjamin Stafford at Tievenaman. 1892 and 4 May 1892.

# /63

Part of Togher [parish of Castlerahan]. Surveyed 1841. Scale of 20 perches. [By Robert Benister].

## **/64**

Part of Togher Laid out in New Lines by Abraham Brush Esq. Jany. 1841. By Robert [Benister].

## /65

Survey of John Magill's small Holding in Togher. 1851.

## 21. F. 116

## /66

John Foster's Holding in Toher [Togher]. By R Stronge 1888. Scale 20 Irish perches to one inch.

## 21. F. 117/ 1-39

#### /1

Aghaconny [parish of Crosserlough]. [Undated].

## 12

'Smith v Smith'. [By] George Frazer 17 May 1906. [This map relates to Aghaconny. See also 21.F.117/3].

## /3

Letter from William John Fegan to T R Blackley regarding 21. F. 117/2 and the associated legal case. 16 July 1906.

# /4

A map of Aghnahedran [Aghnahederny] in the Parish of Ballimacue [parish of Kilbride] and County of Cavan, being part of the Estate of The Rt Honble Colonel Barry [John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in August 1812. By James Grier. Laid down by a scale of forty perches to the inch.

## /5

Part of Annagh [parish of Drumlumman]. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1860. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /6

Patt Smith's holding in Annagh. ]. By Richard Stronge 1877. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /7

Map and Survey of part of Ardlogher [Ardlougher, parish of Denn]. Part of the Right Honourable Henry, Lord Farnham's [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron] Estate. Surveyed and Drawn by Richard Strong, December 1861. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /8

Map and Survey of Part of Ardlogher [Ardlougher]. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1861. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /9

Part of Ardloher [Ardlougher]. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1865. Scale 16 perches to one inch.

# /10

Part of Ardloher [Ardlougher]. By Richard Strong 1874. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## 21. F. 117 /11

Estate of Capt Neary Cut Out Bog in Ballytrust [parish of Ballintemple]. By R T Wellwood. [Undated]. Scale two feet = 1 stat. mile.

# /12

Survey of Patt Cahill's farm in Carrickaclevin [Carrickclevan, parish of Ballintemple]. By Robert Benister 1852. [Without map].

# /13

Part of Clonlohan [Clonloaghan, parish of Drumlumman]. Drawn by R Strong 1870. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /14

Part of Clonlohan [Clonloaghan]. By Richard Stronge 1890. Scale 20 Irish perches to one inch.

## /15

[Extract from Ordnance Survey Sheet No. 37, county Cavan showing Bridget Briody's holding in Clonloaghan as delimited by the Irish Land Commission. 2/9/1907.]

## /16

Part of Cornaseer [parish of Denn] as sketched. 1849. [By Robert Benister?].

# /17

Survey of Part of Cornaseer. 1850. Scale 20 perches. [By Robert Benister?].

# /18

Ground Laid Out for Cornaseer School House. Surveyed Augt. 1856. By Robert Benister.

# /19

Part of Curnaseer [Cornaseer]. By Richard Stronge 1882. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /20

Plan of a Watercourse To be Cut down To drain A lake between Curniseer [Cornaseer] And Ardloher [Ardlougher]. Scale 4 perches to an inch. [Undated].

# /21

A Sketch Map of Part of Derrin, [parish of Crosserlough] in the County of Cavan. The estate of the Right Honble Lord Farnham. Surveyed as the Tenants now holds, in November 1854. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

## 21. F. 117 /22

Francis Stafford's Holding in Derrin [parish of Crosserlough]. By Richard Stronge [1879]. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /23

Patt Cullen's Holding in Dundavan [parish of Crosserlough]. By Richard Stronge 1882. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /24

Part of Dundevan [Dundavan]. By Richard Stronge 1889. Scale 20 Irish perches to one inch.

## /25

Sketch Map of Part of Farnadawly, [Farranydaly, parish of Kilmore] Joseph Storey Esq's holding, 1856. By a scale of 20 perches. [By Robert Benister].

## /26

Map and Survey Of part of the Lands of Farnadawly, [Farranydaly] and Farragh, situate in the Parish of Kilmore and County of Cavan. The Estate of The Right Hon Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in 1860. By James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /27

Part of Farnadawly, [Farranydaly] Bog. By Richard Strong 1871. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /28

Farnadawly [Farranydaly]. [Undated].

# /29

Killakeene, [Killykeen, parish of Drumlumman]. By Richard Stronge 1878. Scale 20 Irish perches to one inch.

# /30

Survey of Henry Tilson's Holding in Cortubber, [Corratober, parish of Kilmore] & Killakeene, [Killykeen, parish of Kilmore]. By Richard Strong May 1888. [Without map].

# /31

Sketch Map of Part of Upper Lacken, [Lackan Upper, parish of Ballintemple]. By Richard Strong 1870. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /32

Part of Upper Lacken [Lackan Upper]. By Richard Strong 1870. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## 21. F. 117 /33

Robert Armstrong's Holding in Moydristan [parish of Ballymachugh]. [Undated]. Scale 20 perches.

## /34

Bernard Smith's holding in Mullaghkeel [parish of Crosserlough]. By Richard Stronge 1893. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /35

A Survey of Part of Shanno [Shannow, parish of Denn], 1850. [Without map].

## /36

Sketch Map of Shannow Lower [parish of Ballintemple]. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1859. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /37-/38

Valuations of the townland of Shannow Lower. [Undated, *circa* 1860]. [This valuation relates to 21. F. 117/ 39.]

# /39

Shannow Lower. [Undated, *circa* 1860]. Scale six inches to one statute mile. [The holdings on this map are detailed in 21.F.117/37 &38].

# 21. F. 118/ 1-53

/1

Map of Ardra [parish of Killashandra]. By Richard Stronge 1876. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /2

Ardra (Part of). The Property of the Right Honorable Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in March 1862. By James McCollum, Land Surveyor.

# /3

Map and survey of Ardra. [Undated]. Scale 20 perches.

## /4

Aughnacor (Part of) [Aghnacor, parish of Killashandra]. Estate of the Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed By James McCollum, Land Surveyor 1858. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

## 15

Part of Carrickaclevin [Carrickclevin, parish of Ballintemple]. By Richard Stronge 1879. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /6

Thomas Brady's Holding in Carrickaclevin [Carrickclevin]. By Richard Stronge 1882. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# 21. F. 118

A Survey of Part of Clodrum [parish of Killashandra]. March 1854.

## /8

Clonkeen. (Part of) [parish of Kildallan]. Estate of the Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in April 1867. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale of 16 inches to one mile stat.

## /9

Map of Clintygrigney [Clontygrigny, parish of Kildallan]. Part of the Estate of the Right Honble Somerset Henry, Lord Baron Farnham [Somerset Henry, 10<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed by Robert Henry Stronge. 1898. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# **/10**

Letter from Richard Stronge to Messrs Allen and Halpin Solr regarding Arthur Emo's farm in Clontygrigny. 25 March 1899.

# /11

Report on Arthur Emo's farm in Clontygrigny. [By] Robert H Stronge. 25 March 1899.

# /12

Survey of unreclaimed cut away bogs in Condry and Drumbullion [both in the parish of Killashandra] [by] Richard Stronge. 20 April 1878. [Without map].

# /13

Achenson Finley's Holding in Condry. By Richard Stronge 1878. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /14

A Survey of Part of Cornacrum [parish of Kildallan]. 1851.

# /15

Map and Survey of part of Cornacrum. Estate of the Right Honorable Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in 1860. By James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

## /16

Cornacrum (Part of). Estate of the Right Honorable Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in April 1862. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 16 Inches to one mile Irish.

A Tracing of Mr Andrew Roger's farm on the lands of Cornacrum, in The County of Cavan. The Property of The Right Honorable Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. November 1862. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 16 inches to one mile Irish.

## /18

Joseph Owen's holding [in] Derry [parish of Denn]. [By] R Stronge 1889. Scale 16 perches to one inch.

## /19

Survey of unreclaimed bog in Derry. [By] Richard Stronge Sept. 1892. [Without map].

## /20

Part of Derrylane [parish of Killashandra] Joseph Donaldson's Holding. Surveyed 1849. By Robert Benister.

# /21

Memorandum by Richard Stronge regarding bog in Derry. 30 October 1893.

## /22

Drumbullion (Part of) [parish of Killashandra]. Estate of The Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed By James McCollum, Land Surveyor, 1858. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

# /23

Map of part of Drumbullion. The Property of The Rt Hon Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in 1860. By James McCollum, Land Surveyor, Drung [county Cavan]. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

# /24

Robert Jackson's Holding in Drumbullion. By Richard Strong 1873. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /25

Not re division of Robert Jackson's farm in Drumbullion. By William McCawley November 1880.

## /26

Map of part of Druminion [Drumminnion, parish of Kildallan]. Estate of The Right Honorable Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in February 1864. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 20 Plantation Perches to an Inch.

Map and Survey of part of the townland of Drumkillroosk [Drumkilroosk, parish of Killashandra]. The Property of The Right Hon Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in February 1866. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 16 inches to one mile statute.

## /28

Thomas Johnston's Holding in Drumkilroosk. By Richard Stronge 1895. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /29

Part of Drumkilroosk [Drumkilroosk]. By Richard Stronge 1896. Scale 16 Irish perches to one inch.

## /30

Note from Farnham Estate Office regarding Rev Samuel Patrick's holding in Drumkilroosk. [Undated].

## /31

Survey of Robert and Mathew Smith's Holding in Dunaweel [parish of Killashandra]. 1852. By Robert Benister.

# /32

Dunaweel (Part of). (1860). [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 20 perches Irish to an inch.

## /33

Sketch Map of Part of Dunaweel 1860. Scale 20 p [perches to an inch].

# /34

Survey of Reclaimed Land in the undernamed townlands [Drumkilroosk, Dunaweel and Laheen, all in the parish of Killashandra]. Property of the Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor, June 1861. [Without map].

## /35

Survey of George Jackson's Holding in Dunaweel by Richard Stronge, 19 March 1888. [With] A Survey of George Jackson's farm in Dunaweel by Archibald Godley, 28 March 1888 (?). [Without map].

# /36

Letter from John Montgomery to Richard Allen regarding Drumacon bog, [parish of Drumlane]. 4 June 1898.

Letter from John Montgomery to Richard Allen regarding Clontygrigny bog, [parish of Kildallan]. 9 June 1898.

## /38

R Stronge's survey of Farnham estate bogs. [Undated]. [Without map].

# /39

Reference to William Cleminger's Part of Dunaweel. [By] James McCollum. [Undated].

## **/40**

Evlaghbeg, (Part of) [Evlagh Beg, parish of Kildallan]. Estate of The Rt Hon Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed November 1864. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 16 inches to one mile Irish.

## /41

Part of Evlabeg [Evlagh Beg]. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1870. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /42

Survey of Part of Lagheen [Laheen, parish of Killashandra]. By Robert Benister. March 1849. Scale 20 Irish perches.

# /43

Map and Survey of Part of the Townland of Mullaghdoo [parish of Kildallan]. Estate of The Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in January 1868. By J McCollum & Son, Land Surveyors. Scale 16 inches to one statute mile.

# /44

John Elliott's Holding in Mullaghdoo. By Richard Stronge 1877. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /45

William McHoughe's Holding in Mullaghdoo. By Richard Stronge 1879. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /46

A Sketch Map of Part [of] Portlongfield. The Estate of The Right Honble Lord Farnham. October 1850. By Robert Benister. Scale 20 perches.

# /47

A Rough Map of Part of Portlongfield, May 1851. [By Robert Benister].

Map and Survey of part of Portlongfield. Property of The Right Honorable Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron], Surveyed in 1860. By James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

# /49

Hanna Bleakley's Holding in Portlongfield. By Richard Stronge 1875. Scale twenty Irish perches to one inch.

## /50

William McDowell's Holding In Sallahan [Sallaghan, parish of Killashandra]. Surveyed by Richard Strong 1870. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /51

William Wallace's Holding in Sallaghan. By Richard Stronge 1876. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /52

Map and Survey of part of the Lands of Tonaloy [parish of Kildallan]. Property of The Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7th Baron]. Surveyed in October 1862. By James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 16 Inches to one Irish mile.

#### /53

Part of Tunaloy. [Tonaloy]. By Richard Stronge 1883. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# 21. F. 119/ 1-54

## /1

Map and Survey of part of the Lands of Cornagrove [Cornagrow, parish of Drumlane]. Estate of The Right Honorable Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in Dec. 1860 by James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

# /2

Farnaham [Farnham] Estate Survey of Cut Away Bogs. [By] Richard Stronge 1896. [Without map].

# /3

Memorandum from the Farnham Estate Office regarding bogs on the estate. 1898.

## /4

A Map of Reclaimable Bog, on the lands of Drumlaney [Drumleny, parish of Kilmore], Estate of the Right Honorable Henry, Lord Farnham, [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in November, 1859, By James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 10 perches to an inch.

# 21. F. 119 /5

Sketch map of part of Drumleany [Drumleny]. By Richard Strong 1874. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /6

Surveys of part of the Lisnamaine/ Lisnameane estate belonging to John Maxwell Esq., [John, 1<sup>st</sup> Baron] situate in the parish of Drumleane [Drumlane] and County of Cavan. Surveyed 26 March 1721; surveyed 27 March 1723 by James Norris. By a scale of 40 [perches] to an inch.

## /7

A Survey of Part of Brendrum [Breandrum, parish of Kilmore]. By R Benister. June 1856. By a scale of 15 perches to one inch.

## /8

Sketch Map of Part of Farnham Demesne [parish of Urney] Leased to Mr Nesbitt, 1854. With memorandum from Farnham Estate Office regarding a holding in Farnham Demesne. 18 March 1898.

# /9

A Map of The Burgess Acres [Burgessacre] in the Parish of Urney & County of Cavan. Part of the Estate of John Finlay Esquire. Surveyed in June 1809 by Francis Elliott. Scale ten perches to an inch.

# /10

Coraspoint [Coras Point, parish of Urney]. By [Robert] Benister. 1840.

# /11

A Survey of Part of Cauhoo [parish of Kilmore]. By Robert Benister. 1848. Scale of 20 perches.

## /12

Map and Survey of part of The Lands of Cawhoo [Cauhoo]. . Property of The Right Honorable Henry, Lord Farnham, [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in October 1864. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

# /13

Part of Caughoo [Cauhoo]. By Richard Stronge 1881. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /14

William Bennett's Holding in Cauhoo. By R Stronge 1882. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# 21. F. 119 /15

Map of the Old Gaol & Yard [Farnham Street, Cavan] and Sawpit Tenement in Cavan, The Property of the Right Honorable Lord Farnham. By James Benister April 1824.

## /16

A Map of the Old Court House of Cavan [Main Street]. Measured for The Right Hon Lord Farnham. By James Benister and Son. 1825. Scale 20 feet.

# /17

Survey of Tenements in Cavan. Belonging to The Right Hon Henry, Lord Farnham, [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. By Robert Benister. 1839. By a scale of 50 feet to an inch.

## /18

A Map of William Erskine Esq's Tenement in Farnham Street, Cavan. The property of The Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham, [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. By Robert Benister. March 1841. Laid down at a scale of 100 feet to an inch.

## /19

A Survey of Mr Richard Mooney's Tenement on the Barrack Hill, Cavan. By Robert Benister. 1847. Scale 50 feet.

## /20

Map of Rere of Miss Murrays Tenement, in The Town of Cavan. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Sept. 1862. Scale 20 feet to an inch.

# /21

Plan of Bernard Walls and John Cassidy's Tenements Cavan. Dec. 1865. [By] James McCollum. Scale 32 feet to one inch.

## /22

Tenement in Cavan. Formerly from Francis Love to Owen Smith. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. May 1867.

## /23

Survey of Edward Connor's property on Bridge Street, Cavan. [Undated]. Scale 20 feet to an inch.

# /24

Map of proposed sites, Farnham St., Cavan. [By] R W Atcheson. 19/3/16. Scale 40 feet to 1 inch.

# /25

A Map and Survey of Part of Clennygonell [Clonagonnell, parish of Kilmore]. The Property of The Rt Hon Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in February 1860. By James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 20 perches Irish to an inch.

# 21. F. 119 /26

Valuation of Mr Lyndon's farm at Clonegonle [Clonagonnell]. [By James Kilroy]. 8 Oct. 1861.

# /27

Map and Survey of Part of The Lands of Clennygonell, [Clonagonnell]. The Property of The Right Honorable Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in March 1862. By James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 5 statute chains to an inch.

## /28

Survey of Lands occupied by Railway Cavan to Mullingar, passing through Thomas McDowall's farm in Clenygonell [Clonagonnell]. Decr. 1863. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. [Without map].

## /29

Part of Coolbyogue [Coolboyogue, parish of Urney]. 1846. Scale 20 perches.

# /30

Map and Survey of Part of Coraspoint, [Coras Point, parish of Urney]. Estate of The Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in 1860, By James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

## /31

Sketch Map of Part of Coruspoint [Coras Point]. Novr. 1860. [By] J McCollum. Scale 20 perches.

## /32

A Plan of Part of the Townland of Corracanvy [parish of Kilmore]. As laid out in New Holdings by Abraham Brush Esq. December 1854. [By] Robert Benister. Scale 20 Irish perches to one inch.

# /33

Map of Part of Corracanvy & Gartbrattan [parish of Kilmore]. Estate of Lord Farnham. [By] George William Frazer. 27/4/1917. Scale 1:2,500.

# /34

Skeleton Map of Part of the Townland of Corrakeeny [Corracreeny, parish of Urney]. The property of The Right Honble Lord Farnham. By [R] Benister 1841. By a scale of twenty perches.

# /35

A Survey of Corracreeny Cut away Bog. The Right Honble Ld Farnham. [By] Robert Benister 1850.

# 21. F. 119 /36

Curracreeny [Corracreeny]. By Richard Stronge 1888. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /37

Corragrrin [Corgarran, parish of Kilmore]. By Richard Stronge 1883. Scale 20 Irish perches to one inch.

## /38

Dredis (Part of) [Deredis, parish of Urney]. Property of The Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in 1858. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 16 perches.

# /39

Survey of Part of the Lands of Dredis [Deredis]. Property of The Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. April 1862. [Without map].

## /40

Dredis. (Part of) [Deredis]. Surveyed in March 1866. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 16 inches to one Mile Statute.

# /41

Survey of Derinishmor [Derinish Mor, parish of Kilmore]. The Right Honble Lord Farnham's estate. Feby. 1854. Scale of 20 perches.

## /42

Derishbeg Island (Part of) [Derinish Beg, parish of Kilmore]. Surveyed in March 1866. [By] James McCollum. Scale 16 Inches to one Mile Irish.

# /43

Sketch Map of Part of Derycramp [Derrycramph, parish of Urney]. 1860. Scale 20 p [perches].

# /44

Map and Survey of part of Derycramp [Derrycramph]. . Estate of The Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in 1860. By James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

# /45

Survey of lands cut off from farm lately held by Philip Reilly in Derrycramp [Derrycramph]. [By] James Brady. 15 March 1864. [Without map].

## /46

Map of part of Derryheen, belonging to Mr. Alexr Wedgwort in the county of Cavan. By James Benister and Son. 1821.

## 21. F. 119 /47

A Survey of Part of Derryheen [parish of Urney]. July 1850. [By] Robert Benister. Scale 20 perches.

## /48

A Survey of Part of New Line of Road to Derryheen. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. April 1858. [Without map].

## /49

Map and Survey of part of Derryheen. Property of The Right Hon Lord Farnham. Surveyed in April 1864. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 16 inches to one mile Irish.

# **/50**

Map and Survey of part of the Townland of Derryheen. Estate of The Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in December, 1867, By J McCollum and Son, Land Surveyors. Scale 16 inches to one statute mile.

## /51

Part of Derryheene [Derryheen]. By Richard Stronge 1878. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

## /52

Map of Part of the Townland of Derryheen. Holding occupied by Reps of the late William McMichael. [By] James A McCollum. 7 February 1896. Scale 12 inches to one statute mile.

# **/53**

Survey of reclaimed Cut away Bog, [in Pottle, Gartbrattan and Derrywinna/Derrywinny, all lying in the parish of Kilmore] [by] Richard Stronge 1876. Scale 20 Irish perches to one inch.

## **/54**

Lord Farnhams estate. Mrs Carneys lots, Derrywinny [parish of Kilmore. [By] R T Wellwood. [Undated]. Scale 1:2,500.

## 21. F.120/ 1-41 /1

Map of part of Drumacon, In the Parish of Drumlane, County of Cavan. Revd Hugh Cassidy's farm. Scale 20 perches to an inch. Copy of original map May 1869 by Edward Reilly, Land Surveyor. James Brady 27 Jan. 1870.

## 12

Derry, [parish of Crosserlough]. [Undated]. Scale 16 perches to one inch.

# 21. F.120 /3

Part of Drumconnick [parish of Urney] & Drumbar [parish of Urney], showing Mrs Davis holding. 1850. Scale 20 perches.

## /4

Drumconnick and Edermin, [parish of Urney]. [By] James Brady, Surveyor etc. Feb. 1871. Scale 20 statute perches to an inch.

## /5

Survey of part of Drumconnick. By Richard Stronge 1889. [Without map].

## /6

Part of Drumelis [parish of Urney] and Burgessacres, [Burgessacre, parish of Urney]. Surveyed for The Right Honble Lord Farnham, by Robert Benister, surveyed in June 1841. Scale ten perches to an inch.

## /7

Survey of Part of the Lands of Drumgola [parish of Urney]. Estate of The Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in April 1861. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

# /8

Drumheckna (Part of) [Drumhecknagh, parish of Kilmore]. November 1866. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 16 inches to one mile statute.

## /9

Part of Drumhecna [Drumhecknagh]. By Richard Stronge 1876. Scale 20 Irish perches to one inch.

# /10

Part of Drumhekna [Drumhecknagh]. By Richard Stronge 1882. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /11

Lord Farnhams Estate. Map of Cut out Bog in the townland of Drumhecknagh. [By] R T Wellwood, 24/6/1919. Scale 1:2,500.

# /12

Part of Drumleany [Drumleny, parish of Kilmore]. By Richard Stronge 1881. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /13

A survey of William Montgomery's Field in Drummullen [Drummullan, parish of Kilmore]. By [Robert] Benister. 1841. [Without map].

# 21. F.120 /14

Survey of Part of Eonish. By Richard Stronge May 1889. [With] A survey of John Jackson's farm in Eonish. By Richard Stronge 9 Apr. 1889. [Without maps].

## /15

Map and Survey Of Part of the Lands of Gartnasilla [Gartnasillagh, parish of Urney]. Estate of The Right Honorable Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in 1860. By James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 20 perches to an inch. [Also] Reference to map of Gartnasilla [Gartnasillagh].

## /16

Sketch Map of Gartnasilla. [Gartnasillagh]. [Undated].

## /17

Lord Farnhams Estate. Map of Cut out Bog in Gartnasillagh., Lisduff [parish of Kilmore] & Tirourkan [parish of Annagelliff]. [By] R T Wellwood. [Undated, most likely 1919.] Scale 1:2,500. [With] letter from Wellwood to T R Blackley concerning these and other maps, 20/5/1919.

## /18

Map of Building Ground [Farnham Street] in Keady, [Keadew, parish of Urney]. The property of The Right Honble Lord Farnham. By James McCollum, Land Surveyor, Ballyhaise. 1857. Scale 100 feet to inch.

## /19

A Map of Part of the Lands of Keady, [Keadew]. Estate of The Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Occupied by Mrs Trimble. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. 1859. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

## /20

A Survey of part of The Lands of Keadue, [Keadew] formerly Occupied by The Revd Dr Hogg. Estate of the Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham, [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Sept. 1860. [Without map].

# /21

Charles & William Moor's holding in Lisdarran, [Lisdaran, parish of Urney]. By Richard Stronge 1878. Scale 20 perches to one inch.

# /22

Lisdarren [Lisdaran]. [Undated].

## /23

A Survey of Part of Lisduff [parish of Kilmore]. March 1850. Scale 20 perches.

## 21. F.120 /24

Map and Survey of part of the lands of Lisduff. Property of The Right Honorable Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in 1860. By James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

## /25

A Survey of part of Loughaconnick, [parish of Kilmore]. The property of The Right Honble Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. By Robert Benister 1842. Scale twenty perches Irish.

## /26

Valuation & remarks of Loughaconnick. [By] Robert Benister. 22 Nov. 1842.

# /27

Survey of part of the Townland of Loughaconnick. By Robert Benister. 1844. Scale 20 perches.

# /28

Map and Survey of part of Loughaconick [Loughaconnick] . Estate of The Right Honorable Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry,  $7^{th}$  Baron]. Surveyed in 1860. By James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

## /29

Sketch Map of Part of Loughconick [Loughaconnick]. 1860. Scale 20 perches Irish.

# /30

Map of Farm in Loughacconnick. Late in the occupation of Pat Malone. Surveyed by James Brady. Feby. 1863. Scale 8 perches. Verso; Surveyed for Mr John Maxwell the pass leading in Gartnasilla to the bog. By James Brady. Feby. 1863. [Without map].

# /31

Survey of Part of Thomas McDowall's farm in the townland of Loughaconnick [Loughaconnick] Decr. 1863. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. [Without map].

# /32

Loughaconick [Loughaconnick] Nov. 1865. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 16 inches to one Statute Mile. Note: Originally bore the title of Cawhoo [Scored out] (Part of).

# /33

Survey of part of Mr Levingstones farm Loughaconick, [Loughaconnick]. [By] Richard Stronge Nov. 1892. [Without map].

# 21. F.120 /34

Map of Part of Monery [Monnery, parish of Kilmore]. Surveyed by William Benister, 1795. Copied 1844 by Robert Benister. Scale 10 Irish perches.

## /35

Map of Mr William Thickpenny's Farm in Monnery. The Property of The Right Hon Lord Farnham. 1870. By James Brady.

## /36

Lord Farnhams estate. Cut out Bog in Monnery Lower. [By] R T Wellwood. 21/7/1919. Scale 2 feet to 1 stat. mile.

## /37

Map and Survey of the Lands of Tiercullen, [Tircullen] in the Parish of Kilmore and County of Cavan. Estate of The Right Hon Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. December 1863. [By] James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 16 inches to one mile. [With] Reference to part of Tiercullen.

# /38

Survey of Ground Planted in Teerorkin, [Tirourkan, parish of Annagelliff] by William Kemp. [By] James Benister. Oct. 1838. [Without map].

## /39

Map and Survey of part of the Lands of Tyrorgan [Tirourkan]. The Estate of The Right Honorable Henry, Lord Farnham [Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in 1860. By James McCollum, Land Surveyor. Scale 20 perches to an inch.

# /40

Survey of unreclaimed cut away bog in Toher [Togher, parish of Castlerahan]. [By] Richard Stronge, March 1899. [Without map]

# /41

Portion of map, possibly of Shannow [parish of Ballintemple]. [Undated].

## 15.B.8 /7

A map and survey of the demesne of Shannow, [parish of Ballintemple] part of the estate of the Rt Honble Barry, Earl of Farnham [Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron]. Held by Mr Thomas Babington. Situate in the parish of Belantample [Ballintemple] and the county of Cavan. Surveyed by William Bennister. Feb. 1792. Scale 20 p [perches].

# **MS Map 278 M**

A map and Survey of Aghacrivey, [Aghacrevy,] in the parish of Ballymaque [Ballymachugh], in the Baroney of Clanmaghan [Clanmahon] in the County of Cavan. Surveyed in Aug. 1747 by John Bell. Scale of 40 perches to an inch.

**MS Map 279 S** 

A Map of Bell'sgrove [Aghacreevy] situate in the Barony of Clonmahon [Clanmahon] and County of Cavan Containing Irish plantation meaure as underneath. Surveyed in Nov. 1771 by James Campbell. Scale of 40 perches to an inch.

MS Map 280 S

A Survey of Bally McHugh, [Ballymachugh] in the co of Cavan. Containing Twentyone Acres, Three Roods & Thirtyseven perches plantation Measure. As surveyed at the request of Hector Graham Esq. the 30<sup>th</sup> of Dec. 1774 by John Piers. Scale 20 perches.

MS Map 281 M

Map of townlands surrounding Ballyjamesduff, all part of the Massareene estate of the Barons Farnham. [Undated] Watermarked B Brook, 1818.

MS 41,155 /1

A return of the different Inclosures of Fortland Demesne for the Rev H Maxwell [Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron] and A Return of Part of Fortland as held by the Rev Henry Maxwell [Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron]. Surveyed in April 1805 by James Grier.

A Return of part of Fortland as now Let By Colonel Barry [John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron] to the Revd Henry Maxwell [Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron] Surveyed in April 1805 by James Grier.

The part of Fortland Demesne to be charged to The Rev Henry Maxwell [Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron]. James Grier. April 1805.

Part of Coll Barry's [John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron] Estate Held by the Revd Mr Maxwell [Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron] at Fortland [Undated]. *4 sheets*.

MS 41,155 /2

[Survey of] The Lands of Corriroe (sic) sett by Mr Robert Bell. Plantation measure Surveyed in November 1764 according to the mears and bounds Shown me. Hugh Reilly. [With rent roll for same lands. Undated].

A Survey of Lisduff in the Barony of Clonmahon [Clanmahon] Co Cavan. Belonging to the Rt Honble Henry, Lord Bishop of Meath. Plantation Measure Surveyed March 1764 by James Workman.

Survey of the lands of Lisduff as above, but also includes the actual value of the lands as calculated by James Workman, March 1769.

Survey of Corriroey (sic) as the present tenants held it. February 14 1785 by John Piers.

Survey of part of Lisduff by Owen Lynch, August 1794.

Survey of holdings including a list of tenants names on unidentified lands, addressed to Richard Kerr, Arley Cottage. 1822.

Valuation of Lisduff and Lavagh by Michael Babington 24 Jan.

1839. With a letter from Babington to Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1839 Jan. 24.

[Survey of] The sub denomination of Lisduff bog. [Undated].

[Survey of] The part of Corrirooey (sic) added to Fortland Demesne. [Undated]. 10 sheets.

Conservation note: some of this material is quite fragile, requiring careful handling.

MS 41,155 /3

Survey of the extent of profitable land and bog contained in the lands of Bellecan, (sic) Crover, Killyfassy, Turin, Aghnahederny, Tullyboy, Lisduff, Fortland, Corfarnogue (sic). Lavagh and Duffcastle. Located in the parishes of Ballymachugh and Kilbride, barony of Clanmahon; and the parish of Crosserlough, barony of Castlerahan. [Undated].

List of lands in county Cavan and the quit rents payable from them by Coll Barry, [John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron]. [Undated]. *2 sheets*. Conservation note: this material is quite fragile, requiring careful handling.

# **II.iv** Material relating to tenants

MS 3,117-3,118

Summaries of applications and representations made by tenants and other persons to the Lords Farnham and decisions made in respect of these. 1832-1860. 2 *volumes*.

MS 11,493/ 1-2

/1

Petitions of Francis Cahill and Thomas Watson to Abraham Brush agent concerning leases. 1851 Dec. 18 and 1856 Oct. 9. 2 sheets.

12

Legal papers concerning the fixing of fair rents under the Land Law (Ireland) Act, 1881. 1891-1900. 5 items.

MS 11,499

Letters to A Brush from W C Peyton, Billis Grange, Virginia, county Cavan concerning the leasing of a farm in Fintawan, parish of Lurgan. June- July 1858. *2 sheets*.

# II.v Miscellaneous estate papers

MS 41,156/1 Memorandums and notices detailing leases and deeds removed from the Farnham estate office during the period 1864-1921. 8 items.

MS 41,156 /2 Copy of affidavit to register trees planted by Robert Sanderson at

Lisdaran, parish of Urney, 1828 July; also letter from Arthur Trench to T R Blackley regarding cutting of trees, 1904 May 12. Registration of trees planted in Cauhoo, parish of Kilmore by John McDowell, 1890 Jan. 7. *3 sheets*.

# III Correspondence of family members

This sub group comprised of nine sections in a chronological fashion lists the correspondence, with some copy letters of members of the Maxwell family during the period 1777- 1924. The most extensive is that of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron, which is mainly political in its content, while that of Somerset Henry, 10<sup>th</sup> Baron and Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron relates to the estate, demesne and mansion house at the end of the nineteenth and throughout the 1920s. Aileen, Lady Farnham [wife of Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron] is also represented within this section, in correspondence with her husband and charitable organisations during World War I.

# III.i Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron

MS 11,496 From Robert, 2<sup>nd</sup> Baron to Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron. 1777 Apr. 29. 1 sheet.

# III.ii Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron

MS 11,497 Copy letters to Lords Castlereagh, Cornwallis and Buckingham,

with another letter to his son John James, 4<sup>th</sup> Baron. Also letters from Lord Buckingham, John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and J M Pleydell. 1783-

1800. 8 items.

MS 39,278 From Barry, 3<sup>rd</sup> Baron to James O'Farrell, Blackpitts, Dublin. 1789

Dec. 13. 2 sheets.

# III.iii John James, 4th Baron

MS 11,498 Including letters from Lord Cornwallis, Charles Abbott, M Aldridge

and John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1800-1807. 6 items.

# III.iv John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron

MS 18,600/ 1-7 Regarding the county Cavan parliamentary election of 1812. The

correspondence is primarily composed of letters promising support and votes or those of regret stating that votes have already been promised to other candidates. Also some detail letters relating to election agent expenses and the register of voters. Correspondents include:

## /1

Lord Lanesborough, Nathaniel Montgomery and William Annesley. 6-12 Sept. 1812. *3 items*.

# **/2**

William Battersby, Mrs Story, Francis Saunderson, John Francis Darcy, Gerald Dease, Robert Shaw and Hugh Crofton. 2- 8 Oct. 1812. *13 items*.

# /3

V Moore, Samuel Swanzy, James Clements, Henry Jones, Joseph Spencer, James O Reilly, Owen Saunders and Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron. Also one letter to John James, 4<sup>th</sup> Baron. 9-10 Oct. 1812. *12 items*.

# /4

E Pleydell, Robert Ferguson, Thomas Major, William Webb, J H Cottingham, William Richardson, T Forster and Edward Sterling Roberts. 11- 12 Oct. 1812. *11 items*.

#### /5

Richard Griffith, Thomas Armstrong, Robert Peel and John Adams. 13-17 Oct. 1812. 8 *items*.

# /6

James Fawcett, John Tatlow, Arthur Ellis, Thomas Willis, Phil Ward, Andrew Bell, James Ramsey and William Porter. 18-30 Oct. 1812. *11 items*.

# /7

Joseph McGuire, Joseph Pratt, Nathaniel Montgomery and Samuel Swanzy. 1-27 Nov. 1812. *9 items*.

# MS 18,601/ 1-6

Regarding county Cavan parliamentary election. 1818 June. 54 items

See part of NLI Special List No. 356, prepared by A P W Malcomson, for a comprehensive listing of these letters.

## MS 18,603/ 1-4

Letters and miscellaneous papers regarding the disturbance at the Theatre Royal Dublin, on the night of 14 Dec. 1822, also several regarding the subsequent controversy concerning Dublin Grand Jury. 1822-1823. *30 items*.

# MS 18,604/ 1-13

Concerning Catholic emancipation measures with some associated papers. Many of the letters, request that John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron present petitions against Catholic emancipation to the House of Lords, also

some letters concerning the formation and actions of the Brunswick Constitutional Association. Correspondents and papers include:

## /1

'A Speech in the substance of which the writer would detail the real state of the Popish question and propose the questions on their Canons to be sent to the hierarchy of that church as an amendment to the Popish Bill in the House of Lords. *circa* 1823. *10 items*.

# /2

George Moore and Samuel Stewart. 2-10 Jan. 1829. 6 items.

#### /3

Robert J Storey, Marquis of Ely, Lord Courtown, Philip Newton and Rev Alex. Alcock. 16-31 Jan. 1829. 7 *items*.

## /4

Alexander Shand and Lowry Cole McClintock. 5-9 Feb. 1829. 6 items.

# **/5**

Peter Neil, James Breiden, William Earle, Samuel Gamble and Samuel Stewart. 9 Feb. –2 Mar. 1829. *5 items*.

## /6

William Jones, Frances Portier, Thomas Topping and J B Johnston. 2-10 Mar. 1829. *6 items*.

## /7

Ralph Markland, Robert Magill, Printed resolutions of the Leeds Brunswick Constitutional Association and a Printed address from the Gentlemen, Clergy, Merchants and other inhabitants of the Borough of Leeds to the King. 12-20 Mar. 1829. 8 *items*.

# /8

Rev H Bullock, Rev T Jones, James Nixon and Marquis of Ely. 20-21 Mar. 1829. 6 items.

## /9

William Fletcher, J Huffington and Rev J B McCrea. 22-15 Mar. 1829. *6 items*.

## /10

D H Creighton, Rev Edward F Broomhead, W McGavin, John Lee and George Callaghan. 25-28 Mar. 1829. *7 items*.

# MS 18,604

## /11

Anonymous authors, John D McKenzie and Rev Francis Short. 29 Mar. - 3 Apr. 1829. *6 items*.

## /12

Anonymous authors, George Moore and A Griffith. 4-11 Apr. 1829. 8 *items*.

# /13

D Kelly, Henry Wilson, M J Sadlier and Rev W Cunningham. 11-18 Apr. 1829. 8 items.

# MS 18,605/ 1-50

Concerning elections to the Irish representative peerage, with some associated papers. 1823-1835. *circa 550 items*. Note: see NLI, Special List No. 358, prepared by A P W Malcomson, for a comprehensive listing of these letters.

# MS 18,606/ 1-2

From Charles Arbuthnot, MP mainly regarding the Tory Party in Ireland. 1831-1832. *16 items*.

# MS 18,607

Autograph letters, several incomplete from Juliana Lucy Barry, 1806-1826, also one autograph letter from Major F Woodward to Lady Barry, 1816 Apr.9. *10 items*.

See part of NLI Special List No. 356, prepared by A P W Malcomson, for a listing of one of these letters.

# MS 18,608

From Rev. Marcus Beresford regarding the Protestant interest in Co. Cavan. 1829-1837. *10 items*.

# MS 18,609/ 1-4

From Rev. Charles Boyton, Trinity College Dublin, mainly regarding the Protestant interest in Irish politics, with some letters to Boyton from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1829-1832. *28 items*.

# MS 18,610/ 1-8

From Capt. E Cottingham, Dublin, mainly regarding the Orange and Protestant interest in Irish politics. 1828- 1837. *67 items*.

# MS 18,611/ 1-3

From Thomas Lefroy MP regarding political matters mainly concerning the safeguarding of the Protestant interest in Ireland. 1830-1836. *33 items*.

# MS 18,612/ 1-27

Concerning political matters, also some copies of letters by John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, and several letters to Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron. Correspondents include:

## /1

Peter Daly, Gustavis Lambart, Nancy Roche and Thomas Ellis. 15-18 May 1823. Re amongst other matters the riot at statute of William III, Nov. 1822. 8 *items*.

## /2

Richard Power, George Gallagher Jnr and Peter Roe. 19-26 May 1823. Re amongst other matters the inquiry set up to consider the riots in the Theatre Royal, 1822. 6 items.

# MS 18,612

/3

Robert A Thetford, W R Ward and several anonymous letters. 28 May – 10 June 1823. Concerning the Protestant interest in Ireland and the conduct of the Sheriff of Dublin. 9 *items*.

# /4

Robert Peel. Sept.- Oct. 1823. Re the vacancy in the Irish Representative Peerage. *3 items*.

# **/5**

John Busteed, John Hutton, George Knapp and Thomas Parkinson. Feb. 1827- Sept. 1828. Mainly requests that John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron present petitions in the House of Lords, and another requesting that he support a publication detailing the evils of the Roman Catholic church. Also, copy letter from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to the Duke of Wellington. *10 items*.

## /6

Thomas Parnell, George Darley, Joseph Haydn and Bartholemew Warburton. May- Nov. 1829. Re agrarian unrest in parts of county Cavan and also requesting support for the publication of a book. *18 items*.

## /7

Bartholemew Warburton, Marquis of Ely and Charles Morton. Jan- June 1830. Re amongst other matters the assizes at Enniskillen and the petty sessions at Bawnboy and the various cases heard at them. *13 items*.

# /8

Robert Winning and Bartholemew Warburton. July- Dec. 1830 & undated. Re court cases at Enniskillen assizes, also several letters to Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron concerning elections. *12 items*.

## /9

Maxwell C Blacker and the Duke of Leinster. July- Nov 1830 & 1825. Re various matters mainly political including the repeal of the union. 8 *items*.

# **/10**

John Mayne, John King, Thomas Drew, Stephney St George, John Carroll, Francis Shortt and John McLaughlin. 1 Jan.-29 Mar. 1831. Re riots in Virginia and Cootehill, county Cavan, with Roman Catholics requesting a reduction in rent and the end of the county cess and tithes. Also several letters requesting that John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron present petitions on various matters to the House of Lords. *17 items*.

# MS 18,612

## /11

Rev J Garnet, William Clinton and Archbishop Power of Tuam. 12 Apr. - 28 June 1831. Re political matters and the presentation of

petitions to the House of Lords. 13 items.

## /12

William Parker, Samuel Hill and Rev Josiah Allport. 19 July –31 Dec. 1831. Requests for financial support from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron for publication entitled *Protestant Journal*; also other letters regarding the safeguarding of Protestant interests in Ireland. *11 items*.

## /13

D H Creighton and John MacLeod. Jan. 1832. Re the Brunswick Street Club; and a disturbance at Stradone, county Cavan between Orangemen and Roman Catholics. *5 items*.

# /14

Josiah Allport, Marquis of Headfort, Charles Coote, Major Proctor and John MacLeod. Feb. 1832. Re amongst other matters and affray at Stradone and other disturbances in county Cavan and the granting of a Commission of the Peace for County Cavan to Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron. *14 items*.

# /15

Robert Peel. Mar.- June 1832. Re amongst other themes petitions presented to parliament and another concerning the plight of the Protestant dominated newspaper the Dublin Evening Mail. *5 items*.

## /16

Charles Coote, Nathaniel Sneyd and the Earl of Enniskillen; also a copy letter from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to R H Southwell. 17 July – Aug 28. 1832. Re amongst other matters Ribbonmen in Cootehill; the copy letter questioning the power of Lieutenants of the County in convening meeting of the county Magistrates. *11 items*.

# /17

Richard Bell, Marquis of Ely and Josiah Allport; also a copy letter from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to Richard Bell. Sept. – Oct. 1832. Re amongst other matters updating the Register of Voters from the Orangemen of Cavan and the political and religious plight of Protestants. *11 items*.

# **/18**

Josiah Allport, George Roe, William Burrowes and Sir Henry Brooke; also copy letter from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to Charles Coote. Nov. – Dec. 1832. Re amongst other matters disturbances in various parts of counties Cavan and Fermanagh. *6 items*.

# MS 18,612 /19

Hans Hamilton, Edward Nangle, Bishop of Calcutta and Sir G H Rose. 1833. Re amongst other matters a request for financial

assistance from Nangle towards the publication of his letters to Bishop McHale. 8 *items*.

## /20

William Erskine, Rev H Newman, C C Townsend, Rev R Daly and Edward Nangle. 25 Mar. - June 30 1834. Re amongst other matters requests to present petitions to the House of Lords and the return of livings of several parishes in the Diocese of Kilmore by the Ecclesiastical Commissioners. *11 items*.

#### /21

Lord Longford, John Godley, George Brabazon, Hans Hamilton, Archbishop Power of Tuam, Sir H Hardridge and Lord Mandeville. July – Dec. 1834 & undated. Re amongst other matters requests to present petitions to the House of Lords and a letter of thanks from Mandeville for a copy of the Statement of the Management of the Farnham Estates. *11 items*.

## /22

T Kavanagh, Sir H Hardinge, Archbishop Power of Tuam and John Lawless. Jan. – Feb. 1835. Re amongst other matters appointments by the Lord Lieutenant to various positions within County Carlow; also some detail regarding the nomination of a curate for the parish of Ballymachugh, county Cavan. *10 items*.

## /23

Duke of Wellington, Sir H Hardinge, Lord Haddington and Sir Robert Peel. 9- 19 Feb. 1835. 8 *items*.

# /24

Sir George Rech, Arthur H Kennedy, Lord Haddington, The Bishop of Ferns and Josiah Allport. Feb. – July 1835. *10 items*.

## /25

Joseph Redgeway, Robert Prescott, J Devereux, Alexander Nicholson and J R Moffat. 1- 11 Aug. 1835. Re the presentation of petitions to the House of Lords. *9 items*.

## /26

D Kinahan, William Pike, Samuel Allen Daly, John Short, Mayor of Londonderry and Randal E Plunkett. 15 Aug. – 13 Nov. 1835. Re the presentation of petitions to the House of Lords. 8 *items*.

## /27

Arthur John Preston, J D Jackson MP and Sir E L Hayes MP. Nov. 1835- June 1836. *4 items*.

See Report on Private Collections 494 A, for a list of some of these letters.

## III.v Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron

#### MS 18,602/ 1-68

Letters mainly to Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron but including a few to John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron regarding county Cavan parliamentary elections, with some election addresses and circulars. Correspondents include:

#### /1

H Clements, Rev B Adams, R W Talbot MP, Major Burrowes, Cosby Nesbitt, James Singleton, Rebecca Rawson, Sir William Young Bart, Eliza Whyte, Maxwell James Boyle and (Copy letter to Mr Anthony Tatlow from Theophilus Lucas Clements). 30 July- 16 Aug. 1823. *11 items*.

#### /2

Mrs Story, Francis Young, Charlotte Morton, H B Wilson, A Saunderson, J Pratt, Joseph Dickson, Charles Morton, Francis M Whyte and H Clements. 17 Aug.- 10 Sept. 1823. *10 items*.

#### /3

Miss Pleydell, J F Ruxton, Charles Coote, James O'Reilly Jnr., Michael Babington, William Fleming, Robert Morrow and (Copy letters from Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron to Earl of Bective and R B Blackwood). 6 Oct. 1823- 28 Feb. 1824. *10 items*.

#### /4

William Bell, Michael Babington, Thomas Tuite, Robert Patterson, John Donnelly, Timothy Driscoll, Richard Mortimer, Robert Morrow and (Copy letter from Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron to Rev G Spayht). 26 Feb. – 29 Mar. 1824. *10 items*.

#### /5

Earl of Bective, Henry Chambers, Paul Postane, William Fleming, R Bell Clarke and David Thompson. Sept.-Nov. 1824. *6 items*.

#### /6

Margaret Clarke, Robert Campbell, Sir John Caldwell, Miss Pleydell, Francis Whyte, Michael Babington, J H Story, James Kellet and (Copy letters from Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron to Thomas Cockrane and from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to Earl of Bective). 19 May – 26 Sept. 1825. *12 items*.

#### /7

H B Slater, John McManus, William Little, Hugh Crofton, John Mayne and Joseph Pratt. 2- 5 Sept. 1825. *7 items*.

#### /8

Thomas Phillips, Joseph Spencer, Joseph Benison, Rev B Adams, Rev Mr Reilly, Thomas Battensby, William Brooke and Luke Magrath. 5-6 Sept. 1825. 8 *items*.

#### /9

Major Thomas Frood, Michael Fox, Thomas Smith Morre, G Sloane, Rev J Noble, Rev A Mitchell, Cosby Nesbitt and W S Richardson. 6-7 Sept. 1825. 8 *items*.

#### /10

Nathaniel Herdman, William Rathbourne, Edward Rotherham, James Davis, Henry Swanzy, V Moore, Rev Joseph Story and Andrew Bell. 7-11 Sept. 1825. 8 *items*.

#### /11

Samuel Gamble, Major Thompson, Thomas Tuite, William Cooke, Ralph Gore, Thomas Major, Walter Steele and Edward Lynch. 11-14 Sept.1825. 8 items.

#### /12

Rev Spencer Meara, James B Pratt, Rev A Caffrey, Hugh Brady, Jason Crawford, Hugh Cunning and Richard Stephens. 11-14 Sept. 1825. 8 *items*.

#### /13

J Younge, R Rawson, William Pratt, Samuel Martin, Joseph Pratt, Thomas Cockrane and Phil Ward. 16-18 Sept. 1825. 8 items.

#### /14

Thomas Slacke, C L Montgomery, J Younge, J Butler Danvers, Ralph Hinds, Andrew Deane, Sir John Caldwell and Thomas Newburgh. 20-22 Sept. 1825. *8 items*.

#### /15

Steuart Mulligan, B Stanford, Ralph Dawson, G M Knipe, Walter Reilly, Thomas Tuite, George Moore and Francis Young. 25-30 Sept. 1825. 8 *items*.

#### **/16**

R B Blackwood, Thomas Slacke, Margaret Clarke, Rev G L Greyson, Rev Francis Edgeworth and Joseph Dickson. 30 Sept. – 5 Nov. 1825. *6 items*.

#### /17

Nathaniel Montgomery, H Robinson, John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, James Armstrong, Francis Whyte, B Sankey, J Butler Danvers, Major Thompson and John Godley. 26 May- 3 June 1826. *15 items*.

#### /18

R H Southwell, Thomas Cockrane, N Tarrant, Rev A Ellis, James Kellet, John Beatty, Sir William Young, Rev Francis Edgeworth and (Copy letter from Rev Henry, 6<sup>th</sup> Baron to James O Reilly). 3-10 June 1826. *9 items*.

#### /19

Willoughby G Perry, J G Parr, H Robinson, Sir William Young, Thomas N Frood, Robert Burrowes, Archdeacon Irwin and Francis Kellet. 11-13 June 1826. 8 *items*.

#### /20

Sir William Young, Samuel P Lea, Michael Babington, Samuel Swanzy, A G Blennerhassett, Richard Reed and William Gibson. 9-13 June 1826. 8 *items*.

#### /21

Major Thompson, Nathaniel Montgomery, Rev James Matthews, Sir A B King, Henry Grattan, Captain Harrison, William Graham and (Copy letter from Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron to Col Clements). 13-15 June 1826. *10 items*.

#### /22

Alexander Hinds, Thomas Armstrong, Nathaniel Montgomery, William D'Arcy Irvine, Sir William Young, Alexander Saunderson, William Rathbourne, Dr Robinson, J Ferguson and John Chambers. 15-17 June 1826. *11 items*.

#### /23

Nathaniel Montgomery, (Letter from Andrew Bell to Nathaniel Montgomery), Rev John Gumley, William Blacker, Michael Babington and Edward Cottingham. 17-19 June 1826. *13 items*.

#### /24

Alexander Saunderson, M Fitzpatrick, William Shiels, Thomas Ellis, Phil Ward, Joseph Pratt, Michael Babington, Nathaniel Montgomery, Lucy, Lady Farnham [wife of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron], Major Thompson and Rev Allen Mitchelle. 17-20 June 1826. *11 items*.

#### /25

Nathaniel Montgomery, James O Reilly, Sir Richard Steele, Rev Edward Hales, G L Greyson, John Gumley, Rev H Cottingham, William Gosselin, John Cummins, Joseph Dickson and David Kellet. 20-22 June 1826. *14 items*.

#### **/26**

Sir Richard Steele, Rev Francis Edgeworth, Rev Joseph Denham, Anthony Griffith, Nathaniel Sneyd, John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, Sir William Young and (Miscellaneous copy letters). 22-25 June 1826. *10 items*.

#### /27

Francis Kellet, Richard Adams, High Sheriff of County Cavan, Rev E Tighe Gregory, Major Woodward, John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, Major Marshall, Captain MacLeod, Ralph Hinds and James O Reilly. 25-28 June 1826. *10 items*.

#### /28

Rev M Beresford, Bishop of Kilmore, Frederick Lumley, Major Marshall, Alexander Saunderson, Michael Babington, Major Warburton, and 'A Spectator'. 28 June- 3 July 1826. 9 items.

#### /29

H B W Slater, Andrew Bell, Francis Maguerin, William Irwin, A Clemenger, 'A Protestant of Lurgan', Charles Veitch, John Wilson and William Armstrong. 3-4 July 1826. *10 items*.

#### /30

Robert Lanauze, William Benison, Patrick Reilly, James Jones, 'Anon', Alexander Berry, Michael Babington, J M Owens and James Parke. 5 July- 15 Dec. 1826. *10 items*.

#### /31

James Parke, J Leslie Foster, L A Lowdham, William Gibson and Irvine Johnston. 3 Jan. – 13 Feb. 1827. *9 items*.

#### /32

John Betty, Mary Gaffney, George Lennon, Sir G Whiteford, John McCormick, Mr Dillion's Mail & Day Coachmen, Messrs Sneyd, French & Barton, James O Reilly, William Bell and J Greene. 24 Aug.- 29 Nov. 1827. *13 items*.

#### /33

Francis Young, G F Butler Danvers, R B Blackwood, Sir Ralph Gore, Mr Patrick Flood, Cosby Adams, Andrew Bell, C J Adams, Marquis of Headfort and Hugh Crofton. 29 Aug. 1829 & 3-9 July 1830. *10 items*.

#### /34

Richard Scott, Lord Gosford, Rev M G Beresford, Randall H Pratt, James Gumley, Gerald Dease, G M Knipe and Miss Pleydell. 9-13 July 1830. *10 items*.

#### /35

Richard Irwin, James Waring, William Pratt, Rev Francis Saunderson, Countess of Charleville, George Hinds, W H Brooke, George Sheegog, J G Parr and R H Southwell. 14-16 July 1830. *10 items*.

#### /36

Vernen Moore, James Fawcett, Samuel White, Rev Joseph Pratt, William D'Arcy Irvine, Rev Arthur Ellis, Margaret Talbot, John Finlay and J C Tatlow. 17-22 July 1830. *10 items*.

#### MS 18,602

#### /37

Edward Rotherham, Cosby Nesbitt, John Davis, Major Thompson,

William Harpur, Rev Edward Nixon, Richard Mortimer, Francis Beatty and James O Reilly. 23- 31 July 1830. *10 items*.

#### /38

Samuel Gamble, Rev Charles Robinson, Elliott Armstrong, Robert Patterson, Jason Crawford, Rev Edward Nixon, Thomas Webb, Samuel Webb amd Luke Magrath. 1-2 Aug. 1830. *10 items*.

#### /39

M Talbot, Henry Dopping, William Spinks, Charles Fox, Col Pratt, William Rathbourne, Francis Fox, Robert Robinson, David Gumley and (Copy letter from Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron to the Bishop of Kilmore). 2-7 Aug. 1830. *10 items*.

#### /40

Charles Coote, Nathaniel Montgomery, Samuel Swanzy, James Smith, George Charles, Rev John Gumley, William D'Arcy, Sir A Hodson and (Copy letters from Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron to Charles Coote and Nathaniel Montgomery, with a Copy Circular to The Farnham Tenantry). 7-9 Aug. 1830. *11 items*.

#### /41

Andrew Bell, Samuel Webb, Rev William Betty, Richard Veitch, P Thornton, William Rathbourne, R H Southwell, J M Jones, Alexander Saunderson and (Copy letter from Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron to R H Southwell). 10-14 Aug. 1830 *10 items*.

#### /42

Francis Kellet, Alexander Saunderson, William Bell and (Copy letters from Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron to Charles Coote, Alexander Saunderson, High Sheriff of The County of Cavan, William Bell with an Address to The Freeholders of Cavan). 14-21 Aug. 1830. 8 *items*.

#### /43

George Sheegog, G M Knipe, Rev A Ellis, John Veitch, Michael Fox, Rev Joseph Story, Rev John Gumley and John Boyd. 2-4 May 1831. 8 items.

#### /44

Owen Saunders, Elliott Armstrong, H B W Slater, Edward Whitely, W H Brooke, James Fawcett, James Elliott and Robert Burrowes. 4-5 May 1831. 8 *items*.

#### /45

Samuel Moore, Robert Saunderson, Thomas Babington, Marquis of Headfort, Joseph Lynch, Edward Lynch, Charles Mortimer, John Creighton and Richard Mortimer. 5-6 May 1831. *9 items*.

#### MS 18,602

#### /46

Francis Smyth Young, C E J Nugent, Francis M Whyte, Lord

Maryborough, L H Thomas, Rev J S Noble, W D Pollard, Thomas Hartley and Andrew Bell. 6-7 May 1831. *9 items*.

#### /47

Randall H Pratt, J S Fleming, Abraham Hartley, Vernen Moore, Benjamin Norris, James Rutledge, William Rathbourne and Richard Irwin. 7-9 May 1831. *8 items*.

#### /48

C E J Nugent, John Beatty, John Townley, Miss Pleydell, Sir A Hodson, Rev John Harris, Margaret Talbot and James Dickson. 9-10 May 1831. 8 *items*.

#### /49

Lyndon Bolton, Dr Wiley, John Berney, The Lord Primate, Michael Murphy, Jospeh McGuire, Rev John Beatty, Oliver Nugent, Matthew Porter, Robert Saunderson, Rev G R Golding, Rev A Ellis and Richard Lowds. 10-17 May 1831. *13 items*.

#### **/50**

Charles Coote, James Sanderson, John Armstorng, Thomas H Ennis, W J Barlow, John G Parr, Thomas Slacke and Rev John Gumley. 6-8 Dec. 1832. *10 items*.

#### /51

G M Knipe, George Sheegog, Edward Rotherham, C J Adams, H S Nixon, Richard Irwin, Richard Bell, William Little, Andrew Bell, Pierce Morton and Francis Smyth Young. 8-9 Dec. 1832. *10 items*.

#### /52

J M Jones, John Mayne, Walter F Hinds, Sir G F Hodson, Rev Richard B Brook, Thomas R Moore, Samuel Martin, Francis S Whyte and Edward Fegan. 10-11 Dec. 1832. *10 items*.

#### /53

Cosby Nesbitt, J H Story, M J Jones, Rev Thomas Forster, Francis Kellet, Samuel Webb, J Young, Maxwell James Boyle, Joseph McGuire and Joseph Dickson. 11-13 Dec. 1832. *10 items*.

#### /54

Rev M G Beresford, James Sanderson, Robert McCally, A R Slack, John C Tatlow, John Boyd, John Young, Francis M Whyte and J A Moffatt. 14-16 Dec. 1832. *9 items*.

#### /55

John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron, Thomas Burrowes, Nathaniel Montgomery, Francis Fox, Edward Mayne, H O Saunders, Rev Francis Saunderson and William Rathbourne. 16-30 Dec. 1832. *8 items*.

#### MS 18,602

#### /56

Thomas Burrowes, G M Knipe, Perrott Thornton, Richard Young,

James Sanderson and Robert Saunderson. 31 Dec. 1834- 4 Jan. 1835. 6 items.

#### /57

James Waring, William Bell, Joseph McGuire, Andrew Bell, John Mayne, George Finlay and Rev Joseph Story. 5-6 Jan. 1835. 8 *items*.

#### /58

Samuel Webb, Edward Molloy, Rev Dean Adams, Rev Allan Mitchelle, Rev Francis Saunderson, Robert Burrowes, H J Kilbee, Col Clements and Henry Peile. 6-7 Jan. 1835. *9 items*.

#### /59

R H Southwell, William Brooke, Sir William Young, William Little, Edward Rotherham, J G Parr and Col Cullen. 7-8 Jan. 1835 8 *items*.

#### /60

Joseph Pratt, Francis Hassard, Joseph Dickson, C J Adams, Col Clements, Rev Thomas Skelton, Gerald Dease and Alexander Saunderson. 8-10 Jan. 1835. 8 *items*.

#### **/61**

Rev Henry Cottingham, W Johnston, Rev S Roberts, Malcolm Ellis and Miss Burrowes. 13-19 Jan. 1835. *5 items*.

#### **/62**

Col Clements, Robert Saunderson, James Sanderson, Edward Rotherham, John Mayne, William T Barlow, Bedel Stanford and John Nesbitt. 12-14 July 1837. 8 items.

#### **/63**

Joseph Dickson, Sir G F Hodson, Samuel Martin, Robert Davis, H O Saunders, John Dickson, William Little and G Butler Danvers. 15-16 July 1837. 8 *items*.

#### /64

George Thomas Bell Booth, George Finlay, William Young, Andrew Bell Booth, James Parker, Gerald Dease, John Armstrong, Nathaniel Montgomery and Col Clements. 17-25 July 1837. *9 items*.

#### /65

Charles Coote, Samuel Swanzy, Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron, W Willis, Thomas Rotherham and (Copy letter from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron to Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron; with copy letters of Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron). 25-29 July 1837. *8 items*.

#### MS 18,602 /66

Richard Montgomery, Robert Burrowes, Col Clements, Robert

Creighton, Dr Coyne and (Copy letter from Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron to John Young). 29 July- 4 Aug. 1837. *9 items*.

#### **/67**

Maxwell James Boyle, W Johnston, Captain Colclough, A C Palles, Col Clements, Richard Montgomery and (Copy letter from Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron to A C Palles). 4-6 Aug. 1837. 8 *items*.

#### /68

Alexander Saunderson, W Johnston, Thomas Slack, Rev Joseph F Leathley, Rev Edward Nixon, James Jones, Rev A Ellis, William Brooke and Anon. 6 Aug.- 3 Oct. 1837. *10 items*. See part of NLI Special List No. 356, prepared by A P W Malcomson, for a listing of some of these letters.

#### MS 18,613/ 1-35

From his cousin, Charles Fox [MP for county Longford], Keady, co. Armagh, mainly concerning family and financial topics with reference to political matters. Including letters dated between:

#### /1

Feb. 1824- Sept. 1825. 10 items.

#### 12

June 1826- Oct. 1829. 10 items.

#### /3

Oct. 1829- May 1830. *10 items*, including one copy letter from Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron to Charles Fox.

#### /4

May 1830- Feb. 1831. 11 items.

#### /5

Feb.- June 1831. 12 items.

#### 16

June- Sept. 1831. *12 items*, including one letter from Francis Gervais.

#### /7

Sept. 1831- Apr. 1832. 10 items.

#### /8

May- Nov. 1832. 11 items.

#### /9

Nov. 1832- Feb. 1833. 12 items.

#### MS 18,613

#### /10

Mar. – June 1833. 10 items.

#### /11

June 1833- Mar. 1834. 10 items.

#### /12

Apr.- May 1834. 11 items.

#### /13

May 1834- Jan. 1835. 10 items.

#### /14

Feb.-Apr. 1835. *10 items*, including one letter from Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron.

#### /15

Apr. – Nov. 1835. 14 items.

#### /16

Jan.- July 1836. 10 items.

#### /17

Aug. 1836- Jan. 1837. 9 items.

#### /18

Jan.- June 1837. 10 items.

#### /19

June- Sept. 1837. *10 items*, including one copy letter from Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron to Charles Fox.

#### **/20**

Sept. 1837- May 1838. 11 items.

#### **/21**

May- Oct. 1838. 10 items.

#### /22

Oct.- Nov. 1838. 9 items, including one letter from Lady Pakenham.

#### /23

Nov.- Dec. 1838. 9 items.

#### /24

Jan.- Mar. 1839. 10 items.

#### /25

Mar.- May 1839. 10 items.

#### MS 18,613

**/26** 

May- June 1839. 11 items.

#### /27

July 1839- May 1840. 13 items.

#### /28

May- Oct. 1840. 10 items.

#### /29

Oct. – Dec. 1840. *10 items*, including one copy letter from Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron to Charles Fox.

#### **/30**

Dec. 1840- Feb. 1841. 10 items.

#### /31

Mar. - Apr. 1841. 10 items.

#### /32

Apr.- May 1841. 10 items.

#### /33

May- Sept. 1841. 10 items.

#### /34

Nov. 1841- Oct. 1842. *11 items*, including one copy letter from Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron to Charles Fox.

#### /35

Nov. 1842- Jan. 1843. 10 items.

#### MS 19,128-19,132

Volumes showing the names of recipients of letters mainly from Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron, but also including some from John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. Nov. 1836-June 1837 and Nov. 1838-Dec. 1862. *5 items*.

#### MS 18,614/ 1-4

Mainly concerned with estate, political, personal and financial topics, with some miscellaneous papers. Correspondents include:

#### /1

H Clements, Lady Le Despenser, John Baker and Henry Hill. 5-6 Apr. 1838. *5 items*.

#### /2

Dr Robert Wiley, John Griffiths, Randal S Plunkett, Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron and John Young. 6 Apr. 1838- 1 Dec. 1840. 8 *items*.

#### /3

J Mivart, Patrick Boylan, Robert B Smith, C & R Elliott, James Smyth, W H Yellow, also a copy of a letter addressed to the Editor of the Dublin Evening Post, from the Inhabitants of Cavan entitled,

'Resurrection of the Corporation of Cavan.' 1-2 Dec. 1840. 9 items.

#### /4

London & Dublin Bank, Bailieboro Agricultural Society, M Costello, Edward Chibborn, Richard Hitchcock, James Graves and John Pringle, also an address to Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron from the tenants on the Newtownbarry Estate, county Wexford and an address to to the parents of the children attending Ballymachugh School from Somerset Richard, 8<sup>th</sup> Baron. Oct. 1842- Nov. 1863 & undated. *17 items*.

# III.vi Anna, Lady Farnham (wife of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron)

MS 18,615

Autograph letter of Robert Maxwell, serving with the navy in Malta to Anna, Lady Farnham. 1838 Nov. 25. *1 sheet*.

## III.vii Somerset Henry, 10th Baron

MS 18,617/ 1-4

Mainly from his agent T R Blackley relating mainly, to his appointment as agent, matters of estate administration, demesne management and the provision of water and renovations to Farnham House. Including correspondence dated, between:

#### /1

Dec. 1896- June 1897. *38 items*, including a copy letter from T R Blackley to Norris Goddard.

#### /2

July 1897- May 1898. *37 items*, including letters from Mary Booker, Robet Tilson, Edward Potterton, Thomas Caldwell and a letter from John Beatty to T R Blackley.

#### /3

July- Nov. 1898. *36 items*, including a letter from Mary Nolan to T R Blackley.

#### /4

Mar.- Dec. 1899. *14 items*, including a letter from George Jarron and part of the House Account for Farnham for Oct. 1899.

MS 18,618

Including petitions from employees and tenants, including several to the agent T R Blackley. Also copy letters from Somerset Henry, 10<sup>th</sup> Baron in reply to these letters. 1896-1899. 70 items.

Correspondents include: in 1896, John Corkedale; in 1897, William A Shaw, Thomas Morrow, Samuel Wilson, William Morrow and Thomas Magill, in 1898, T R Blackley, Archibald Godley, Caroline Storey, Rose Cahill, William Jackson, John Montgomery, Norris Goddard, James Montgomery, Janie Godley, Catherine Stafford, George McHugh, Bridget Reilly and John Byers and in 1899, George Carroll, Archibald Godley, William Johnston, Olivia Clifford, R Storey, W Wilson and Thomas Morrow.

MS 18,419

Invitation to Michael Smith from Somerset Henry, 10<sup>th</sup> Baron to a luncheon to celebrate the coming of age of his eldest son the Hon Barry Somerset Maxwell, 1897. Also invitation to Mr and Mrs M Smith to the re-opening of Cavan Total Abstinence Hall, 1908; with associated notes, *4 items*.

## III.viii Arthur Kenlis, 11th Baron

MS 18,635

Mimeograph letter from Lords Midleton, Salisbury, and Chaplin re the Representation of the People Bill, 13 Dec. 1917. Also two memoranda regarding the same matter. *14 sheets*.

MS 41,157 /1-9

Letters, copy letters, telegrams, bank statements, receipts and other papers of Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron. The correspondence with estate employees, such as Blackley, Daly and Ward and the estate solicitors Allen & Halpin details the management of the estate and demesne during the period 1923-1924, and the sale of part of the demesne lands and urban property of Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron during the same period. 1923-1924. Correspondents include:

/1

Alpine Sports Ltd., London; Cologne Branch Barclays Bank (Overseas) Ltd; T R Blackley (estate agent between 1897 and 1922); C H Bland; Carlton Club, London; Central Emergency Fund, Dublin and Country Gentleman's Association, Ltd., London. 28 Apr. 1923- 29 Jan. 1924. *32 sheets*.

/2

T W Daly (Land Steward); Denis (Maxwell, brother of Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron) and Dora (Theodora Mary Hickling, who married Denis Maxwell in July 1923). 3 Feb.- 3 Dec.1923. *68 sheets*.

MS 41,157 /

Return of livestock on Farnham Demesne for May, June and July

1923; Leo R Ginzell; Messrs Glynn, Mills, Currie, Holt & Co., Bank, London; Norris Goddard, Solr. Dublin and The Irish Grants Committee, London. May 1923- Feb. 1924. *31 sheets*.

#### 14

W P Gray & MacDowell, Auctioneers, Belfast. 28 Apr. 1922-15 Feb. 1924. 63 sheets.

#### /5

Allen & Halpin, Solr. Cavan. 3 July 1920- 30 July 1923. 43 sheets.

#### **/6**

Allen & Halpin, Solr. Cavan, Harrods, London; Major Hodgson and Matilda Hume (?). 20 Mar. 1923- 12 Feb. 1924. 45 sheets.

#### /7

Dr Walter Jagger, London; C Kavanagh (?) London; London County & Westminster Bank, London; Col. E A Maude (Commanding North Irish Horse); R Maunsell, Dublin; C E Maxwell; George Mayer; Thomas McGuiness (Clerk of Cavan Urban District Council), Cavan; Rhine Army Officers Club; Irish Olympic Council; Eric C Palmer; Ernest Philips and the Secretary of the Roehampton Club, London. 10 July 1923-26 Jan. 1924. 25 sheets.

#### /8

Rev W Shire, Cavan; Harrow School, (attended by Somerset Arthur Maxwell, son of Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron); Sir James Purves-Stewart, London and Ulster Bank, (Cavan Branch). 20 Oct. 1922-30 Nov. 1923. *26 sheets*.

#### /9

Edward Ward, (Forester at Farnham); Sir Glynn West, London; St. James's, West Malvern, (school attended by the Hon Verena Maxwell, daughter of Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron); H Silva White, London and Workmen's Compensation Act, 1906. Easter 1920- 30 Jan. 1924. *23 sheets*.

# III.ix Aileen, Lady Farnham (wife of Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron)

#### MS 18,616/ 1-8

Personal and other letters regarding her charitable activities in Cavan during the Fist World War, receipts and other printed material. Correspondants include:

#### MS 18,616

Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron, Thomas Lough MP and the Archbishop

of Armagh. Also printed forms of intercession and prayer, with a pinted version of 'A sermon preached in St Patrick's Cathedral Armagh on Sunday, 16<sup>th</sup> Aug. 1914 by John B Crozier DD, Archbishop of Armagh'. 1896- 1914. *18 items*.

#### /2

Cyril Malcomson and C I Gibbs of The Queen's Hospital for Sick Children, London. 1914- July 1917. *5 items*.

#### /3

Cecilia Beatrice Kennedy, Daisy Gardiner, J Maxwell Green, Francis Daly Secretary of the County Cavan Agricultural Society and Temple Barton & Co. Aug. 1914. *16 items*.

#### /4

Henry Byers, L M Wood Manager of The Protestant Servants Registry Office, Maud Crawford, Betty Gannon and Clare Hunting. Sept. 1917. *23 items*.

#### 15

Stella Maxwell and Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron. Also one letter to Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron from Hearts of Oak Benefit Society. Oct-Nov. 1917. *10 items*.

#### **/6**

C E Leslie, N H Curn, Archbishop of Armagh, Ida Blackley, Mrs Birney, Somerset Arthur Maxwell and Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron. Also printed tickets for the Grand Red Cross Concert Matinee in the Protestant Hall, Cavan, 7 Dec. 1917. Nov.- Dec. 1917. *13 items*.

#### /7

Stella Maxwell, H Bewley and Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron. Also nomination papers to the Committee of the Girls Friendly Society. 1918. *10 items*.

#### /8

Ulster Women's Unionist Council, Carie Halpin, M Meikle and L M Wood Manager of The Protestant Servants Registry Office. Also printed material relating to the Mother's Union. 1920-1922 & undated. *12 items*.

## IV Personal papers of family members

Two of the Barons Farnham, are represented within this section, namely John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron and Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron. Those papers of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron are quite extensive and contain a run of short entry diaries for various years between 1820 and 1863, coupled with notebooks and journals detailing his continental tours undertaken during the 1830s and 1840s.

## IV.i John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron

MS 5,011 Printed political squibs and satires, in verse, song, slipsong and

playbill format relating to the Marquis of Wellesley, Lord Lieutenant of Ireland and to Charles Thorpe, Sheriff of Dublin.

1822-1823. 20 items in one volume.

MS 18,631 Note re funeral arrangements of John, 5<sup>th</sup> Baron. Sept. 1838. 1

sheet.

## IV.ii Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron

**MS 19,134-19,139** Geometry, history and literature notebooks of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron.

circa 1817. 6 small soft backed volumes.

**MS 19,091-19,116** Diaries of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron containing short entries for various

years between 1820 and 1863, (26 vol.) as follows:

/**19,091** 1820.

/**19,092** 1821.

/**19,093** 1822.

/**19,094** 1823.

/**19,095** 1824.

**/19,096** 1828.

/**19,097** 1829.

/**19,098** 1830.

/**19,099** 1831.

/**19,100** 1832.

/**19,101** 1834.

/**19,102** 1835.

/**19,103** 1836.

/**19,104** 1843.

/**19,105** 1845.

/**19,106** 1846.

/**19,107** 1849.

/**19,108** 1850.

/**19,109** 1852.

/**19,110** 1855.

/**19,111** 1856.

/**19,112** 1858.

/**19,113** 1859.

/**19,114** 1860.

/**19,115** 1861.

/**19,116** 1863.

MS 19,133 Notebook of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron entitled, 'Interesting and important

expositions by the Editor of the St. James' Chronicle. Irish Priests'.

[Undated, circa 1829]. 1 volume.

MS 3,505 Memorials of a journey from Aix La Chapelle to Frankfort on the

Maine. 15-25 Aug. 1836, made by Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1 volume.

MS 3,504 Notebook of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron containing notes mainly on the

Catholic Church and clergy. [Undated, circa 1838]. 1 volume.

**MS 19,145-19,147** Passports of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron. 1839, 1844 and 1850. *3 softbound* 

volumes.

MS 3,506 Part 1 of a journal of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron's tour on the Continent from

July 29 1839 to Sept. 27 1840. (Parts 2 and 3 are MS 4,103-4,104).

1 volume.

MS 4,103-4,104 Parts 2 and 3 of a journal of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron's tour on the

Continent from July 29 1839 to Sept. 27 1840. (Part 1 is MS 3,506).

2 volumes.

**MS 3,507-3,508** Journals of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron's tour on the Continent from 2 Oct.

1841 to 28 July 1842. 2 volumes.

MS 19,142 Volume entitled, 'Figures of the Egyptian Puzzle' belonging to

Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron. [Undated, *circa* 1849]. *I volume*.

MS 19,140-19,141 Notebooks of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron, containing lists of geological

specimens. [Undated, circa 1850]. 2 volumes.

Conservation note: several of the pages in MS 19,140 are lose and need attention.

MS 41,158 Prescriptions for Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron from Savory & Moore, London

May – Sept. 1850; and from George Roe, MD, Cavan, Feb.- Sept. 1850 and Sept. 1851; with a letter from Roe to Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron accompanying a medical report by Roe outlining his treatment and diagnosis of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron. Sept. 1850. Also an advertisement for Bourjeadurd's Spiral Supporters. *30 sheets with 9 covers*.

MS 11,494 Documentation including marriage settlements, extracts from

various Diocesan Registers of marriages and baptisms and letters relating to the claim and petition of Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron to vote at the

elections of representative peers. 1858-1859. 20 items.

# V Business papers of Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron

## V.i Steel industry

The 11<sup>th</sup> Baron acted as private secretary to Sir Glynn (Hamilton) West from 1923 to 1926. West was chairman of numerous English companies including: Sir W G Armstrong, Whitworth and Co.; Pearson and Knowles, Coal and Iron Co. Ltd.; Partington Steel and Iron Co. Ltd. and Rylands Bros., Ltd. This section is comprised mainly of correspondence in the form of letters, copy letters and telegrams. This material was originally held in ring folders. The original arrangement of the papers has been retained.

#### **Important notes:**

- 1. Please ensure that the order of these letters is retained in the folders.
- 2. As much of the material in this section is comprised of carbon copies carefully handling of the manuscripts is required.

#### MS 41,159 /1-9

Letters, copy letters and telegrams to Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron and copy letters of response from him, arranged by name of correspondent relating to the steel industry. 1923.

#### /1

Anglo-Indische Handelsgesellschaft, Berlin. 10-23 Apr. 1923. 15 sheets.

#### /2

Sir W G Armstrong, Whitworth & Co. Ltd. 1 Feb- 23 Aug. 1923. 60 sheets.

#### /3

Bruckenbau & Flender AG, Lubeck; George Cohen & Armstrong; Deustche Werke, Spandau; District Iron and Steel Company Ltd., Smethwick; Ferrostaal GmbH, Berlin; Prohl & Fricke, Saale; Fritz H Groeger, Hamburg; Messrs. Glockenstahlwerke; Fried Krupp and Metall-Montan, Berlin. 10 Mar.- 23 Aug. 1923. 32 sheets.

#### /4

Albert Ottenheimer, Koln and Otwi-Werke, Bremen. 14 Apr. –14 Aug. 1923. 40 sheets.

#### /5

Partington Steel and Iron Co. Ltd.14 Dec. 1922- 26 June 1923. 83 sheets.

#### /6

Partington Steel and Iron Co. Ltd. 3 July- 21 Aug. 1923. 95 sheets.

#### /7

Pearson and Knowles, Coal and Iron Co. Ltd. 21 Mar. - 31 July 1923. 39 sheets.

#### /8

Rawack & Grunfeld, Berlin; Messrs. Gabr. Rochling, Berlin; Roheisen-Verband, Hannover; Rylands Bros. Ltd., Warrington; Albert Sonnenberg, Dusseldorf; Carl Spaeter, GmbH; Maffei-Schwartzkopff GmbH, Berlin; Schweitzer & Oppler, Berlin; Hugo Stinnes, Berlin; Fritz Wazold & Co., Berlin; Weser, Bremen; Sir Glynn West; Adolf Wischmeyer, Bremen; Otto Wolff & Co., Koln and Woltereck & Roberstson, Hamburg. 15 Mar. 1923-31 July 1923. 70 sheets.

#### /9

Copy letter book of Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron, containing responses to some of the above mentioned correspondants. 12 Apr.- 1 Aug. (Undated, but most likely, 1923). *One soft bound volume*.

#### MS 41,160 /1-4

Letters to Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron from representatives of the Partington Steel & Iron Co. Ltd., Irlam, Manchester regarding the steel industry in Germany; also some copy letters responding to these. 1923-1924.

#### /1

Letters and copy letters: 4 Aug. - 31 Aug. 1923. *16 sheets*.

#### /2

2 Sept. - 27 Sept. 1923. 38 sheets.

#### /3

1 Oct. - 31 Oct. 1923. 25 sheets.

#### /4

12 Nov. 1923- 7 Mar. 1924. 18 sheets.

#### MS 41,161 /1-9

Copy correspondence between Pearsons & Knowles Coal & Iron Co. Ltd., Warrington and numerous other steel companys and their agents. Arranged by correspondents name, with copies forwarded to Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron; also several letters from Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron to various steel companies. 1923.

#### /1

Messrs. Cohen & Armstrong & Messrs. Bromberg & Co. Hamburg. 4 Aug.-15 Oct. 1923. *14 sheets*.

#### *1*2

Ernest Brinkmann, Hamburg. 4 Aug. –31 Aug. 1923. 47 sheets.

#### /3

Ernest Brinkmann, Hamburg. 1 Sept. – 28 Sept. 1923. 59 sheets.

#### /4

Ernest Brinkmann, Hamburg. 20 Oct.- 10 Dec. 1923. 20 sheets.

#### /5

Messrs. Dobbertin & Co., Hamburg, Messrs. Gartner, Gopfert & Rochholt, Hamburg, Pearson and Knowles, Coal and Iron Co. Ltd. and Partington Steel and Iron Co. Ltd. 4 Aug.- 13 Dec. 1923. 28 *sheets*.

#### /6

Rheinstahl Handelsgesellschaft, Hamburg and Rudolph Heinemann, Hamburg. 6 Sept. – 15 Dec. 1923. *19 sheets*.

#### /7

Carl Spaeter, Hamburg; Schemmann & Forstmann, Hamburg Schroder & Durlacher Hamburg; Heinrich Schutt, Hamburg; and Otto Schwartz. 30 Aug. 1923-12 Jan. 1924. 27 sheets.

#### **MS 41,161**

#### /8

Messrs. Aktien-Gesellschaft Hugo Stinnes, Hamburg and Carl F Struk, Hamburg. 23 Aug. –31 Oct. 1923. *39 sheets*.

#### /9

Vulcan Werke, Hamburg, Gustav Wagener, Ed Weber, Hamburg, Otto Wolff, Hamburg and Messrs. Gebr. Wollheim, Hamburg. 13 Aug.1923- 14 Jan. 1924. *44 sheets*.

#### MS 41,162 /1-5

Copy correspondence between Pearsons & Knowles, Coal & Iron Co. Ltd., Warrington and numerous other steel companys and their agents. Arranged by correspondents name, with copies forwarded to Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron; also correspondence between Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron and various steel companies. 1923. Some of the letters are written in German.

#### **/1**

Messrs. Ambo, Stahligesellschaft, Mayer & Co., Koln; Messrs. Peter Altenbach & Son, Ohligs; Messrs. F R & Wlater Berenbruch, Bremen; Dusseldorfer Eisenbahnbedarf, Dusseldorf and Eisen Industrie. 13 Aug.- 23 Nov. 1923. 22 sheets.

#### /2

Frahenbusch Co., Essen; Glockenstahlwerke Aktiengesellschaft; Messrs Max Heimann Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin; Firma Arthur Haendler, Dusseldorf; H Hoogewerff Junior & Co, Rotterdam; Partington Steel and Iron Co. Ltd; Klubsessel-Kroll, Berlin; Messrs Koholyt Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin; Luhr & Becker, Coblenz; Messrs. Material-Einkaufs-Gesellschaft, Berlin; Maschinenfabrik Schiess Aktiengesellschaft, Dusseldorf and Metall-Monan. 30 Aug.-7 Dec. 1923. 29 sheets.

#### /3

Albert Ottenheimer, Cologne; Eric C Palmer; Eduard Paul and The Phoenix Iron Co., Cologne. 15 Aug. 1923- 15 Feb. 1924. 71 sheets.

#### /4

Theodor Raatz, Berlin; Ridsdale & Co., Middlesborough, England; Gebr. Rochling, Koln; Roheisen-Verband, GmbH, Hanover and F Rudolph, Berlin. 4 Sept.- 3 Dec. 1923. 65 sheets.

#### /5

Hugo Stinnes, Berlin; Messrs J B Ulrich Aktien-Geselllschaft, Berlin; Verkehrsministerium, Berlin; Wilhelm Wehnert, Koln; B E Weser, Leipzig; Sir W G Armstrong, Whitworth & Co. Ltd; Winhag, Dusseldorf; Otto Wolff, Cologne and Erich Ziemer, Berlin. 24 Aug.- 27 Dec. 1923. *38 sheets*.

#### MS 41,163

Letters to Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron from representatives of George Cohen & Armstrong Disposal Corporation, regarding the sale of steel and from Sir W G Armstrong, Whitworth & Co., Ltd., detailing their monthly budgets, with some copy letters responding to these. 16 Aug. - 31 Oct.1923. Also, typed notes entitled 'German Finance' and another untitled document detailing the situation in the Ruhr region, possibly *circa* 1923, with several miscellaneous papers. *38 sheets*.

#### MS 41,164 /1-40

Copy letters and telegrams of Sir Glynn West. The letters etc., relate mainly to the iron and steel industry in England and Germany, with some letters relating to West's social life. 1924-1926.

#### /1

Alphabetical index of recipients of letters with corresponding copy letter number. Feb. – Dec. 1924. *26 sheets*.

#### /2

Copy letters numbered (in blue):

1-17 (20 Feb.- 27 Mar. 1924). 22 sheets.

#### /3

17A-52 (3 Apr. -30 Apr. 1924). 44 sheets.

#### /4

53-129 (1 May-30 May 1924). 78 sheets.

#### 15

130-165 (2 June- 30 June 1924). 36 sheets.

#### /6

166-249 (2 July- 31 July 1924). 86 sheets.

#### /7

250-304 (5 Aug.- 23 Aug. 1924). 60 sheets.

#### /8

305-366 (2 Sept.- 16 Sept. 1924). 65 sheets.

#### /9

367-436 (17 Sept. - 30 Sept. 1924). 73 sheets.

#### /10

437-489 (1 Oct.- 11 Oct. 1924). 55 sheets.

#### /11

490-547 (13 Oct.- 31 Oct. 1924). 62 sheets.

#### MS 41,164

/12

548-605 (1 Nov.- 14 Nov. 1924). 62 sheets.

#### /13

606-664 (17 Nov.- 28 Nov. 1924). 64 sheets.

#### /14

665-715 (1 Dec.- 12 Dec. 1924). 52 sheets.

#### /15

716-752 (16 Dec.- 31 Dec. 1924). 44 sheets.

#### **/16**

Alphabetical index of recipients of letters with corresponding copy letter number. Jan.- Aug. 1925. 23 sheets.

#### /17

Copy letters numbered (in blue):

1-44 (1 Jan.- 14 Jan. 1925). 44 sheets.

#### /18

45-89 (16 Jan.- 31 Jan. 1925). 49 sheets.

#### /19

90-139 (2 Feb.- 13 Feb. 1925). 49 sheets.

#### /20

140-183 (16 Feb.- 28 Feb.1925). 46 sheets.

#### **/21**

184-233 (2 Mar.- 13 Mar. 1925). 51 sheets.

#### /22

234-262 (17 Mar.- 31 Mar. 1925). 31 sheets.

#### /23

263-300 (2 Apr.- 17 Apr. 1925). 39 sheets.

#### /24

301-344 (20 Apr. - 30 Apr. 1925). 45 sheets.

#### /25

345-398 (1 May- 15 May 1925). 55 sheets.

#### **/26**

399-454 (18 May- 29 May 1925). 56 sheets.

#### /27

455-511 (2 June- 16 June 1925). 59 sheets.

#### MS 41,164

/28

512-575 (17 June- 30 June 1925). 67 sheets.

/29

576-635 (1 July- 17 July 1925). 62 sheets.

/30

636-701 (18 July- 31 July 1925). 69 sheets.

/31

702-741 (4 Aug.-13 Aug. 1925). 42 sheets.

/32

742-768 (14 Aug.-21 Aug. 1925). 29 sheets.

/33

Alphabetical index of recipients of letters with corresponding copy letter number. Mar. – June 1926. 24 sheets.

/34

Copy letters numbered (in blue):

1-62 (1 Mar-13 Mar. 1926); also one copy letter from J Fratzer Taylor to J Wolstenholme. 6 Nov. 1925. *63 sheets*.

/35

63-110 (15 Mar-31 Mar. 1926). 49 sheets.

/36

111- 153 (1 Apr.- 22 Apr. 1926). 45 sheets.

/37

154-191 (23 Apr. - 30 Apr. 1926). 40 sheets.

/38

192- 241 (1 May- 17 May 1926). 51 sheets.

/39

242-276 (18 May- 31 May 1926). 36 sheets.

/40

277-289 (1 June- 17 June 1926). 11 sheets.

### V.ii Monaghan Cinema Ltd.

Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron acted as Chairman of the Monaghan Cinema Ltd., during the period 1939-1949.

MS 41,165

Memorandum and arcticles of association of Monaghan Cinema Ltd. A private company) incorporated 4 June 1938. Printed in Monaghan at the Northern Standard. *17 pages with cover*.

MS 41,166 /1-3

Monthly attendance sheets, showing the number of customers attending daily at Monaghan Cinema Ltd. during the periods:

/1

Jan. 1939- Dec. 1941. 36 sheets.

/2

Jan. 1942- Dec. 1944. 36 sheets.

/3

Jan. 1945- Dec. 1947 & Jan. 1949. 38 sheets.

MS 41,167 /1-3

Monthly balance sheets for Monaghan Cinema Ltd. for the periods:

/1

Jan. 1939- Dec. 1941. 36 sheets.

/2

Jan. 1942- Dec. 1944. 36 sheets.

/3

Jan. 1945- Dec. 1946 & Jan. 1948- Jan. 1949. 37 sheets.

MS 41,168 /1-2

Annual balance sheets and accounts for Monaghan Cinema Ltd. for the years ending:

/1

9 Oct. 1939; 9 Oct. 1940; 9 Oct. 1943, with letter from company accountants and 9 Oct. 1944. *12 sheets*.

/2

9 Oct. 1945; 9 Oct. 1946, with copy of same and 9 Oct. 1947 with letter from company accountants. *10 sheets*.

MS 41,169

Annual report from the Directors of Monaghan Cinema Ltd., for the years ending 9 Oct. 1943; 1946 and 1947. Also Special Directors Report dated 9 Mar. 1949 detailing the sale of the company. Letter from Derrick Matin, Solr. Monaghan a director of the company to Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron regarding sale of the company. 1945 Apr. 14. Also Profit and Loss Account for the year ending 31 Dec. 1946 for Cavan Cinema Ltd. *11 sheets*.

## V.iii Representative Church Body

Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron was a representative of Kilmore Dioceses at the Church of Ireland Synod.

**MS 41,170** 

Bundle of typed, with some printed material, comprised of minutes of meetings and reports generated by the Commission of Financial Reconstruction, of the Church of Ireland dealing with: the proposed reduction in the number of Church of Ireland bishops; episcopal superannuation; episcopal expenses and episcopal stipends. Also several pages of handwritten notes by Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron regarding these matters; with some material generated by the Public Relations Committee of the Church of Ireland. 1950-1951. *54 sheets*.

### VI Miscellaneous material

15 items.

This final sub group of this list contains manuscript material, which while part of the Farnham collection of estate and family papers was deemed unsuitable for inclusion within the above sub groups.

D. 20,472	Copy of Charles I foundation charter of the Royal Free Schools of Mountnorris, county Armagh Mountjoy or Dungannon, county Tyrone; Lisgoole near Enniskillen, county Fermanagh; Cavan in county Cavan and another in the county of Donegal. (In latin) Conservation note: manuscript is in quite poor condition, some tears along the original folds.
MS 18,629	Memorandum regarding tithes in Ireland by J Groves and J Morgan. <i>circa</i> 1822-1823. 3 items.
MS 19,143	Press cuttings regarding Catholic emancipation measures. <i>circa</i> 1827-1834. <i>1 volume</i> .
MS 18,630	Cuttings from Irish newspapers, mainly re the Protestant interest in Co. Cavan. 1838. <i>circa 100 items</i> .
MS 41,171	Catalogues of books offered for sale by George Bumstead, London. 10 Mar. 1847- 10 Feb. 1859. <i>39 items</i> .
MS 18,632	Notes on Italian art, also draft of an index [for a book?]. circa 1850.

Notes and printed material relating to geology. circa 1850. 7 items.

MS 41,172

Copy book entitled 'Historie De L'art', containing picture postcards of the exteriors and interiors of various French chateaus and hotels, pieces of sculpture and paintings, with handwritten notes in French providing detail on the history and of each building, sculpture and painting. Undated, (most likely early 20<sup>th</sup> century, in female hand). Also contains one loose picture of people sledging; and one small loose photograph by F Bedford entitled, 'North Wales No. 85 Penmaenmawr Stone Depot and Railway' (This area may be close to Abergele in north Wales, where Henry, 7<sup>th</sup> Baron and his wife Anna, lost there lives in a railway disaster in August 1868). Both photographs, undated. *One volume and two loose photographs*.

MS 19,144

Linen Book Farnham House. 1906 Mar. 1 volume.

MS 18,634

Miscellaneous recipes. Early 20<sup>th</sup> century. 5 items.

MS 41,173 /1-2

World War I military maps of north France. It is most likely that these belonged to Arthur Kenlis, 11<sup>th</sup> Baron, who was Lt. Col. of the North Irish Horse and acting Lt. Col. of Royal Inniskilling Fusillers. These maps include:

#### /1

Cambrai detailing the Enemy Order of Battle 6 Dec. 1917. Scale 1:100,000. Printed Sept. 1917. *I sheet*.

#### /2

Gonnelieu with trenches corrected to 30 Sept. 1917. Scale 1:10,000. Printed Oct. 1917; and Demicourt with detail and trenches revised to 7 Nov. 1917. Scale 1:10,000. Printed Oct.1917. 2 canvas backed sheets.

Conservation note: part of the map of Demicourt is in quite poor condition.

MS 41,174

Typed and handwritten inventories of silver and other household contents. (Most likely in or from Farnham House). Undated, (handwritten inventory is dated July 1940). *13 sheets*.

**MS 41,175** 

Part of a letter between two unidentifiable persons, addressed from Derrins Hotel Downpatrick, county Down, relating to leases and holdings in Drumanaghan, parish of Loughlinisland, barony of Kinelarty, county Down [Merediths Estate] 8 Dec. [No year]. *I sheet*.

# **Index of Persons**

Abbott Anna 20	Pahington Thomas 125 140
Abbott, Anne, 39 Abbott, Charles, 138	Babington, Thomas, 135, 149 Bail, Catherine, 89
Acheson, Thomas, 61	Bailieboro Agricultural Society, 154
Adams, B, Rev, 145	Baker, James, 90
Adams, C J, 148, 150, 151	
	Baker, John, 154
Adams, Cosby, 148	Baker, Thomas, 86
Adams, Dean, Rev, 151	Baldwin, C S, 91
Adams, John, 139	Ball, Frisneed, 18, 19
Adams, Richard, 147	Ball, John, 89
Ager & Birchann, 93 Alcock, Alex, Rev, 140	Bangor, Edward Southwell, Viscount, 44, 97, 98
Aldridge, M, 138	Bangor, Harriet Margaret, Viscountess,
Allen & Halpin, Solicitors, 122, 156,	(nee Maxwell), 45, 98
157	Barclays Bank, Cologne, 156
Allen, John, 32, 92	Barlow, W J, 150
Allen, R, Solicitor, 68, 77, 124	Barlow, William T, 151
Alleyn, Humphrey, 28, 29	Barnwell, Peter, 20
Allport, Josiah, Rev, 143, 144	Barry, Charles, 19, 20
Altham, Ursula, Lady, 11	Barry, James, 11, 37, 39, 96
Anderson, James, 12	Barry, Judith, 37
Anglo-Indische Handelsgesellschaft,	Barry, Mary, 11
162	Barry, Matthew, 11
Annesley, Juliana Lucy, 37	Barry, Nicholas, 18
Annesley, Lucy, Lady, 84	Barry, Paul, 37
Annesley, Richard, 83	Battensby, Thomas, 145
Annesley, William, 139	Battersby, William, 139
Arbuthnot, Charles, MP, 141	Baxter, Mark, 25
Armstrong, Elliott, 149	Beale, Thomas, 78
Armstrong, James, 93, 146	Beatt, A, 107, 114, 115, 116
Armstrong, John, 66, 93, 150, 151	Beattie, John, 98
Armstrong, Robert, 120	Beatty, Francis, 149
Armstrong, Thomas, 139, 147	Beatty, John, 146, 150, 155
Armstrong, William, 148	Beatty, John, Rev, 150
Arskine, Robert, 51	Bective, Earl of, 145
Ashe, Ann, 41	Begnall, Richard, 52
Ashe, John, 20	Bell, Andrew, 52, 81, 139, 146, 147,
Ashe, Joseph, 21	148, 149, 150, 151
Ashe, Richard, 21	Bell, John, 80, 81, 84, 106, 107, 135
Ashe, St George, Bishop of Derry, 41	Bell, Richard, 143, 150
Ashe, Susanne, 21	Bell, Robert, 81, 136
Ashe, Thomas, 20	Bell, William, 145, 148, 149, 151
Ashe, Thomas, Sir, 20	Bellingham, William, Sir, 86
Ashton, Samuel, 103	Belmore, Somerset Lowry Corry, Earl
Atcheson, R W, 106, 128	of, 84
Babington, Michael, 136, 145, 147,	Benison, Joseph, 145
148	Benison, William, 148

Benister, James, 106, 127, 128, 130, Bole, James, 48 Bole, John, 48 135 Benister, Robert, 106, 108, 109, 110, Bollard, John, 29 111, 112, 115, 117, 119, 120, 123, Bolton, Lyndon, 150 124, 125, 127, 128, 129, 131, 132, Bonnett, Arthur, 11 134, 135 Booker, Mary, 155 Benister, William, 135 Booth, Andrew Bell, 151 Bennett, Edward, 58 Booth, George Thomas Bell, 151 Bennett, James, 89 Booth, John Bell, 85 Bennett, John, 59 Booth, Robert Bell, 85 Bennett, Thomas, 55 Bourke, Richard, Bishop of Waterford, Bennett, William, 58, 127 91, 92 Bennister, Joseph, 59 Boyd, George, 80 Bennister, William, 135 Boyd, John, 149, 150 Bera, Daniel, Jnr. 59 Boylan, Patrick, 154 Beresford, George de la Poer, Bishop Boylan, Peter, 66 of Kilmore, 148 Boyle, Maxwell James, 145, 150, 152 Beresford, John George, Boyton, Charles, Rev. 141 Lord, Archbishop of Armagh, 150 Brabazon, George, 144 Beresford, Marcus, Rev, 141, 148, 150 Bradburn, Alexander, 58 Beresford, Tristram, Sir, 25 Bradburn, John, 58 Brady, Ellen, 114 Berney, John, 150 Berry, Alexander, 148 Brady, Henry, 55 Betagh, Henry, 37 Brady, Hugh, 146 Betty, John, 148 Brady, James, 106, 130, 131, 132, 134, Betty, William, Rev, 149 135 Brady, Patrick, 17 Bewley, H, 158 Bigger, George, 46 Brady, Peter, 72 Brady, Terence, 90 Binney, R, 98 Brady, Thomas, 17 Birchall, William, 44 Birchann, William, 87, 90, 92 Breen, Thomas, 59 Birney, Mrs, 158 Breiden, James, 140 Blacker, Maxwell, 30, 142 Bridges & Masons, 87 Blacker, Mr, 98 Brinkmann, Ernest, 163 Blacker, William, 147 Briody, Bridget, 119 Blackley, Ida, 158 Brook, Richard B, Rev, 150 Blackley, T R, 35, 108, 118, 133, 138, Brooke, Henry, Sir, 143 Brooke, W H, 148, 149 155, 156 Blackwood, R B, 145, 146, 148 Brooke, William, 145, 151, 152 Bland, C H, 156 Broomhead, Edward F, Rev, 140 Bleakley, Hanna, 126 Broughton, Henry Arthur, 43 Bleakley, Thomas, 89 Browne, Catherine, 42 Bleakley, William, 49 Browne, George, 42 Bleakly, George, 49 Browne, James, 42 Bleakly, John, 49 Browne, John, 42, 57, 86 Bleakly, William, 49 Browne, John, Rev, 42, 83 Blenkarne, William Henry, 25 Browne, Joseph Deane, 46 Blennerhassett, AG, 147 Browne, M, 87 Bogham, Peter, 11 Brownrigg, Henry, 83 Bole, George, 48 Bruckenbau & Flender, 162

Brush, Abraham, 102, 104, 105, 109, Carmichael, William, 14 117, 129, 137 Carmichael, William, Archbishop of Buckingham, Robert Hobart, Earl of, Dublin, 16 Carmichael. William, **Bishop** of Bullock, H, Rev, 140 Clonfert, 15 Bumstead, George, 169 Carmichael, William, **Bishop** of Bundle & Ridges, Jewellers, 86 Leighlin and Ferns, 16 Burke, Gerald, 24 Carney, Mrs, 131 Burke, Theobald, 81 Carroll, George, 156 Burns, Joseph, 73 Carroll, John, 142 Burrowes, Major, 145 Carson, Adam, 55 Burrowes, Miss, 151 Cartwright, George, 60 Burrowes, Robert, 147, 149, 151, 152 Carty, John, 80 Cassidy, Hugh, Rev, 131 Burrowes, Thomas, 150, 151 Burrowes, William, 143 Cassidy, John, 128 Busteed, John, 142 Castleconnell, Theobald Burke, Baron Butler, Richard, 71 Buvor, John, 83 Castlereagh, Robert Stewart, Viscount, Byars, William, 64 138 Cathcart, Jane, 23 Byers John, 108 Byers, Henry, 64, 158 Caulfield, William, 83 Byers, John, 72, 156 Cavan Cinema Ltd, 168 Byers, Joseph, 72 Cavan Corporation, burgess of, 17, 18 Cavan Urban District Council, 157 Byers, Robert, 72 Byers, William, 72, 73 Cavan, Corporation of, 89 Byers, William, Snr, 73 Cavendish, Henry, Sir, 37 Caffrey, A, Rev, 146 Chambers, Charles, 52 Chambers, Henry, 52, 145 Caffrey, Connor, 51, 52 Cahill, Francis, 137 Chambers, John, 147 Cahill, Pat, 119 Chambers, Thomas, 52 Cahill, Rose, 156 Chaplin, Henry, Viscount, 156 Charles, George, 149 Caldwell, John, Sir, 145, 146 Caldwell, Samuel, 66 Charleville, Catherine Maria, Countess, 148 Caldwell, Thomas, 155 Callaghan, George, 140 Cheevers, Samuel, 52 Campbell, D, 88 Chenevix, Philip, 15 Campbell, James, 106, 136 Chibborn, Edward, 154 Campbell, Robert, 145 Clanrickard, John Smith, Earl of, 31, Cannan, H, 91 32 Clarke, James, 108 Cannon, John William, 43, 45 Carden, Anne, Mrs, 43 Clarke, Margaret, 145, 146 Carl Spaeter, GmbH, 162, 163 Clarke, R Bell, 145 Carmichael, James, 15, 16 Clarke, Ralph, 30 Carmichael, Janet, 15 Clarke, Robert H, Rev, 76 Carmichael, John, 13, 14, 15, 16 Clarke, Terence, 75 Carmichael, John Jaucourt, 14 Clarke, Thomas, 68, 74, 108 Carmichael, John Jaucourt, Rev, 14 Clemenger, A, 148 Carmichael, John, Major, 13, 14 Clemenger, William, 49 Carmichael, Mary, 14, 15, 16, 96 Clements, Colonel, 147, 151, 152 Carmichael, Mary, Mrs, 15 Clements, H, 145, 154

Clements, Henry Theophilus, Lieut. Coote, William, 114 Colonel, 54 Cootes, Charles, 64 Cootes, John, 67 Clements, James, 91, 139 Clements, Robert, 23, 24, 41 Cootes, William, 67 Clements, Theophilus, 41 Coots, John, Snr, 67 Cleminger, Richard, 59 Coots, William, 74 Cleminger, William, 59, 125 Corkedale, John, 90, 156 Clermont, William Charles, Viscount, Cornwallis, Charles, Earl, 138 Corr, Catherine, 89 87, 88 Clermont, William Henry, Earl of, 34, Corry, Thomas Charles Stewart, 22 40 Costello, M, 154 Clifford, Olivia, 156 Cottingham, E, Captain, 141 Clifford, Walter, 17 Cottingham, Edward, 22, 50, 51, 78, Clifford, William, 18 87, 147 Clinton, William, 143 Cottingham, H, Rev, 147 Cottingham, Henry, Rev, 50, 51, 78, Clive, Theophilus, 43 Cochrane, James, Jnr, 72 84, 151 Cochrane, James, Snr, 72 Cottingham, J H, 139 Cochrane, William, 72 Cottingham, James, Rev. 21, 22, 50, Cockburn, William, Rev, 83 51,97 Cockrane, John, 43, 44 Cottrell, Clement, 28 Cockrane, John Snr, 44 Country Gentleman's Association, 156 Cockrane, Robert, 69, 79 Courtown, James George, Earl of, 140 Cockrane, Thomas, 145, 146 Cox, Ambrose, 83 Coddington, Henry, 13 Coyle, Terence, 52 Coghill, Marmaduke, 37, 41 Coyne, Dr, 152 Colclough, A Vesey, 87 Coyne, Nicholas, 81 Colclough, B M, 87 Craddock, Mary, 41 Colclough, Captain, 152 Craig, James, Sir, 12 Colclough, James, 86 Craig, Lewis, 12 Colclough, Matilda Barker, 82 Craig, Robert, 12, 13, 14 Crawford, Jason, 146, 149 Colclough, Sarsfield, 46, 87 Collins, William, 71 Crawford, Maud, 158 Combe, Thomas, 83 Creighton, D H, 140, 143 Comerford, Charles, 74 Creighton, John, 44, 45, 60, 149 Connellan, Thaddeus, 43 Creighton, Robert, 152 Connor, Edward, 128 Crichton, Charlotte, Lady, 41, 42 Connor, Nelly, 89 Crichton, Helen, Lady, 42 Connor, Samuel, 47 Crichton, Mary, Lady, 41, 42 Crichton, Samuel, Hon, 41, 42 Cook, James, 53 Cooke, Jane, 42 Crofton & Son. 85 Cooke, Patrick, Jnr. 52 Crofton, Hugh, 139, 145, 148 Crofton, Morgan, 42 Cooke, Patrick, Snr, 52 Cooke, William, 49, 146 Crofton, William, 42 Cooney, Edward, 92 Crookshank, William, 13 Cooper, William, 27, 31 Crosse, Sylvester, 11 Coote, Charles, 107, 143, 145, 149, Crothers, Samuel, 73 150, 151 Crowe, Margery, 95 Coote, John, 109 Crozier, John B, Archbishop Coote, Thomas, 107 Armagh, 158

Cullen, Colonel, 151 Delamar, Peter, 27 Cullen, Pat, 120 Dempsey, Richard, 89 Culme, Arthur, 32, 33, 34 Denham, Joseph, Rev. 147 Culme, Benjamin, 32 Devereux, J, 144 Culme, Jane, 33, 34, 99 Devereux, John, 46 Cumiskey, Terence, 52 Devereux, Thomas, 46 Cumming, Robert, 68 Dickson, James, 150 Cummins, John, 147 Dickson, John, 147, 151 Cunning, Hugh, 146 Dickson, Joseph, 145, 146, 150, 151 Cunningham, Robert, 95 Dillon, Thomas, 83 Cunningham, W, Rev, 141 District Iron and Steel Company Ltd, Cuppage, Faustin, 30, 31 162 Curn, N H, 158 Dobson, William, 76 D'Arcy, William, 149 Dodson, John, 71 Dalley, Sarah, Mrs, 44 Domvile, Compton, Sir, 20 Daly, Denis, 25, 26, 27, 80 Donaldson, Joseph, 48, 123 Daly, Francis, 72, 158 Doneraile, Hayes, Viscount, 21 Donnelly, Eliza, 51 Daly, Owen, 63 Daly, Peter, 25, 26, 27, 141 Donnelly, John, 145 Donohoe, James, 52 Daly, R, Rev, 144 Daly, Samuel Allen, 144 Donohoe, Patrick, 108 Daly, TW, 156 Donohoe, Thomas, 52 Danvers, G Butler, 151 Donovan & Walker, 86 Danvers, G F Butler, 148 Dopping, Henry, 149 Danvers, J Butler, 146 Doughty, Robert, 83 Darcy, Ann, Mrs, 81 Down, Richard, 86 Darcy, Anne, 27, 89 Doyle, John, 45, 65 Darcy, John Francis, 139 Doyne, Robert, Hon, 30, 31 Drew, Thomas, 142 Dardes, Lawrence, 17, 18 Darley, George, 142 Driscoll, J, 86 Driscoll, Timothy, 145 Darmody, Cormick, 52 Darnwell, William, 44 Drope, James, 29 Davis, George, 56 Drummond, T, 92 Davis, Henry, 48 Duckett, George, Sir, 87 Davis, Hugh, 48 Duckworth, R, Sir, 94 Davis, James, 146 Dunn, Ann, 42 Davis, John, 149 Dunn, Anne, Mrs, 40 Davis, Mrs, 131 Dunn, James, 42 Davis, Richard, 54 Dunn, James, Rev, 40 Davis, Robert, 49, 151 Dunsany, Bridget, Lady, 26 Dunsany, Edward Plunkett, Lord, 25, Davis, Thomas, 48, 49 Davis, William, 29, 30 Dawson, George Robert, Rt Hon, 78 Dunsany, Mary, Lady, 25, 27 Dawson, Ralph, 146 Earle, William, 140 De Bernatre, Daniel, 13 Ebbitt, Joseph, 63 De La Poer, George, Bishop of Ebbott, Joseph, 61, 63 Kilmore, 30 **Ecclesiastical** Commissioners of Deane, Andrew, 146 Ireland, 30 Deane, William, 80 Echlin, Charles, 41 Dease, Gerald, 139, 148, 151 Edgeworth, Francis, Rev, 146, 147

Edwards, Francis, 39 Firma Arthur Haendler, 164 Elliott, C & R, 154 Fitzgerald, Ann, Lady, 81 Elliott, Francis, 47, 106, 127 Fitzgerald, Henry Vesey, Rev, 28 Elliott, Henry, 115 Fitzgerald, Thomas, 42 Elliott, James, 149 Fitzmaurice, Thomas, 37 Elliott, John, 101, 125 Fitzpatrick, John, 86, 87 Elliott, Widdis, 50 Fitzpatrick, M, 147 Elliott, William, 100 Fitzpatrick, Michael, 52 Ellis, A, Rev, 146, 149, 150, 152 Fitzpatrick, Thomas, 41 Fleming, JS, 150 Ellis, Arthur, 139 Ellis, Arthur, Rev, 148 Fleming, John, 91 Ellis, Henry, 40, 42 Fleming, Thomas, 31 Ellis, Malcolm, 151 Fleming, William, 145 Ellis, Thomas, 50, 141, 147 Fletcher, William, 140 Ellis, William, 46 Flood, Frederick, Sir, 37 Elrington, Thomas, Bishop of Ferns, Flood, Patrick, 148 144 Foley, Elizabeth, 45 Elwood, N, 88 Foley, Margaret, 46 Ely, John, Marquis of, 140, 142, 143 Foley, Samuel, 45 Foley, Thomas, 46 Emo, Arthur, 122 Ennis, Thomas H, 150 Forster, Eleanor, 45 Enniskillen, John Willoughby, Earl of, Forster, T, 139 143 Forster, Thomas, 36 Erskine, Robert, 51 Forster, Thomas, Rev, 150 Erskine, William, 42, 128, 144 Forster, William, 36, 60 Eustace, Charles, Rev. 91, 104 Forsythe, Robert, Jnr, 67 Eustace, Maurice, Sir, 43 Foster, Anthony, 37 Evans, John, Jnr, 76 Foster, J Leslie, 148 Foster, John, 37, 76, 84 Evans, John, Snr, 76 Fannin, Thomas, 52 Foster, Margaret, 37, 81 Faris, George, 57 Foster, Thomas, 37, 70 Faris, William, 59 Foster, Thomas, Rev, 83 Farnan, William, 86 Foster, William, 37 Farrell, James, 34, 40 Foster, William, Bishop of Clogher, 40 Farrelly, Thomas, 53 Foster, William, Bishop of Cork, 37 Fawcett, James, 139, 148, 149 Foster, William, Bishop of Kilmore, Fay, John, 117 40, 80 Fegan, Edward, 150 Fowler, John, 45 Fegan, Humphrey, 60 Fowler, Robert, 45 Fegan, Robert, 71 Fowles, James, 51 Fox, Barry, 46, 87 Fegan, William John, 118 Fenner, Richard, 18 Fox, Charles, 42, 46, 55, 85, 86, 87, Fenner, William, 94 89, 91, 92, 94, 98, 104, 149, 152 Fenwick, Robert, 91 Fox, Francis, 149, 150 Fergurson, Robert, 139 Fox, Francis, Rev, 30 Ferguson, J, 147 Fox, Henrietta, 41, 43, 46 Ferrostaal GmbH, 162 Fox, Luke, 96 Finlay, George, 151 Fox, Michael, 146, 149 Finlay, John, 127, 148 Fox, Richard, 30, 46 Finley, Achenson, 122 Frahenbusch Co, 164

Frazer, George, 106, 109, 110, 118 Graham, James, 58 Freake, Borough, Arnuit & Co, 92 Graham, John, 47 Freeland, George, 108 Graham, Robert, 50, 64 Fried Krupp and Metall-Montan, 162 Graham, William, 147 Fritz Wazold & Co., 162 Grand Jurors of County Cavan, 22 Frood, Thomas N, 147 Grattan, Henry, 35, 147 Frood, Thomas, Major, 146 Graves, James, 154 Gaffney, Mary, 148 Gray, James, 17, 18 Gaffney, Philip, 52 Green, J Maxwell, 158 Gallagher, George, Jnr, 141 Greene, J. 148 Gamble, Samuel, 140, 146, 149 Greene, Richard W, 89 Gannon, Betty, 158 Gregg, Jared, 65 Gardiner, Daisy, 158 Gregory, E Tighe, Rev, 147 Gardiner, Luke, 25 Gregory, Faulkner. Gregory & Garnet, J, Rev, 143 Skirrow, 93 Grehan, Stephen, 43 Garnott, Nicholas, 17 Gavin, John, 80 Greyson, G L, Rev, 146, 147 George Cohen & Armstrong, 162, 165 Grier, James, 106, 118, 136 Grier, Robert, 64 Gerahty, James, 41 Gerard, J M, 85 Griffin, Mrs, 93 Gerrard, Mary, Mrs, 44 Griffin, William, 93 Gibbs, C I, 158 Griffith, A, 141 Gibney, Edward, 90 Griffith, Anthony, 147 Gibson, Bridget, 19 Griffith, Christopher, 67 Gibson, Charles, 18, 19 Griffith, Christopher, Jnr, 67, 74 Gibson, John, 17, 18 Griffith, Richard, 139 Gibson, Lettice, 19 Griffith, Robert, 67 Gibson, Richard, 46 Griffiths, John, 154 Gibson, Robert, 68 Groeger, Fritz H, 162 Groves, J, 169 Gibson, William, 63, 64, 147, 148 Gilbert, Claudius, Rev, 41 Gumley, James, 148 Gumley, John, Rev, 147, 149, 150 Gilpin, Richard, 50 Gumley, Robert, 149 Ginzell, Leo R, 156 Glenton, William, 90 Gwynne, William, 47 Goddard, Norris, 155, 156 Haddington, Thomas, Earl of, 144 Godley, Archibald, 49, 68, 77, 94, 124, Haire, Mary, Mrs, 84 Haise, Henry, 69 156 Godley, Janie, 156 Hale, George, 44 Godley, John, 46, 49, 87, 144, 146 Hales, Edward, Rev, 147 Godsal, Philip, 83 Hall, Thomas, 14 Golding, GR, Rev, 150 Halliday, John, 62, 63 Golrake, Michael, 60 Halliday, Joseph, 83 Goodfellow, John, 47 Halpin, Carrie, 158 Gore, Esther Elizabeth, 42 Hamilton, Alexander, 55 Hamilton, Francis, Sir, 29 Gore, Ralph, Sir, 41, 146, 148 Gore, William, 13 Hamilton, Hans, 143, 144 Gosford, Archibald, Earl of, 148 Hamilton, John, 55 Goslin, Nicholas, Rev, 42 Hamilton, Robert, 86 Gosselin, William, 43, 52, 83, 94, 147 Hamilton, William, Snr, 55

Graham, Hector, 27, 41, 81, 136

Hampson, Charles, 30, 31

Hampson, Thomas, 30 Hetherington, William, 76 Hanna, Thomas, 64 Hewitt, JM A, 86 Hardinge, H, Sir, 144 Hewitt, William, 58, 59, 94 Hardridge, H, Sir, 144 Hickling, Theodora Mary, 156 Harkness, John, 48 Hill, Elizabeth, 18 Harpendale, Thomas, Rev. 92 Hill, Henry, 154 Harpur, William, 149 Hill, Richard, 18 Harris, John, Rev, 150 Hill, Robert, 18 Harrison, Captain, 147 Hill, Samuel, 143 Harrison, James, 77 Hinds, Alexander, 147 Harrods, London, 157 Hinds, George, 148 Hartley, Abraham, 150 Hinds, Ralph, 146, 147 Hartley, James, 56 Hinds, Walter F, 150 Hartley, Thomas, 56, 150 Hitchcock, Richard, 154 Hassard, Francis, 151 Hix, John, Jnr, 48 Hassard, John, 93 Hix, John, Snr, 48 Hastings, Henry, 38 Hodgson, Elizabeth, 44 Hastings, James, 23 Hodgson, Major, 157 Hastings, Jane (nee Somerville), 23 Hodson, A, Sir, 149, 150 Hastings, William, 24 Hodson, G F, Sir, 150, 151 Haughton, George, 11 Hogg, John, 72, 107 Hogg, Rev, Dr, 133 Hawthorne, Mrs, 92 Haydn, Joseph, 142 Hogg, Samuel, 72 Hayes, EL, Sir, 144 Hogg, William, 75, 115 Hogg, William, Snr, 75 Headfort, Thomas, Marquis of, 143, 148, 149 Hole, Walter, 86 Hearn, Daniel, Rev, 21 Hope, Anthony, 30 Heaslip, Benjamin, 65 Hopper, Moses, 43, 44 Hort, Josiah, Bishop of Kilmore, 79 Heaslip, Christopher, 65 Heaslip, Isaiah, 65 Howden, Theodosia, Baroness, 41 Heaslip, James, 56 Howison, James, 13 Heaslip, John, 65 Howison, John, 14 Heaslip, Joseph, 66 Huffington, J, 140 Heaslip, Lowry, 90 Huggins, Andrew, 50 Heaslip, Robert, 60 Huggins, James, 49 Heaslip, Samuel, 70 Hume, Arthur, 45, 83 Heaslip, William, 70 Hume, Matilda, 157 Heinemann, Rudolph, 163 Humphreys Nugent, 99 Henderson, Frances, 52 Humphreys, Eliza, 94 Henderson, John, 52 Humphreys, Richard, 58 Humphreys, Thomas, 56 Hennery, William, 51 Henry, Hugh, 13, 24, 25, 39 Humphries, John, 58 Henry, James, 67 Humphrys, George, 83 Henry, Robert, 67 Humphrys, Thomas, 83 Henry, Robert Jnr, 67 Hunt, Charles, 90 Henry, Samuel, 67 Hunter, Andrew, 75 Henry, Thomas, 116 Hunter, James, 66 Herbert, Catherine Thomasina, 81, 83 Hunter, John, 75 Herbert, Mary Lucinda, 81 Hunter, Samuel, 69

Herdman, Nathaniel, 146

Hunter, Thomas, 69

Kavanagh, C, 157 Hunter, William, 69 Hunting, Clare, 158 Kavanagh, T, 144 Huson, Nathaniel, 41 Keating, John, 82 Hutchinson, William, 98 Keenan, Constantine, 65 Hutton, John, 142 Kellet, David, 147 Ingham, Joseph, 33 Kellet, Francis, 147, 149 Irish Land Commission, 56, 108, 109, Kellet, Francis, Rev, 150 119 Kellet, James, 55, 145, 146 Irish Olympic Council, 157 Kellet, William, 50 Irvine, William D'Arcy, 147, 148 Kellett, John, 68 Irwin, Archdeacon, 147 Kelly, D, 141 Irwin, Richard, 148, 150 Kelly, William, 66 Irwin, Richard Standish Phibbs, 71 Kemp, Edward, 61 Irwin, William, 148 Kemp, George, 88 Jackson, George, 124 Kemp, James, 58 Jackson, J D, 144 Kemp, Thomas, 88 Jackson, John, 47, 59, 133 Kemp, William, 61, 135 Jackson, Robert, 123 Kennedy, Arthur H, 144 Jackson, S J, 93 Kennedy, Cecilia Beatrice, 158 Jackson, William, 156 Kennedy, James, 31 Jagger, Walter, Dr, 157 Kennedy, Samuel, 108 Jarron, George, 155 Kenny, Charles, 63 Jennings, James, 112 Kenny, Michael, 55, 61, 62, 63 Jephson, Mary, 58 Kenny, Thomas, 60 Kerr, Captain, 82 Jervais, Anne, Mrs, 83 Jervais, Catherine, 83 Kerr, Mark, 87 Kerr, Richard, 28, 83, 86, 136 Jervais, Charles, 39 Jervois, Catherine, 45 Kettyleton, John, 68 Jervois, Sampson, 45 Kilbee, HJ, 151 Jocelyn, Robert, 79 Kilkenny, Robert Dillon, Sir, Baron, Johnston, Alexander, 47 Johnston, Irvine, 148 Kilroy, Anthony, 52, 89 Johnston, JB, 140 Kilroy, Elizabeth, 87 Johnston, James, 80 Kilroy, James, 106, 129 Johnston, John, 13 Kilroy, Richard, 52, 87 Johnston, Joseph, 59, 61, 62, 63 Kinahan, D, 144 Johnston, Richard, 68, 109 King, AB, Sir, 147 Johnston, Robert, 25, 31, 47 King, Charles, 92 Johnston, Thomas, 124 King, John, 142 Johnston, W, 151, 152 King, Robert, 15 Johnston, William, 56, 90, 156 Kinkade, Moses, 46 Jones, Henry, 139 Kinkead, Thomas, 46 Jones, J M, 149, 150 Kinslagh, Cromwell, 33, 34 Jones, James, 148, 152 Kinslagh, Thomas, 33 Jones, John, 92 Kirk, Samuel, 53 Jones, John Moutray, 42 Knapp, George, 142 Jones, M J, 150 Knipe, G M, 146, 148, 149, 150, 151 Jones, T, Rev, 140 La Touche, David, 26, 80, 83 Jones, William, 140 La Touche, David, Jnr, 80

Ladley, Robert, 94

Kane, Nathaniel, 80

Lahey, James, 79 Love, Mary, 83 Lahey, John, 63 Love, Samuel, 68, 75 Lahy, Henry, 63 Love, Thomas, 69 Lahy, James, 90 Love, William, 90 Lahy, Patrick, 70 Lowdham, L A, 148 Lahy, William, 52, 90 Lowds, Richard, 150 Lahy, William, Snr, 53 Lowe, Thomas, 90 Lambart, C J, Rev, 82 Lowry, George, 111 Lambart, Gustavis, 141 Lowry, John, 77 Lucas-Clements, Theophilus, 145 Lanagan, John, 55 Lanauze, Robert, 148 Ludlow, John, 70 Lanazaue, Henry, 83 Luhr & Becker, 164 Lanesborough, Brinsley, Earl of, 139 Lumley, Frederick, 148 Langford, Henry, 25 Lundie, George, 109 Lanuze, Andrew, 80 Lynch, Edward, 146, 149 Lawless, John, 144 Lynch, Joseph, 149 Le Despenser, Lady, 154 Lynch, Owen, 106, 136 Le Poer Power, Trench, Archbishop of Lynch, Thomas, 52 Tuam, 91, 92, 143, 144 Lyndon, George, 55 Lea, Samuel P, 147 Lyons, Anne, Mrs, 91 Leathley, Joseph F, Rev, 152 MacCartney, Thomas, Sir, 83 Lee, John, 140 MacLeod, Captain, 147 Lefroy, Thomas, MP, 141 MacLeod, John, 143 Leinster, Augustus Frederick, Duke of, Maculla, Ann (nee Gibson), 19 142 Maculla, Michael, 19 Lennon, George, 148 Magee, Charles, 48 Lennox Napier, James, 31 Magee, John, 49 Lennox, William, 15, 16 Magee, Robert, 50 Leslie, CE, 158 Magenis, Dean, 90 Letoler, Thomas, 94 Magill, John, 77, 117 Leviston, George, 59 Magill, Robert, 73, 96, 140 Leviston, James, 59 Magill, Thomas, 156 Leviston, William, 62 Magrath, Luke, 145, 149 Lewis, Thomas, 84 Maguerin, Francis, 148 Lindon, George, 54 Maguire, James, 77 Lindon, John, 61, 63 Maguire, Richard, 71 Lindsay, Miss, 92 Mahon, Nicholas, 42, 83 Linegar, John, 32 Mahood, James, 68 Littell, James, 23 Major, Stephen, 90 Little, William, 49, 145, 150, 151 Major, Thomas, 139, 146 Litton, John, 43, 86, 89 Makemson, John, 77 London & Dublin Bank, 154 Malcomson, Christopher, 77 London & Ulster Bank, Cavan, 157 Malcomson, Cyril, 158 London County & Westminster Bank, Malcomson, James, 77 Malcomson, John, Jnr, 77 Longford, Thomas, Baron, 144 Malcomson, John, Snr, 77 Lough, Thomas, 158 Malcomson, Thomas, 77 Love, Francis, 128 Malone, Pat, 134 Love, James, 109 Mandeville, George, Viscount, 144 Love, John, 68 Manning, Samuel, 61

Markland, Ralph, 140 McCabe, John, 56 Marks, Andrew, 106, 111 McCabe, Myles, 27 Marriott, Joseph, 41 McCally, Robert, 90, 150 Marshall, Major, 147, 148 McCann, Thomas, 90 McCauley, Alexander, 39 Martin, John, 86 Martin, Samuel, 146, 150, 151 McCauley, William, 48, 76 Maryborough, William, Baron, 150 McCausland & Fetherstone, 94 Maschinenfabrik **Schiess** McCausland, William, 34 Aktiengesellschaft, 164 McCawley, William, 106, 123 Massareene, John, Viscount, 37 McClean, Arthur, 67 Matthews, James, Rev, 147 McClean, Molly, 90 Maude, E A, Colonel, 157 McClean, William, 52 Maunsell, R, 157 McClelland, John, 92 Mauvillain, Sarah, 40 McClintock, Alexander, 23 Maxwell, Barry Somerset, Hon, 156 McClintock, Alexander, Rev, 42 Maxwell, CE, 157 McClintock, Lowry Cole, 140 Maxwell, Denis, Hon, 156 McCollum, J & Son, 110, 112 Maxwell, Edward William, Hon, 45 McCollum, James, 106, 112, 113, 120, Maxwell, George William, Hon, 45 121, 122, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 128, 129, 130, 131, 132, 133, 134, Maxwell, JB, 88 Maxwell, James, 61 135 Maxwell, John, d. 1713, 29, 43, 96 McCollum, James A, 106, 131 Maxwell, Joseph, 83 McConnell, Thomas, 73 Maxwell, Margaret, 60 McCormick, John, 148 Maxwell, Richard Thomas, Hon, 45 McCrea, J B, Rev, 140 McCreight, Andrew, Rev. 46, 54, 87 Maxwell, Robert, 155 Maxwell, Robert (brother of John, 1st McCully, Henry, 69 Baron), 37 McCutchen, David, 74 Maxwell, Robert Thomas, Hon, 41, 45 McDowall, John, 61 Maxwell, Robert, Bishop of Kilmore, McDowall, Thomas, 57, 129, 134 29, 96 McDowell, James, 60, 63 Maxwell, Robert, of Falkland, McDowell, John, 54, 138 Monaghan, 37 McDowell, John, Jnr, 54 Maxwell, Robert, Rev. d. 1737, 29, 33, McDowell, John, Snr, 54 34, 35, 37, 39 McDowell, Luke, 63 Maxwell, Somerset Arthur, Hon, 158 McDowell, Samuel, 54 Maxwell, Stella, Hon, 158 McDowell, Thomas, 88 McDowell, William, 54, 55, 126 Maxwell, Verena, Hon, 157 Maxwell, William George, Hon, 43, 45 McElwain, James, 73 Maxwell, William, Dr, 85 McElwain, John, 72 McElwain, Thomas, 73 Maxwell, William, Rev, 40 McElwaine, Andrew, 69 Mayer, George, 157 Maynard, Francis, 25 McGavin, W, 140 McGuiness, Thomas, 157 Maynard, Margaret, 25 Mayne, Edward, 150 McGuire, Joseph, 94, 139, 150, 151 Mayne, John, 142, 145, 150, 151 McHoughe, William, 125 Mayne, Robert, 83 McHugh, George, 156 McCabe, Alexander, 53 McKenzie, John D, 140 McCabe, Edward, 57, 58 McKinley, Robert, 79 McLaughlin, John, 142 McCabe, James, 53

McLoughlin, William, 94 Molloy, William, 89 McManus, John, 145 Monaghan Cinema Ltd, 168 McMichael, Archibald, 107 Montgomery, C L, 146 Montgomery, Frances, 57 McMichael, George, 65 McMichael, John, 59, 65, 66 Montgomery, George, 49, 57, 71 Montgomery, Henry, 69 McMichael, Robert, 54 McMichael, William, 48, 57, 131 Montgomery, James, 156 Montgomery, John, 52, 124, 156 McOwen O Brogan, Patrick, 17 Montgomery, Joseph, 56 Meara, Spencer, Rev, 146 Meares, Jervis, 13 Montgomery, Nathaniel, 87, 88, 139, Meares, Lewis, 13 146, 147, 149, 150, 151 Meikle, James, 106, 111 Montgomery, R & N, 85 Meikle, M, 158 Montgomery, Richard, 152 Meikle, Thomas, 111, 116 Montgomery, Robert, 57, 73 Mercer, Mary, 39, 79 Montgomery, William, 132 Meredyth, Anne, 37 Mooney, Henry, 56 Meredyth, Arthur, 11, 37 Mooney, Richard, 56, 62, 128 Moor, William, 133 Meredyth, Charles, 11, 37 Meredyth, Henry, 11, 26, 31, 32, 36, Moore, Alice, 18 37, 39, 80, 95 Moore, Charles, 60 Moore, George, 80, 84, 140, 141, 146 Meredyth, Thomas, 37 Stahligesellschaft, Moore, J. 90 Messrs. Ambo, Mayer & Co, 164 Moore, John, 17, 18, 43, 44, 83, 87 Messrs. Bromberg & Co, 163 Moore, Samuel, 149 Messrs. Cohen & Armstrong, 163 Moore, Thomas R, 150 Messrs. Dobbertin & Co, 163 Moore, V, 139, 146 Messrs. F R & Wlater Berenbruch, 164 Moore, Vernen, 148, 150 Messrs. Gabr. Rochling, 162 Moore, William, 17, 18, 58 Messrs. Gartner, Gopfert & Rochholt, Morgan, J, 169 163 Morgan, William, 40 Morland, Scrope Bernard, Sir, 87 Messrs. Gebr. Wollheim, 164 Messrs. Glynn, Mills, Currie, Holt & Morre, Thomas Smith, 146 Co., Bank, 156 Morris, Richard, 18 Messrs. J В Ulrich Aktien-Morris, Robert, 91 Geselllschaft, 164 Morrison, Elizabeth, 74 Messrs. Max Heimann Morrison, John, 74 Aktiengesellschaft, 164 Morrow, Alex, Jnr, 73 Messrs. Peter Altenbach & Son, 164 Morrow, Andrew, Snr, 74 Metgee, Peter, 18, 19 Morrow, Archibald, 74 Midleton, Lord, 156 Morrow, Hugh, 75 Morrow, James, 69, 70 Mitchell, A, Rev, 146 Mitchell, J, 97, 98 Morrow, John, 68, 69, 109 Mitchelle, Allan, Rev, 147, 151 Morrow, Joseph, Snr, 74 Morrow, Robert, 71, 72, 75, 76, 145 Mivart, J, 154 Moffat, JR, 144 Morrow, Robert, Jnr, 70, 74 Moffatt, Christopher William, 57, 62, Morrow, T, 111 66 Morrow, Thomas, 76, 156 Moffatt, JA, 150 Morrow, William, 50, 109, 156 Moffett, John Adamson, 57, 66 Morrow, Wilson, 76 Molloy, Edward, 151 Morrow. James, 114

Mortimer, Charles, 149 Mortimer, Richard, 145, 149 Morton, Charles, 142, 145 Morton, Charles Carr, 52 Morton, Charlotte, 145 Morton, Pierce, 150

Mountnorrris, George, Earl of, 87

Mulligan, Ralph, 67 Mulligan, Steuart, 146 Mulvey, Hugh, 48 Murphy, Ann, 42 Murphy, Anne, 83 Murphy, Michael, 150 Murray, family of, 88 Murray, John, 83

Nangle, Edward, 143, 144

Napper, James, 79 Napper, William, 79 Neil, Peter, 140

Neligan, James, Rev, 71 Nesbitt, Alexander, 12, 13, 14

Nesbitt, Andrew, 27

Nesbitt, Cosby, 145, 146, 149, 150

Nesbitt, John, 90, 151 Nesbitt, Richard, 62

Nesbitt, Thomas, Colonel, 84

Nethercott, John, 57

Nettleship, William, Rev, 43, 44

Nettleton, William, 43, 44 Nevill, Richard, 11, 37 Newburgh, Thomas, 146 Newland, Montague, 44, 86 Newman, H, Rev, 144 Newman, Thomas, 17 Newton, Philip, 140 Nicholls, Simon, 91

Nicholson, Alexander, 144

Nicholson, Christopher Armitage, 83

Nicholson, Edward, 23

Nicholson, Elizabeth (nee Somerville),

23

Nicholson, G, 90

Nixon, Edward, Rev, 149, 152

Nixon, H S, 150 Nixon, James, 140 Nixon, John, 53 Nixon, Richard, 54 Nixon, William, 53 Noble, Gustavis, 48, 50 Noble, Gustavous, 46 Noble, J S, Rev, 150 Noble, J, Rev, 146 Noble, James, 50 Nolan, Mary, 155 Nolan, Thomas, 94 Norris, Benjamin, 150 Norris, James, 106, 127 Nugent, Andrew, 45 Nugent, C E J, 150 Nugent, Count, 104 Nugent, Mary, 89

Nugent, Oliver, 69, 106, 107, 150

Nugent, Walter, 31 O Brogan, Mahum, 17 O Brogan, Owen Moore, 18 O Brogan, Patrick, 17

O Connor, Matthew Weld, 94 O Donoge O Brogan, Patrick, 17

O Farrell, James, 138 O Grady, Standish, 87 O Hara, Samuel, 73, 75

O Neill, John, 35

O Reilly, James, 139, 146, 147, 148, 149

O Reilly, James, Jnr, 145 O Rely, Terence, 17 Ollney, Colonel, 44 Ottenheimer, Albert, 162 Otto Wolff & Co, 162, 164 Owen, Joseph, 116, 123 Owens, J M, 148 Padwick, Nicholas, 92

Paget & Babington, 102 Paget, Mary (Anne) Jane, 62 Paget, Noble, 54, 58, 60

Palles, A C, 152
Palmer, Eric C, 157
Palmer, Henry, 25
Palmer, John, 31
Parke, James, 148
Parke, Robert, 47
Parker, Hugh, 32
Parker, James, 151
Parker, Thomas, 34
Parker, William, 143
Parkinson, Thomas, 142
Parnell, Thomas, 142
Parr, Bernard, 68
Parr, Catherine, 79
Parr, Henry, 21

Parr, J G, 147, 148, 150, 151 Potterton, Edward, 155 Parr, John, 73 Power, George, 68 Parr, John George, 73 Power, Richard, 141 Parsons, William, 20 Pratt, Colonel, 149 Partington Steel and Iron Co. Ltd, 161, Pratt, J, 145 Pratt, James, 47 162, 163, 164 Patrick, Samuel, 94 Pratt, James B, 146 Patrick, Samuel, Rev, 124 Pratt, John, 62 Patterson, Robert, 145, 149 Pratt, Joseph, 139, 145, 146, 147, 151 Pearson and Knowles, Coal and Iron Pratt, Joseph, Rev. 148 Co. Ltd, 161, 162, 163, 164 Pratt, Randall H, 148, 150 Peel, Robert, Sir, 139, 142, 143, 144 Pratt, William, 146, 148 Peile, Henry, 151 Prescott, Robert, 144 Pentland & Pritcher, 85, 94 Preston, Arthur John, 144 Perceval, Robert, 79 Preston, John, 90 Perry, Willoughby G, 147 Preston, Nathaniel, 90 Peyton, WC, 137 Price, John, 20 Philips, Ernest, 157 Price, John Jnr, 21 Phillips, Thomas, 145 Price, John Snr, 21 Price, Richard, 21 Piers, John, 106, 107, 136 Pike, William, 144 Pringle, John, 154 Pleydell, E, 139 Proctor, Major, 143 Pleydell, Edmond, 34 Prohl & Fricke, 162 Pleydell, Edmond Morton, 34 Provincial Bank of Ireland, Cavan, 88, Pleydell, J M, 138 95 Purves Steward, James, Sir, 157 Pleydell, Jonathan, 34 Pleydell, Miss, 145, 148, 150 Ramsey, James, 139 Ramsey, William, 52 Plunkett, Garret, 51 Plunkett, James, 25 Ranken, James, 14 Plunkett, John, 51 Rathbourne, William, 146, 147, 149, Plunkett, Randal E, 144 150 Plunkett, Randal S, 154 Rawack & Grunfeld, 162 Pole, William, 27, 81 Rawson, R, 146 Pollard, Anna Maria, 31 Rawson, Rebecca, 145 Pollard, Dillon, 31 Reaburn, William, 117 Pollard, Lettice, 31 Read, William, 89 Pollard, Thomas, Rev, 30, 31 Reburn, John, 68 Pollard, W D, 150 Reburn, William, 76 Pollard, Walter, 30, 31 Rech, George, Sir, 144 Porter, Arnold, 67, 74 Redgeway, Joseph, 144 Porter, Hugh, 76, 90 Reed, James Taverner, 44 Porter, James, 67 Reed, Richard, 147 Porter, Joseph, 71 Reid, Margaret, 90 Porter, Matthew, 150 Reilly, Andrew, 56 Porter, Robert, 72 Reilly, Bridget, 156 Porter, William, 139 Reilly, Catherine, 55 Porterfield, Francis, 109 Reilly, David, 58

Porterfield, Moses, 68

Portier, Frances, 140

Postane, Paul, 145

Reilly, Edward, 64, 131

Reilly, Elizabeth, 55

Reilly, Hugh, 34, 136

Reilly, James, 74 Sadlier, MJ, 141 Reilly, John, 36, 55, 58 Salisbury, James Edward, Marquis of, Reilly, Margaret, 55 Sanderson, James, 150, 151 Reilly, Mr, Rev, 145 Reilly, Owen, 36 Sanderson, Robert, 138 Sandes, E J, Miss, 92 Reilly, Patrick, 148 Sankey, B, 146 Reilly, Phil, 115 Reilly, Philip, 130 Saunders, HO, 150, 151 Reilly, Rose, 55 Saunders, Owen, 139, 149 Reilly, Terence, 55 Saunderson, Alexander, 45, 46, 54, Reilly, Walter, 146 145, 147, 148, 149, 151, 152 Reilly, William, 48 Saunderson, Anne, Mrs, 101 Representative Church Body, 169 Saunderson, Francis, 101, 139 Reyburn, John, 69 Saunderson, Francis, Rev. 45, 148, Rheinstahl Handelsgesellschaft, 163 150, 151 Saunderson, James, 30, 42, 45 Rice, Thomas Spring, Rt Hon, 78 Richardson, W S, 146 Saunderson, Robert, 149, 150, 151 Saunderson, Sarah Julianna, Hon, (nee Richardson, William, 29, 37, 47, 139 Rivers, James, 40 Maxwell), 45 Roberts, Edward Sterling, 139 Savage, Philip, 11, 37 Roberts, S, Rev, 151 Scarlet, Robert, 58 Robinson, Charles, Rev. 149 Schemmann & Forstmann, 163 Robinson, Dr., 147 Schroder & Durlacher, 163 Robinson, H, 146, 147 Schweitzer & Oppler, 162 Robinson, Robert, 149 Scott, Ralph, 42 Robinson, Samuel, 59 Scott, Richard, 148 Roche, Nancy, 141 Scott, William, 46 Roche, Philip, 89 Sewal, James, 47 Rochfort, Horace, 86 Sewell, James, 47 Rochfort, J S, 86 Shadwell, Josiah, 99 Roden, Robert, Earl of, 34, 40, 44 Shand, Alexander, 140 Rodgers, Andrew, 47 Shannon, Henry, Earl of, 87 Sharpe, William, 39 Roe, George, 143, 161 Shaw, Robert, 139 Roe, Peter, 141 Rogers, Andrew, 122 Shaw, William A, 156 Rogers, Thomas, 48 Sheegog, George, 148, 149, 150 Rose, GH, Sir, 143 Sheridan, Daniel, 34 Ross, Hugh, 33 Sheridan, John, 34, 53 Rosse, James, 109 Sheridan, Patrick, 32 Rosser, Archibald, 104 Shiels, William, 147 Rotherham, Edward, 146, 149, 150, Shire, W, Rev, 157 Short, Francis, Rev, 140 Rotherham, Thomas, 151 Short, John, 144 Shortt, Francis, 142 Rump, Hugh, 44 Rusk, John, 75 Sibthorp, Robert, 37 Sidebottom, AR, 87 Rusk, Robert, 73 Rutledge, James, 150 Simons & Cooper, 85 Ruxton, JF, 145 Singleton, Henry, 41 Ryan, Charles, 46 Singleton, James, 145 Rylands Bros. Ltd, 161, 162 Singleton, Rowland, Rev, 38, 39, 41

Sir W G Armstrong, Whitworth & Co, Stafford, Anne, 81 161, 162, 164, 165 Stafford, Benjamin, 76, 117 Skelton, Thomas, Rev, 151 Stafford, Catherine, 156 Slack, A R, 150 Stafford, David, 74 Slack, Thomas, 152 Stafford, Francis, 119 Stafford, John, Jnr, 75 Slacke, Thomas, 146, 150 Slater, HB, 145 Stafford, Mrs, 90 Slater, H B W, 148, 149 Stanford, B, 146 Sloane, G, 146 Stanford, Bedel, 41, 42, 151 Smith, Bernard, 121 Stapleton, Miss, Hon, 38 Smith, Elizabeth, 32 Stapleton, Myles, Hon, Rev, 44 Smith, Hugh, 71 Starling, Hugh, 25 Smith, James, 61, 81, 89, 149 Starling, John, 25 Smith, John, 32 Steele, Lamlot, 18 Smith, John A, 92 Steele, Richard, Sir, 147 Smith, Mathew, 124 Steele, Walter, 146 Smith, Matthew, 32 Steevens, Steven, 23 Smith, Michael, 156 Steevens, Susanna (nee Somerville), Smith, Moses, 71 Smith, Owen, 128 Stephens, Richard, 146 Smith, Pat, 118 Stephens, Robert, 109 Smith, Patrick, 106, 116 Sterling, Edward, 96 Smith, Robert, 49, 124 Sterling, John, 36, 95 Smith, Robert B, 154 Sterling, Luke, 19, 36 Smith, TB, 92 Sterling, Luke Jnr, 36 Sterling, Luke, Rev, 35 Smith, Thomas, 30 Smyth, James, 27, 42, 81, 154 Sterling, Luke, Rev Snr, 36 Sneyd, Archdeacon Dr, 103 Sterling, Marlborough, 18, 95 Steward, John, 87 Sneyd, Barbara, 21 Sneyd, Edward, 83 Stewart, Samuel, 140 Sneyd, Nathaniel, 143, 147 Stinnes, Hugo, 162, 164 Sneyd, Wettenhall, 20, 21 Stock, Joseph, 92 Sneyd, William, Rev, 21 Stockman, John, 83 Somerville, James, 22, 23, 24, 25 Stockman, Robert, 83 Somerville, James, Sir, 25 Stone, Andrew, 40, 95, 96 Somerville, Quaile, Sir, 25 Stone, Richard, 40 Somerville, Richard N, 57 Stoppford, Edward, 92 Somerville, Thomas, 22, 23 Storey, Caroline, 156 Somerville, William, 25 Storey, Joseph, 60, 120 Southwell, R H, 143, 146, 148, 149, Storey, R, 156 151 Storey, Robert J, 140 Spayht, G, Rev, 145 Story, J H, 145, 150 Spencer, Joseph, 139, 145 Story, Joseph, Rev, 146, 149, 151 Spinks, Charlton, Snr, 77 Story, Mrs, 139, 145 Spinks, Christopher, 70 Stratford, Robert, 104, 106, 111, 116 Strong(e), Richard, 106, 107, 108, 109, Spinks, Nugent, 64, 77 Spinks, Thomas, 70 110, 111, 112, 113, 114, 115, 116, Spinks, William, 70, 77, 149 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 122, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 130, 131, 132, St George, Stephney, 142 Stafford, Alexander, 76 133, 135

Strong, George, 70 Townley, John, 150 Strong, James, 53 Townsend, CC, 144 Strong, Richard, 72 Travers, Boyle, 83 Strong, Robert, 64 Trelford, George, 52 Strong, William, 75 Trelford, Henry, 52 Stronge, Robert Henry, 106, 108, 122 Trench, A, 35 Stuart, Charles, 21 Trench, Arthur, 138 Sturgeon, Thomas, 68 Trevor, Joseph, 57 Swan, Margaret, 42 Trevors, John, 51 Swan, Oswald, 62 Trimble, Mrs, 133 Swan, Thomas, 42 Trimbrell, William Townsend, 44 Swanzy, Henry, 146 Trotter, Thomas, 79 Swanzy, Samuel, 139, 147, 149, 151 Tubman, George, 57, 64 Swift, Michael, 16 Tuite, James, 35 Talbot, M, 149 Tuite, Philip, 81 Talbot, Margaret, 148, 150 Tuite, Thomas, 145, 146 Talbot, RW, 145 Tweedy, George, 60 Tarrant, N, 146 Twigg, Barbara, 19 Tatlow, Anthony, 145 Twigg, James, 19 Tatlow, JC, 148 Valentia, Arthur, Viscount, 37, 40 Tatlow, John, 139 Valentia, George Arthur Annesley, Tatlow, John C, 150 Viscount, 25, 42, 44, 87, 88 Tatlow, John Charles, 52, 79, 87 Vance, William, 56 Tatlow, William, 87 Vaughan, Matthew, 88 Taylor, J Fratzer, 165 Veitch, Charles, 148 Taylor, Thomas, 33 Veitch, John, 149 Teevan, Thomas, 59 Veitch, Richard, 149 Temple, Mary, 89 Vernon, John Edward, 51 Vulcan Werke, 164 Thandy, John, 79 Thetford, Robert A, 142 W P Gray & MacDowell, 157 Wainright, Matthew, 73 Thickpenny, John, 64 Thickpenny, William, 135 Wainwright, Luke, 69 Thomas, LH, 150 Waldron, Henry, 29 Thompson, David, 145 Waldron, Richard, 28 Thompson, James, 47 Waldron, Thomas, 29, 38 Thompson, Major, 146, 147, 149 Walker & Colthurst, 92 Thompson, William, 19 Walker, Charles, 39, 95 Thornton, P, 149 Walker, Francis, 45, 83, 85, 86 Thornton, Perrott, 151 Walker, Thomas Francis William, 45 Walker, William Clarke, 45 Thorpe, Charles, 159 Wall, Bernard, 128 Tickling, Nicholas, 43, 87 Tilson, Henry, 56, 65, 66, 120 Wallace, James, 47, 90 Wallace, John, 49 Tilson, Humphrey, 65, 66, 71 Tilson, John, 65 Wallace, William, 126 Tilson, Matthew, 62, 64 Waller, Robert, 68, 69 Tilson, Robert, 155 Wallis, John, 34 Tilson, Thomas, 62, 64, 65, 66 Walsh, Joseph, 63 Tilson, William, 57, 62, 65 Walsh, Robert, 61 Tisdall, Philip, 96 Warburton, Bartholemew, 142

Topping, Thomas, 140

Warburton, George, 12

Warburton, Major, 148 Whyte, Francis M, 145, 150 Ward, Charles, 42 Whyte, Francis, S, 150 Ward, Edward, 157 Whyte, Joseph, 70 Ward, George, 42 Whyte, Mark, 39 Ward, Phil, 139, 146, 147 Whyte, Samuel, 71, 76 Whyte, William, 74 Ward, Philip, 83 Ward, Robert, 42 Wiley, Dr, 150 Ward, W R, 142 Wiley, Robert, Dr, 154 Waring, James, 148, 151 Williams, James, 83 Waring, Samuel, 29, 37 Williamson, Hugh, 75 Warren, Richard, 87 Williamson, James, 69 Washington, Honor, 90 Williamson, Robert, 69 Watson, Thomas, 137 Willis, Henry, 66 Watts, Ann, 43 Willis, Thomas, 65, 139 Webb, George, 90 Willis, W, 151 Webb, Samuel, 149, 150, 151 Wilson, Anne, 62 Webb, Thomas, 149 Wilson, Daniel, Bishop of Calcutta, Webb, William, 81, 139 143 Wedgwort, Alexr, 130 Wilson, David, 23 Wehnert, Wilhelm, 164 Wilson, H B, 145 Weir, John, 46 Wilson, Henry, 141 Weir, Richard, 46 Wilson, John, 59, 148 Wellesley, Richard, Marquis of, 159 Wilson, Samuel, 156 Wellington, Arthur, Duke of, 142, 144 Wilson, Sarah, 62 Wellwood, R T, 106, 118, 131, 132, Wilson, W, 156 133, 135 Wilson, William, 59 Welsh, Joseph, 61 Wilton, family of, 88 Werner, George, 92 Wilton, George, 90 West, George, 65 Wilton, Thomas, 97 West, Glynn, Sir, 157, 161, 162, 165 Winning, Robert, 142 Westberry, William, 79 Wischmeyer, Adolf, 162 Whaley, Thomas, 83 Wolstenholme, J, 165 Whelan, John, 42, 43 Woltereck & Roberstson, 162 Whelan, Thomas, 42, 43 Wood, George, 87 White, Anthony, 70 Wood, L M, 158 White, Francis, 29, 30 Wood, William, 54 Woods, George, 91 White, H Silva, 157 White, Henry, 53, 67 Woods, James, 31 White, John, 70 Woods, Jane, 53 White, Samuel, 148 Woods, June, 91 White, William, 70, 74 Woods, Thomas, 50 White, William H, 96 Woodward, Benjamin Blake, 22, 30, Whiteford, G, Sir, 148 41, 45, 85, 87, 88, 89 Whitely, Edward, 149 Woodward, F, Major, 141 Whitestone, James, 83 Woodward, Major, 86, 147 Whitman, John, 17 Workman, James, 106, 136 Whitney, B, 94 Wright, Francis, 78 Whitney, Boleyn, 35, 36 Wright, James, 83 Whyte, Eliza, 145 Wright, Jane, Mrs, 86

Wright, John, 51

Whyte, Francis, 145, 146

Wright, Sarah, 86 Wright, Sophia, 86 Wynne, Edmond, 41 Wynne, George, 83 Wynne, H, 86

Wynne, Henry, Rev, 37, 40, 81 Wynne, Owen, 37, 40, 41

Wynne, Rev, 90 Wynne, Robert, 40

Wynne, William, 45, 83, 85, 86, 88 Wynne, William Henry, Rev, 41

Yeats, Joseph, 56 Yeats, Michael, 56, 62 Yeats, Richard, 56 Yellow, W H, 154

Young, Francis, 145, 146, 148 Young, Francis Smyth, 150

Young, J, 150, 154 Young, James, 81 Young, John, 150, 152 Young, Richard, 151 Young, William, 151

Young, William, Sir, 145, 146, 147,

151

Younge, J, 146 Ziemer, Erich, 164

## **Index of Places**

Abbey Land, 20, 21, 100 Aghabane, 13, 14, 15, 16 Aghaboy, parish of Drumlumman, 66	Carmichael, estate, 12, 46, 80, 101, 106 Carn, 13, 15
Aghaconny, 118	Carn, parish of Castlerahan, 67, 107
Aghacreevy, 30, 31, 32, 51, 63, 80, 81,	=
<u> </u>	Carnagh, 107, 108
83, 84, 135, 136 Ashafad 22, 51	Carrhill, Wexford, 45, 46
Aghafad, 32, 51	Carrickaleyan 67, 05, 110
Aghakilmore, 31, 35, 51, 52, 63	Carrickelevan, 67, 95, 119
Aghaloory, 81	Carrickclevin, 121
Aghaloughan, 67	Carrickduff, Carlow, 45
Aghaveely, 36	Carrickeeshill, 35, 95, 107
Aghnacor, 46, 121	Carricknabrick, 52, 63
Aghnacreevy, 39	Carricknaveagh, 68, 79, 108
Aghnahederny, 25, 26, 27, 118, 137	Carrigallen, barony of, Leitrim, 12, 13,
Annagh, parish of Drumlumman, 118	14 Cooklassis man of 12 12 14 15
Ardlaugher perich of Dana 118, 110	Castlecraig, manor of, 12, 13, 14, 15,
Ardlougher, parish of Denn, 118, 119	80 Costleknook berony of Dublin 42
Ardro 46, 121	Castleknock, barony of, Dublin, 43 Cauhoo, 54, 127, 138
Ardra, 46, 121 Ballaghanna, 25, 26, 27, 51, 52	Cavan town market, tolls and customs
Ballyhaise House, 99	of, 36
Ballyheelan, 32, 52, 63	Cavan, town of, 50, 78, 100, 128
Ballyprecas, Wexford, 82	Claddagh, 68, 101, 108, 112
Ballytrust, 118	Clare, 68, 69, 108, 109, 114
Barconny Massereene, 35, 36	Cleffin, 69, 79, 109, 110
Barrack Hill, Cavan town, 50, 128	Clodrum, 47, 122
Barragh, Carlow, 83	Cloggagh, 66, 69, 117
Barry, estate in Cavan town, 17	Clonagonnell, 54, 55, 128, 129
Barry, estate in counties Carlow,	Clonkeen, 47, 122
Kildare, Meath and Wexford, 11, 45,	Clonloaghan, 63, 64, 116, 119
78	Clonmacnoise, Offaly, 90
Bellsgrove, 85	Clontygrigny, 47, 122, 124
Belturbet, town of, 101	Clough Oughter, 32
Bermondsey, Surrey, 44	Condry, 47, 122
Black Lyon, Cavan town, 51	Coolboyogue, 55, 62
Bohora, 46	Coras Point, 55, 127, 129
Boot Inn, Cavan town, 51	Corbeagh, 63
Breandrum, 30, 54, 127	Corgarran, 130
Bridge Street, Cavan town, 128	Cormaddyduff, 35
Bunclody, Wexford, 45	Cormeen, 100, 101
Burgessacre, 51, 127, 132	Cornaclea, 13
Burtown Big, Kildare, 11	Cornacreeve, 70, 110
Burtown Little, Kildare, 11	Cornacrum, 47, 110, 122
Callanagh, 51, 63	Cornagrow, parish of Denn, 64
Carbury, barony of, Kildare, 11, 37, 79	

Drumcor, parish of Drumlumman, 81 Cornagrow, parish of Drumlane, 64, 126 Drumcor, parish of Kilmore, 30 Cornahilt, 63, 70, 110 Drumderg, 100 Cornaseer, 70, 119 Drumeeny, 32, 51 Cornasker, 13 Drumelis, 132 Corracanvy, 32, 34, 64, 129 Drumgola, 58, 132 Corracreeny, parish of Urney, 55, 129, Drumgor, 58, 79 Drumhallagh, parish of Crosserlough, Corratober, parish of Kilmore, 64, 65, 66, 120 Drumhecknagh, 58, 59, 62, 132 Drumhell, parish of Kilmore, 29, 30 Corryrourke, 100, 101 Craigstown, manor of, 12, 13, 14 Druminiskill, 13, 15 Crosserule, 70 Drumkilroosk, 48, 94, 123, 124 Crover, 26, 27, 51, 52, 79, 137 Drumlaunaght, 30 Curraghbreedin, 100 Drumleny, 126, 127, 132 Deredis, 54, 56, 62, 130 Drummany, 12, 13, 14, 16 Derenish Beg, 32, 56, 130 Drumminnion, 48, 123 Derenish Mor, 34, 56, 62, 130 Drummonum, 54 Derrin, 70, 119 Drummullan, 29, 132 Derry, parish of Crosserlough, 25, 70, Drummullig, 59, 62 110, 116, 131 Duffcastle, 137 Derry, parish of Denn, 123 Dunaweel, 48, 49, 50, 88, 124, 125 Dundavan, 71, 72, 79, 120 Derry, parish of Killashandra, 12 Derrycramph, 54, 56, 62, 130 Dungannon, Tyrone, 169 Derryheen, 56, 57, 62, 87, 93, 94, 130, Dungummin, 89 Dunsany, estate, 25, 51, 106 Dunsany, Meath, 26, 27 Derryhoo, parish of Drumlane, 35, 65, Edermin, 54, 59, 94, 132 Derrylane, parish of Killashandra, 48, Enagh, 35 123 Enniskillen, Fermanagh, 169 Derrylea, 31, 63 Enniskillen, town of, Fermanagh, 22, Derrylurgan, 70, 71, 110, 111 23 Eonish, 59, 133 Derryna, 57 Derrywinny, 30, 57, 62, 131 Erne, river, Belturbet, 93 Dring, 48 Evlagh Beg, 125 Dromellan, manor of, 28, 29 Farnham demesne, 99, 127 Dromhill, manor of, 28, 29, 38 Farnham House, 98, 155, 170 Drumacon, 33, 34, 65, 124, 131 Farnham Street, Cavan town, 78, 88, Drumanaghan, Down, 170 128, 133 Drumasladdy, 34, 35, 40, 100 Farnham, estate, 28, 54, 79, 80, 99, Drumbar, 54, 57, 104, 131 100, 101, 102, 104, 106, 125 Drumbee, 25, 31, 52, 63 Farnham, manor of, 29, 30 Drumbrucklis, parish of Ballintemple, Farragh, parish of Denn, 36 Farragh, parish of Kilmore, 54, 59, 62, 81 63, 120 Drumbullion, 48, 122, 123 Drumcanon, 13, 15 Farranydaly, 54, 59, 60, 62, 120 Drumcartagh, 13 Feugh, 35, 100 Drumcassidy, 36 Finaway, 31, 32, 39, 63 Drumconnick, 54, 57, 58, 62, 94, 131, Finglas, Dublin, 39 132 Fintawan, 72, 112, 116, 137

Forth, barony of, Carlow, 78, 83, 102, Lavagh, 27, 28, 51, 53, 81, 102, 136, 103 Fortland, 26, 27, 28, 52, 79, 85, 89, Lisdaran, 60, 133, 138 102, 103, 136, 137 Lisduff, parish of Ballymachugh, 28, Fortland, estate, 25, 51, 79, 106 94, 102, 136, 137 Freeduff, 51, 63, 100 Lisduff, parish of Kilmore, 60, 133, Galloncurra, 72, 112 134 Gallonnambraher, 72, 73 Lishenry, 115 Garryross, 35 Lismagiril, 74, 75, 115 Gartbrattan, parish of Kilmore, 65, 66, Lisnabantry, 53, 63, 87 Lisnamaine, estate, 32, 64, 99, 100, 94, 116, 129, 131 101, 106, 127 Gartnanoul, 29 Gartnasillagh, 60, 133 Loughaconnick, 60, 61, 134 Gola, 73, 108, 112, 113 Lower Moyfenrath, barony of, Meath, Graddum, 63, 64 11 Greaghadossan, 73, 101, 113 Lurgananure, 107 Greaghclaugh, 73, 114 Magheraboy, barony of, Fermanagh, Greaghduff, 112 22, 23 Hampson, estate, 30, 63, 101, 106 Mary Street, Dublin, 12 Henry Street, Dublin, 25 Massareene, estate, 35, 66, 79, 80, 99, Inch, 29 100, 101, 106, 136 Inishmore, 29 Moher, parish of Denn, 65, 66 Inishmuck, 32, 34 Monnery, 28, 29, 61, 63, 135 Keadew, 20, 21, 51, 133 Moone, barony of, Kildare, 11 Keenagh, parish of Crosserlough, 63, Moone, Kildare, 11 Mountnorris, Armagh, 169 Kilbrannish, Carlow, 78 Moydristan, 31, 75, 120 Kilgolagh, 37, 51, 52, 63 Mullaghboy, parish of Ballymachugh, Kilkea, barony of, Kildare, 11 32, 51 Killegar, Leitrim, 14 Mullaghdoo, 125 Killicar, 34, 35, 100 Mullaghduff, 15 Mullaghkeel, 121 Killyfassy, 26, 27, 51, 52, 53, 137 Killyfinla, 74, 107, 114 Mullaghmore, 35 Killygowan, 13, 15 Mullaghmore, Leitrim, 13, 14 Mullaghmullen, 13, 15 Killykeen, parish of Drumlumman, 120 Newtownbarry, Wexford, 46, 82, 101, Killykeen, parish of Kilmore, 120 102, 103, 154 Killynaher, 33 Old Gaol, site of Cavan town, 21, 22, Killyvally, parish of Denn, 35, 36, 74, 127 Oxpark, Meath, 26 111, 114 Kilmore, dioceses of, 169 Pollabane, 34, 66 Kilnahard, 84, 87 Pollamalady, 75, 115, 116 Kinelarty, barony of, Down, 170 Pollareagh, 75, 116 Knockanore, 89 Portan, 53, 63 Lackan, 49 Portlongfield, 13, 49, 125, 126 Lackan Upper, 120 Posseckstown, Meath, 11 Lackanduff, 74, 114 Pottle, parish of Denn, 116 Laheen, 13, 15, 49, 124, 125 Pottle, parish of Kilmore, 66, 131 Laheen, Leitrim, 12, 13, 14 Pottleboy, parish of Ballymachugh, 27 Rahultan, 61, 63

Ramonan, 66, 75, 76, 117 Rosscolgan, 17, 18, 19, 20, 81 Sallaghan, 49, 50, 126 Sallaghill, 63 Salt, barony of, Kildare, 11 Scarawalsh, barony of, Wexford, 11, 39, 82, 102 Session House, site of Cavan town, 21, 128 Shannow Lower, parish of Ballintemple, 121 Shannow, parish of Ballintemple, 76, Shannow, parish of Denn, 121 Simonstown East, Kildare, 11 Simonstown West, Kildare, 11 Snakeel, 29 St Mary's Abbey, Lordship of, Dublin, St Michan, parish of, Dublin, 22, 23

St Peter and Paul, abbey of, Armagh, 39 Tedeehan, 76 Templemichael Glebe, Longford, 90, 91, 92 Tievenaman, 76, 77, 101, 117 Tircullen, 61, 135 Tirourkan, 29, 61, 88, 135 Togher, parish of Castlerahan, 117, 135 Togher, parish of Crosserlough, 77, 115 Tonaloy, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 40, 50, 126 Tullyanog, 34 Tullyboy, 25, 26, 27, 51, 53, 137 Tullylough, 29, 30, 61, 63 Tullymongan, 81 Turin, 26, 27, 137